
         

 

 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

GLADES COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

DECEMBER 20, 2023 
2:00 P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
2501A Burns Road 

Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.lakefrontestatescdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Community Building 
30086 E. State Road 78 

Okeechobee, Florida 34974 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  

December 20, 2023 
2:00 P.M. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………….Page 1 

C. Administer Oath of Office and Review Board Member Duties and Responsibilities 

D. Establish Quorum 

E. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

F. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

G. Approval of Minutes 

1. August 24, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing’s………………………………..Page 2 

H. Old Business 

I. New Business 

1. Consider Resolution No. 2023-29 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Amended Budget.....Page 8 

2. Consider Approval of Bond Financing Team Funding Agreement…………………...……...Page 12 

3. Consider Approval of Preliminary Engineer’s Report………………………………………..Page 17 

4. Consider Approval of Master Special Assessment Methodology Report…………………….Page 196 

5. Consider Resolution No. 2023-30 – Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds……………………..Page 210 

6. Consider Resolution No. 2022-31 – Declaring Assessments…………………………………Page 307 

7. Consider Resolution No. 2023-32 – Setting a Public Hearing on Assessments………………Page 310 

J. Auditor Selection Committee 

1. Ranking of Proposals/Consider Selection of an Auditor……………………………………...Page 312 

K. Administrative Matters 

L. Board Members Comments 

M. Adjourn 



STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF OKEECHOBEE
Before the undersigned authority personally appeared Ka-
trina Elsken Muros, who on oath says that she is Editor 
in Chief of the Lake Okeechobee News, a weekly news-
paper published in Okeechobee County, Florida; that the 
attached copy of advertisement, being a Public Notice in 
the matter of 

Public Notice
in the 19th Judicial District of the Circuit Court of 
Okeechobee County, Florida, was published in said news-
paper in the issues of

08/30/23
(Print Dates)

or by publication on the newspaper’s website, if authorized, 
on 

08/30/23, 08/31/23, 09/01/23, 09/02/23, 09/03/23, 09/04/23, 09/05/23, 
09/06/23

(Website Dates)

Affiant further says that the newspaper complies with all 
legal requirements for publication in Chapter 50, Florida 
Statutes.

Lake Okeechobee News
313 NW 4th Avenue

Okeechobee, FL  34972
863-763-3134

LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 & 2023/2024

REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULES
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN The Board of Supervisors of the Lakefront Es-

tates Community Development District will hold their regular meetings for Fiscal 
Years 2022/2023 & 2023/2024 at 2:00 p.m. at the Buckhead Ridge Community 
Building located at 30086 E. State Road 78, Okeechobee, Florida 34974, on 
the following dates:

September 12, 2023
October 18, 2023

November 15, 2023
December 20, 2023
January 17, 2024
February 21, 2024
March 19, 2024
April 17, 2024
May 15, 2024
June 19, 2024
July 17, 2024

August 21, 2024

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with 
the provision of Florida law for community development districts. The meetings 
may be continued to a date, time, and place to be specified on the record at 
the meeting.  Copies of the Agendas for any of the meetings may be obtained 
from the District’s website at www.lakefrontestatescdd.org or by contacting 
the District Manager at 1-877-737-4922 five (5) days prior to the date of the 
particular meeting.

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors or staff will participate 
by telephone. Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any 
person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability 
or physical impairment should contact the District Office at (561) 630-4922 at 
least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, 
please contact the Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 
(TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District Office.  

Any person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting with re-
spect to any matter considered at the meeting is advised that person will need a 
record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and 
evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.

Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice.

District Manager

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

www.lakefrontestatescdd.org

611847 LON 8/30/2023

(Signature of Notary Public)
STAMP OF NOTARY PUBLIC

Sworn to and subscribed before me by means of
            Physical Presence      X   Online Notarization 

 physical presence or online notarization, this
 30th day of August, 2023.

Page 1



Page 1 of 6 
 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

PUBLIC HEARINGS & REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
AUGUST 24, 2023 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The August 24, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
(the “District”) was called to order at 12:37 p.m. in the Community Building located at 30086 E. State 
Road 78, Okeechobee, Florida 34974 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Lake Okeechobee News on August 2, 2023, and August 9, 2023, as legally required.  
 
C. SEAT NEW BOARD MEMBERS (FROM ORDINANCE) 

 
 
D. ADMINISTER OATHS OF OFFICE 
 
 
E. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
A quorum was established with the following Supervisors in attendance: 
 
Dovber Blasberg (Dubi), Menachen Raksin, Matthew Meisels and Chaim Meisels 
 
Also in attendance were District Manager Michelle Krizen of Special District Services, Inc.; District 
Manager Todd Wodraska of Special District Services, Inc. (via phone); and District Counsel Wes Haber 
of Kutak Rock (via phone). 
 
Also present was Jessica Lee (via phone). 
 
F. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 2023- – DESIGNATING OFFICERS 
 
Resolution No. 2023-23 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A 
CHAIR, A VICE CHAIR, A SECRETARY, ASSISTANT 
SECRETARIES, A TREASURER AND AN ASSISTANT 
TREASURER OF THE WINDING CYPRESS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Page 2



Page 2 of 6 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded by Mr. Raksin and unanimously passed adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-23, electing the following Officers of the District: 
 

 Chairman: Dovber Meisels 

 Vice Chairman: Menachem Raksin 

 Secretary: Michelle Krizen  

 Treasurer/Assistant Treasurer: Michelle Krizen 

 Assistant Secretaries: Chaim Meisels, Matthew Meisels, Jason Weg 

 
G.  ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
H.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were comments from the public for items not on the agenda. 
 
I.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
  1.  May 24, 2023, Organizational Meeting 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Raksin, seconded by Mr. Blasberg and passed unanimously approving the 
minutes of the May 24, 2023, Organizational Meeting, as presented. 
 
The Regular Board Meeting was then recessed and the Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 
Final Budget was opened. 
 
J. PUBLIC HEARING – FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 FINAL BUDGET 
 1.  Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 
2022/2023 Final Budget had been published in the Lake Okeechobee News on August 2, 2023, and 
August 9, 2023, as legally required.  
 
 2.  Receive Public Comment on Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Final Budget 
 
There was no public comment on the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Final Budget. 
 
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-24– Adopting a Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Final Budget 
 
Resolution No. 2023-24 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-24 
 

THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE LAKEFRONT 
ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) 
RELATING TO THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATIONS AND ADOPTING THE 

Page 3



Page 3 of 6 
 

BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023; 
AUTHORIZING BUDGET AMENDMENTS; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded by Mr. Raksin and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-24, as presented. 
 
The Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Final Budget was closed and the Public Hearing on 
the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget was opened. 
 
K. PUBLIC HEARING – FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 FINAL BUDGET 
 1.  Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 
2023/2024 Final Budget had been published in the Lake Okeechobee News on August 2, 2023, and 
August 9, 2023, as legally required.  
 
 2.  Receive Public Comment on Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 
 
There was no public comment on the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget. 
 
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-25 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 
 
Resolution No. 2023-25 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-25 
 

THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE LAKEFRONT 
ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) 
RELATING TO THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATIONS AND ADOPTING THE 
BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2023 AND 
ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2024; AUTHORIZING BUDGET AMENDMENTS; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded by Mr. Raksin and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-25, as presented. 
 
The Public Hearing on Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget was then closed and the Public Hearing on 
Authorizing the District’s Intent to Use of the Uniform Method of Collection was opened. 
 
L. PUBLIC HEARING – AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT’S INTENT TO USE OF THE 
UNIFORM METHOD OF COLLECTION 
 1.  Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Public Hearing Authorizing the 
District’s Intent to Use Uniform Method of Collection had been published in the Lake Okeechobee News 
on July 26, 2023, August 2, 2023, August 9, 2023, and August 16, 2023, as legally required.  
 

Page 4



Page 4 of 6 
 

 2.  Receive Public Comment on the Use of the Uniform Method of Collection 
 
There was no public comment on the District’s Intent to Use the Uniform Method of Collection. 
 
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-26 – Adopting the Uniform Method of Collection 
 
Resolution No. 2023-26 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-26 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT EXPRESSING ITS INTENT TO UTILIZE THE 
UNIFORM METHOD OF LEVYING, COLLECTING, AND 
ENFORCING NON-AD VALOREM ASSESSMENTS WHICH 
MAY BE LEVIED BY THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH SECTION 197.3632, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded by Mr. Raksin and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-26, as presented. 
 
The Public Hearing on the District’s Intent to Use the Uniform Method of Collection was closed and the 
Regular Board Meeting was reconvened. 
 
M. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no Old Business items to come before the Board. 
 
N. NEW BUSINESS 
 1.  Consider Selection of Newlines Land Consultants, Steve Dobbs as District Engineer 
 
There was only one response to the RFQ from Newlines Land Consultants, Steve Dobbs.  Mr. Dobbs is 
currently the Interim Engineer. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Raksin, seconded by Mr. Blasberg and passed unanimously selecting 
Newlines Land Consultants, Steve Dobbs as the District’s Engineer. 
 
 2.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-27 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Meeting Schedule 
 
Resolution No. 2023-27 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-27 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, 

Page 5



Page 5 of 6 
 

ESTABLISHING A REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2023/2024 AND SETTING THE TIME AND LOCATION OF SAID 
DISTRICT MEETINGS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Raksin, seconded by Mr. Blasberg and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-27, as presented. 
 
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-28 – Authorizing Electronic Approvals and Checks 
Signers 
 
Resolution No. 2023-28 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-28 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE FRONT 
ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, AUTHORIZING THE 
ESTABLISHMENT OF A DISTRICT CHECKING/OPERATING ACCOUNT, 
DESIGNATING DISTRICT OFFICIALS AND/OR AUTHORIZED STAFF TO 
REVIEW, APPROVE AND ISSUE PAYMENT OF EXPENDITURES, 
SELECTING THE SIGNATORIES THEREOF; TODD WODRASKA, 
MICHELLE KRIZEN, JASON PIERMAN, PATRICIA LASCASAS AND 
DOVBER BLASBERG (DUBI) AS SIGNORS ON THE ACCOUNT AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded by Mr. Raskin and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2023-28, as presented. 
 
 4.  Consider Appointment of Audit Committee and Approval of Evaluation Criteria 
 
 
 
 5.  Discussion Regarding Required Ethics Training 
 
Mr. Haber provided an overview of the upcoming Ethics Training requirements of 4 hours annually. A 
Sunshine and Public Records overview was also provided.  All e-mails pertaining to the CDD are a 
matter of public record and can be requested.  The Board cannot discuss matters with each other outside 
of Board Meetings.  The Board requested e-mail addresses be set up for CDD use to help comply with 
the public record laws.  Ms. Krizen will have those set up accordingly.  
 
O. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 
Ms. Krizen advised that about two weeks prior to a meeting the Board Members will receive a message 
from Tricia LasCasas asking about agenda items and attendance.  If you are not going to be able to attend 
that meeting, please be sure to let her know so we are able to obtain a quorum.  One week before the 
meeting the Board will receive an e-mail with a link to the meeting booklet for review prior to the 
meeting.  If you have any questions, please e-mail or call me and I will assist you.  
 

Page 6



Page 6 of 6 
 

There were no further Board Member comments. 
 
Q. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by Mr. Blasberg, seconded 
by Mr. Raksin and passed unanimously adjourning the meeting at 1:02 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 ________________________________   _________________________________ 
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson/Vice-Chair 

Page 7



 RESOLUTION NO. 2022-29  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED 
FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 BUDGET (“AMENDED 
BUDGET”), PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 189, FLORIDA STATUTES; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District (“District”) is empowered to provide a funding source and to impose 
special assessments upon the properties within the District; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has prepared for consideration and approval an Amended 
Budget. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 
  

                  Section 1. The Amended Budget for Fiscal Year 2022/2023 attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” is hereby approved and adopted. 

 
 Section 2. The Secretary/Assistant Secretary of the District is authorized to execute 

any and all necessary transmittals, certifications or other acknowledgements or writings, as 
necessary, to comply with the intent of this Resolution. 

 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 20th day of December, 2023. 
 

 

ATTEST: LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 
 

Page 8



  Lakefront Estates
 Community Development District

    Amended Final Budget For
    Fiscal Year 2022/2023

   May 24, 2023 - September 30, 2023

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



 

BOND FINANCING TEAM FUNDING AGREEMENT 
 

This Bond Financing Team Funding Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered 
into this 20th day of December, 2023, by and between: 
 

Lakefront Estates Community Development District, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in Glades County, Florida, with a mailing address of 2501A Burns Road, 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, (the “District”); and  
 
Okeechobee Community Developers, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and 
the developer of the lands in the District ("Developer") with a mailing address of 
5695 North East 174th Street, Miami, Florida 33162.  

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established by an ordinance adopted by Glades County, 
Florida, for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, operating and/or maintaining 
certain infrastructure; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the District presently expects to access the public bond market to provide for 
the financing of certain capital improvements, facilities, and services to benefit the lands within 
the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to provide 
funds to enable the District to commence its financing program. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. PROVISION OF FUNDS.  Developer agrees to make available to the 
District such monies as are necessary to proceed with the issuance of bonds or other 
indebtedness to fund the District’s improvements, facilities and services. 
 
  A. Developer agrees to provide to the District any such monies upon receipt 
of an invoice from the District requesting such funds.  Such funds, and all future funds provided 
pursuant to this Agreement, may be supplied by check, cash, wire transfer or other form of 
payment deemed satisfactory in the sole discretion of the District as determined by the District 
Manager.  The District agrees to authorize District staff, including the District Engineer, District 
Manager, and District Counsel to proceed with the work contemplated by this Agreement, and 
to retain a Bond Counsel and Financial Advisor and other professional assistance as may be 
necessary to proceed with the work contemplated by this Agreement. 

Page 12



 
 

2

 
  B. Developer and the District agree that all fees, costs or other expenses 
incurred by the District for the services of the District’s Engineer, Counsel, Financial Advisor or 
other professionals, for the work contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid solely from the 
funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement.  Such payments shall be made in 
accordance with the District's normal invoice and payment procedures.  The District agrees that 
any funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be used solely for fees, 
costs, and expenses arising from or related to the work contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
  C. The District agrees to provide to Developer, on a monthly basis, copies of 
all invoices, requisitions, or other bills for which payment is to be made from the funds 
provided by Developer.  The District agrees to provide to Developer, monthly, a statement from 
the District Manager showing funds on deposit prior to payment, payments made, and funds 
remaining on deposit with the District. 
 
  D. Developer agrees to provide funds within fifteen (15) days of receipt of 
written notification from the District Manager of the need for such funds.  
 
  E. In the event that Developer fails to provide any such funds pursuant to 
this Agreement, Developer and the District agree the work may be halted until such time as 
sufficient funds are provided by Developer to ensure payment of the costs, fees or expenses 
which may be incurred in the performance of such work.  
 
 SECTION 2. TERMINATION. Developer and District agree that Developer may 
terminate this Agreement without cause by providing ten (10) days written notice of 
termination to the District.  Any such termination by Developer is contingent upon Developer’s 
provision of sufficient funds to cover any and all fees, costs or expenses incurred by the District 
in connection with the work to be performed under this Agreement as of the date by when 
notice of termination is received.  Developer and the District agree that the District may 
terminate this Agreement due to a failure of Developer to provide funds in accordance with 
Section 1 of this Agreement, by providing ten (10) days written notice of termination to 
Developer; provided, however, that the Developer shall be provided a reasonable opportunity 
to cure any such failure. 
  
 SECTION 3. CAPITALIZATION.  The parties agree that all funds provided by Developer 
pursuant to this Agreement may be reimbursable from proceeds of District financing for capital 
improvements, and that within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the proceeds by the District of 
bonds or notes for the District’s capital projects, the District shall reimburse Developer in full, 
exclusive of interest, for these advances; provided, however, that in the event Bond Counsel 
determines that any such monies are not properly reimbursable, such funds shall be deemed 
paid in lieu of taxes or assessments.  In the event that District bonds are not issued within five 

Page 13



 
 

3

(5) years of the date of this Agreement, all funds provided by Developer pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be deemed paid in lieu of taxes or assessments.  
 
 SECTION 4. DEFAULT.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle 
the other to all remedies available at law or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, 
the right of damages, injunctive relief and/or specific performance.   
 
 SECTION 5. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either party is 
required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the substantially 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, paralegal fees and expert witness fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute 
resolution, or appellate proceedings. 
 
 SECTION 6. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 7. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both of 
the parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 8. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all parties hereto, each party has complied 
with all the requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply with 
the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 SECTION 9. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications 
hereunder (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 

A.   If to District: Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
  2501A Burns Road 
  Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
  Attn: District Manager 

 
With a copy to: Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Attn: District Counsel 
 

B.         If to Developer: Okeechobee Community Developers, LLC 
 5695 North East 174th Street 

Page 14



 
 

4

 Miami, Florida 33162 
 Attn: _________________ 
 

Except as otherwise provided herein, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual 
delivery at the address set forth herein.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of 
delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business 
day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, 
Sundays and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded 
as business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  Any party 
or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties and 
addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 SECTION 10.  THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the parties herein and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to or 
for the benefit of any third party not a party hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement expressed or 
implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation other than 
the parties hereto any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any 
provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants and 
conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the 
parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 SECTION 11.  ASSIGNMENT.  Neither party may assign this Agreement or any monies to 
become due hereunder without the prior written approval of the other party. 
 
 SECTION 12. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the 
State of Florida. Venue shall be in Glades County, Florida. 
  
 SECTION 13.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  The Agreement shall be effective after execution by 
both parties hereto and shall remain in effect unless terminated by either of the parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 14. PUBLIC RECORDS.  Developer understands and agrees that all documents 
of any kind provided to the District or to District Staff in connection with the work 
contemplated under this Agreement are public records and are treated as such in accordance 
with Florida law. 
      
 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  

Page 15



 
 

5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement to be effective the day and 
year first written above. 
 
 
ATTEST:      LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
____________________________   _______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chair/Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 
     
            
 
 
       OKEECHOBEE COMMUNITY  
       DEVELOPERS, LLC  
 
 
___________________________   _____________________________  
Witness      By: __________________________ 
       Its: ___________________________ 
 
 

Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A100

GENERAL
SITE MAP

Page 41



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A101

SITE MAP
PHASE 1A

Page 42



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A102

SITE MAP
PHASE 1B

Page 43



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A103

SITE MAP
PHASE 2

Page 44



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A104

SITE MAP
PHASE 3

Page 45



As Noted

Current Revision Date

NJ079

## OF ##

Client Name

OKEECHOBEE SITE

DESCRIPTION DATE NO.

Okeechobee, FL

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

ARCHITECT:
RISE ARCHITECTURE, LLC

NYC OFFICE:
241 37TH STREET SUITE 440

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11232
JEFF AKERMAN, RA

JEFF@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
516-249-346

NJ OFFICE:
36 AIRPORT RD SUITE 402

LAKEWOOD, NJ 08701
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

FL OFFICE:
210 N UNIVERSITY DR SUITE 210

CORAL SPRINGS, FL 33071
SHIMON GREENEBAUM, RA

SHIMON@RISEARCHITECTURE.COM
908-674-8717

PROJECT NAME/ LOCATION:

DRAWING TITLE:

EXAMINERS SIGNATURE:

PROFESSIONAL SEAL:

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

DATE:

SCALE:

A105

SITE MAP
PHASE 4

Page 46



Page 47



FIGURE 1
LOCATION MAP

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:0

8 
p.

 m
.

Page 48



FI
G

U
R

E 
2

Z
O

N
IN

G
 M

A
P

LA
K

EF
R

O
N

T 
ES

TA
TE

S

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 S
T

E
V

E
N

 L
. D

O
B

B
S

, P
.E

.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:1

0 
p.

 m
.

Page 49



FIGURE 3
PROJECT BOUNDARY AND EXISTING CONDITIONS

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:1

2 
p.

 m
.

Page 50



11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

FI
G

U
R

E 
4

S
O

IL
 M

A
P

LA
K

EF
R

O
N

T 
ES

TA
TE

S

 S
T

E
V

E
N

 L
. D

O
B

B
S

, P
.E

.

2: Hallandale fine sand, 0 to 2 percent slopes
8: Gator muck, frequently ponded, 0 to 1 percent slopes
10: Felda fine sand, 0 to 2 percent slopes
13: Boca fine sand, 0 to 2 percent slopes
16: Floridana fine sand, frequently ponded, 0 to 1 percent slopes
99: Water

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:2

1 
p.

 m
.

Page 51



FIGURE 5
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

PHASE 1

PHASE 2

PHASE 2

PHASE 3
PHASE 4

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:2

2 
p.

 m
.

Page 52



FIGURE 6
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:3

0 
p.

 m
.

Page 53



© 2023 Microsoft Corporation © 2023 Maxar ©CNES (2023) Distribution Airbus DS 

FIGURE 7.1
WATER-MAIN ROUTE 78

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:3

9 
p.

 m
.

Page 54



FIGURE 7.2
WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM PLAN

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:4

3 
p.

 m
.

Page 55



FIGURE 8
SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM PLAN

LAKEFRONT ESTATES

11
"x

17
" 

S
he

et
 s

iz
e

ENGINEER'S REPORT
LAKEFRONT ESTATES AT GLADES COUNTY

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NLE FL23028
October, 2023

 STEVEN L. DOBBS, P.E.

Z
:\2

02
3 

F
lo

rid
a\

F
L2

30
28

-L
ak

ef
ro

nt
 C

D
D

\C
A

D
\2

15
34

 E
X

H
IB

IT
S

.d
w

g,
 2

7/
10

/2
02

3 
3:

46
:5

1 
p.

 m
.

Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



South Florida Water Management District
Individual Environmental Resource  Permit No. 22-108575-P 

Date Issued: October 13, 2023 
 
 

Permittee: Okeechobee Community Developers, LLC 
36 Airport Road Suite 402 
Lakewood, NJ 08901 
 

Project:
 

Lakefront Estates 

Application No.   230227-37743   
 

Location: Glades County, See Exhibit 1 

Your application for an Individual Environmental Resource Permit is approved. This action is taken based
on Chapter 373, Part IV, of Florida Statutes (F.S.) and the rules in Chapter 62-330, Florida Administrative
Code (F.A.C.). Unless otherwise stated, this permit constitutes certification of compliance with state water
quality standards under section 401 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 1341, and a finding of consistency
with the Florida Coastal Management Program.  Please read this entire agency action thoroughly and
understand its contents.

This permit is subject to: 

Not receiving a filed request for a Chapter 120, F.S., administrative hearing.
The attached General Conditions for Environmental Resource Permits.
The attached Special Conditions.
All referenced Exhibits.

All documents are available online through the District's ePermitting site at www.sfwmd.gov/ePermitting. 

If you object to these conditions, please refer to the attached "Notice of Rights" which addresses the
procedures to be followed if you desire a public hearing or other review of the proposed agency action.
Please contact this office if you have any questions concerning this matter. If we do not hear from you in
accordance with the "Notice of Rights", we will assume that you concur with the District's action.

The District does not publish notices of action. If you wish to limit the time within which a person may
request an administrative hearing regarding this action, you are encouraged to publish, at your own
expense, a notice of agency action in the legal advertisement section of a newspaper of general circulation
in the county or counties where the activity will occur. Legal requirements and instructions for publishing a
notice of agency action, as well as a noticing format that can be used, are available upon request. If you
publish a notice of agency action, please send a copy of the affidavit of publication provided by the
newspaper to the District's West Palm Beach office for retention in this file.

If you have any questions regarding your permit or need any other information, please call us at
1-800-432-2045 or email epermits@sfwmd.gov.  

Gary R. Priest, P.E. 
Engineering Section Administrator, Environmental Resource Bureau 

Page 139



    

South Florida Water Management District
Individual Environmental Resource Permit No. 22-108575-P 

 

Date Issued: October 13, 2023 Expiration Date: October 13, 2028 
 

Project Name: Lakefront Estates 
 

Permittee: Okeechobee Community Developers, LLC 
36 Airport Road Suite 402 
Lakewood, NJ 08901 

Operating Entity: Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
27499 Riverview Center Blvd #253 
Bonita Springs, FL 34134   
 
 

Location:
 

Glades  County 

Permit Acres:
 

524.99 acres 

Project Land Use:
 

Residential
Commercial

Special Drainage District:
 

N/A

Water Body Classification:
 

CLASS III 

FDEP Water Body ID:
 

3214

Wetland and Surface Water Impacts:
 

6.088 acres

Conservation Easement to District:
 

No

Sovereign Submerged Lands:  No

Project Summary
This Environmental Resource Permit (ERP) authorized Construction and Operation of a stormwater
management (SWM) system serving 524.99-acres of residential development for a project known as
Lakefront Estates.

The project includes construction of all residential lots, roadways, and SWM facilities and a SWM serving
the adjacent Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) right-of-way of State Road 78, which includes
both onsite and offsite works. The project will discharge to the Lake Okeechobee Rim Canal.  The
project was previously granted a conceptual approval Permit No. 22-101892-P and a phase of construction
Permit No. 22-101893-P. This construction permit is a complete redesign of the project and its SWM system
and includes construction of the entire site limits. This construction permit supersedes the prior construction
permit. Construction authorization within the commercial parcels is limited to perimeter grading only.
Future construction within the commercial parcels will require a separate permit authorization. Please refer
to SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report No. 2.1 for additional details.

Issuance of this permit constitutes certification of compliance with state water quality standards in
accordance with Rule 62-330.062, F.A.C.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 2 of 20

Page 140



Site Description
The site is mostly cleared and includes several wetlands. The current land use is improved pasture for
grazing livestock. Please see Location Map Exhibit No. 1.0 for additional details.

Background
Permit No. 22-101893-P authorized construction and operation of a SWM system serving 132.33-acres of
residential development for a project known as G. Harvey Estates Phase 1.

Permit No. 22-101892-P  authorized conceptual approval of a SWM system serving 445.51 acre residential
development for a project known as G. Harvey Estates.

A permit transfer was issued to Okeechobee Community Developers, LLC as requested under Application
220406-33846.  The only modification authorized by this action is a change in permittee. The permit remains
subject to the Expiration Date, General Conditions, and Special Conditions as previously issued.

Ownership, Operation and Maintenance
Perpetual operation and maintenance of the SWM system is the responsibility of the Lakefront Estates
Community Development District as indicated in the recorded governing documents (Please refer to Exhibit
No. 4.0) and correspondence (Please refer to Exhibit No. 4.1). Upon completion of construction and in
conjunction with submittal of the construction completion certification, a request for transfer to the operating
entity and recorded copies of its governing documents must be provided in accordance with General
Condition No. 7.

The subject site accepts discharge from the adjacent Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) Right-of-
Way; an FDOT permit was provided for the offsite works and a draft plat was provided granting a drainage
easement to FDOT; Please refer to Exhibit No. 4.2 for the draft plat.

Prior to or concurrent with submittal of the engineering completion certification, a copy of the recorded plat
granting the easement to FDOT for the continuation of this drainage must be submitted.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 3 of 20

Page 141



Engineering Evaluation:

Land Use
Please refer to Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for land
use details for each of the 4 Basins/Phases.

Water Quality
The project is within the Lake Okeechobee watershed which is impaired, pursuant to 62-304.705 F.A.C. In
order to provide reasonable assurance that the proposed project will not contribute to the existing
impairment, an additional 50% water quality treatment volume is provided. A site specific pre vs. post
development nutrient loading analysis has been provided demonstrating that the proposed system will not
increase the annual nutrient loading over existing conditions.

The project provides the required water quality treatment volume based on 1 inch over the controlled basin
areas. Please refer to Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for
water quality details for each of the 4 Basins/Phases.

The project includes implementation of a Turbidity and Erosion Control Plan as additional reasonable
assurance of compliance with water quality criteria during construction. Please refer to Exhibit No. 2.0 for
details.

Water Quantity
As e result of the low discharge rate, the SWM system does not recover within 12 days pursuant to Vol. II
Section 3.9. In order to provide reasonable assurance of the long term flood protection of the system,
minimum flood protection levels were established based on the peak stage of a second design storm.
Please refer to Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for design
storm and flood protection details.

Discharge
The project is located within the S-127 Basin. The peak discharge rate of 20.2 cubic feet per second per
square mile is within the allowable limit for the area. Please refer to SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for details.

Parking Lot Design
The minimum parking lot elevations have been set at or above the design storm elevation. Please refer to
Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for design storm and flood
protection details.

Road Design
The minimum road center line elevations have been set at or above the design storm elevation. Please refer
to Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for design storm and
flood protection details.

Finished Floors
The minimum finish floor elevations have been set at or above the design storm elevation. Please refer to
Sheet 1 of 33 of the SWM Plans Exhibit No. 2.0 and SWM Report Exhibit No. 2.1 for design storm and flood
protection details.

Offsite Flow
The project includes construction of both onsite and offsite works associated with the Florida Department of
Transportation (FDOT) Basin shown on the Conceptual Master Plan Exhibit No. 2.2. Construction within
SR-78 right-of-way will require authorization from the FDOT. The FDOT Basin is a bypass system
consistent with the existing condition and conceptual approval. The FDOT Basin will convey offsite
stormwater runoff from the State Road 78 right-of-way through the site to the Lake Okeechobee Rim Canal.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 4 of 20

Page 142



Please refer to Exhibits Nos. 2.0 and 2.1 for details.

Certification, Operation, and Maintenance
Pursuant to Chapter 62-330.310, F.A.C., Individual Permits will not be converted from the construction
phase to the operation phase until construction completion certification of the project is submitted to and
accepted by the District. This includes compliance with all permit conditions, except for any long term
maintenance and monitoring requirements. It is suggested that the permittee retain the services of an
appropriate professional registered in the State of Florida for periodic observation of construction of the
project.

For projects permitted with an operating entity that is different from the permittee, it should be noted that
until the construction completion certification is accepted by the District and the permit is transferred to an
acceptable operating entity pursuant to Sections 12.1 - 12.3, ERP AH Vol. I and Section 62-330.310, F.A.C.,
the permittee is liable for operation and maintenance in compliance with the terms and conditions of this
permit.

In accordance with Section 373.416(2), F.S., unless revoked or abandoned, all SWM systems and works
permitted under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., must be operated and maintained in perpetuity.

The efficiency of SWM systems, dams, impoundments, and most other project components will decrease
over time without periodic maintenance. The operation and maintenance entity must perform periodic
inspections to identify if there are any deficiencies in structural integrity, degradation due to insufficient
maintenance, or improper operation of projects that may endanger public health, safety, or welfare, or the
water resources. If deficiencies are found, the operation and maintenance entity is responsible for correcting
the deficiencies in a timely manner to prevent compromises to flood protection and water quality. See
Section 12.4, ERP AH Vol. I for Minimum Operation and Maintenance Standards.

Notable project components requiring routine inspection and maintenance include but are not limited to:

Side slopes for stormwater lakes and ponds – maintain side slopes no steeper than 4:1
(horizontal:vertical) to a depth of 2.0 feet below the control elevation and nurtured or planted from 2.0
feet below to 1.0 feet above the control elevation pursuant to Section 5.4.2, ERP AH Vol. II.
 
Conveyance pipes, conveyance structures and discharge structures – all pipes and structures must be
inspected for structural integrity and be maintained clear of trash, sediment and vegetative debris.
 
Exfiltration trenches – all pipes and structures must be inspected for structural integrity and be
maintained clear of trash, sediment and vegetative debris.
 
Swales – maintain the permitted cross-section and vegetative cover.
 
Underground storage facilities – all facilities must be inspected for structural integrity and be maintained
clear of trash, sediment and vegetative debris.
 
Pumps – float switches should be inspected and any obstructions removed to ensure proper operation;
intake and discharge pipes should be maintained clear of trash, sediment and vegetative debris; motors
should be maintained to ensure proper operation.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 5 of 20

Page 143



Environmental Evaluation:

Wetlands and Other Surface Waters (OSW)
The project site contains 15 freshwater wetlands totaling approximately 32.78 acres, and 5.97 acres of
OSW's (onsite man-made lake). Please see Exhibit No. 2.0 for the locations of these features. The wetlands
can generally be described as freshwater marsh and mixed hardwoods. Additional wetland descriptions are
available in the ePermitting file and Exhibit No. 3.0.

The project will result in direct impact to 0.116 acres of wetlands (Wetlands 11, 13, and 14), as well as
dredging and/or filling in 5.97 acres of OSW. Mitigation is not required for proposed work in OSW's pursuant
to section 10.2.2.3 of the ERP AH Vol. I. Mitigation is also not required for impact to Wetlands 11,13, and 14
because the Permittee has demonstrated compliance with sections 10.2.2 through 10.2.3.7 and 10.2.5
through 10.3.8 of the ERP AH Vol. I for regulated activities in isolated wetlands less than one half acre in
size.

Because the remaining ~32.67 acres of wetlands will be preserved onsite with minimum 25-foot upland
buffers surrounding them, District Staff have determined the project meets the elimination and reduction
criteria in Section 10.2.1, ERP AH Vol. I. There are no cumulative impacts associated with the project.

Of the wetlands to remain unimpacted onsite; Wetlands 5 through 10, 12, and 15, along with associated
upland buffer areas, are currently under a conservation easement dedicated to the District pursuant to
Application No. 180626-656, Permit No. 22-101893-P for G. Harvey Estates Phase 1 Construction. Please
refer to Exhibit No. 3.1 for the recorded conservation easement. 

Wetland seasonal high-water elevations were field verified and surveyed. Onsite wetlands will be
incorporated into the design of the SWM system as shown on Exhibit No. 2.0. Proposed rim elevations for
the wetland structures were designed to coincide with hydroperiod of the wetlands in which they connect. A
recovery analysis for the 5- year, 1-day storm event demonstrates wetland stages will recover back down to
seasonal high-water elevation in sufficient time to not adversely impact wetland hydrology. Please refer to
Exhibit No. 3.2 for further details.

No water quality impacts are expected to occur as calculations were provided demonstrating all runoff which
enters each wetland area will receive the required water quality treatment and outfall velocities will mimic a
natural sheet flow into the wetland. Rear lot line swales will provide water quality treatment for the minimal
areas of yards which discharge into the wetlands. The remainder of the project will discharge into the wet
detention system, then into the wetlands.

Temporary impacts to the wetland buffer areas due to the installation of stormwater structures will be re-
planted with native wetland and upland vegetation and restored to natural grade once the structures are
installed pursuant to Special Condition No. 10.

Due to the close proximity of the lakes and the difference between the control elevation and wetland
seasonal high water elevations, the applicant provided a gradient analysis evaluating the compatibility of the
proposed control elevations with the onsite wetlands. Based on the calculations, the applicant is proposing
to construct impermeable hydrologic barriers around the lakes adjacent to Wetlands 3 and 5, where the
gradient exceeded 0.005 ft/ft (vertical distance in elevation/horizontal distance), as a measure to protect
wetlands from adverse hydrologic impact. Impermeable barriers shall be installed prior to any lake
excavation and are detailed on Exhibit No. 2.0.

To ensure no water quality impacts will occur, Best Management Practices (BMPs), including turbidity
curtains, will be utilized during construction.

Monitoring and Maintenance
Because onsite wetlands will be incorporated into the SWM design, wetland monitoring will be conducted by
the permittee for a period of five consecutive years to ensure adverse hydrologic impacts will not occur.
Exhibit No. 3.0 describes the monitoring methodology, locations, and maintenance activities. Monitoring

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 6 of 20

Page 144



includes vegetative cover, hydrologic conditions, as well as wildlife usage and recommendations for
maintenance work. Annual reports shall be submitted to the District in accordance with the project work
schedule herein.

Perpetual maintenance will also be required. Maintenance criteria are found in the special conditions and
Exhibit No. 3.0. Maintenance will be conducted in perpetuity by the Lakefront Estates Community
Development District as identified on Exhibit No. 3.4.

Fish, Wildlife, and Listed Species
The wetlands to be preserved provide habitat for wetland-dependent species including sandhill crane, little
blue heron, wood stork, white egret, and crested caracara. The proposed preservation will provide or
improve habitat for wetland-dependent and aquatic species. No aquatic or wetland-dependent listed species
or species having special protection were observed to be using the uplands within the project for nesting or
denning.

The District received correspondence from the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission
(FFWCC) dated August 9, 2018 as part of the review of related Permit No. 22-101893-P. Correspondence
included recommendations for nesting and denning surveys to be conducted for sandhill cranes, wading
birds, American kestrel, southern fox squirrel and Audubon's crested caracara, as described in Exhibit 3.3.
The letter indicated that should any nests or dens be identified, buffers shall be established as required by
FFWCC and the adjacent construction schedule shall be adjusted to avoid activity within those areas. A
subsequent survey for these species was conducted by JL Environmental in 2023, which is also attached in
Exhibit No. 3.3. It shall be the responsibility of the Permittee to coordinate with FFWCC regarding any
additional comments they may have regarding these species. 

This permit does not relieve the applicant from complying with all applicable rules and any other agencies'
requirements if, in the future, endangered or threatened species or species of special concern are
discovered on the site.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 7 of 20

Page 145



Environmental Evaluation Tables:

Summary
 
Wetlands and Other
Surface Waters: 

38.757 acres

Direct Wetland Impacts/
Work in OSW: 

6.088 acres

Secondary impacts: 0 acres
Net UMAM Functional
Loss/ Gain: 

0 units

 
Lakefront Estates 
Activities in Wetlands or Other Surface Waters, Not Including Mitigation at a Bank

ID Acres Action Community
Description

Current
Score

With Project
Score

UMAM
Loss

W1 0.451 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W2 1.656 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W3 2.363 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W4 4.393 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W5 4.945 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W6 4.766 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W7 8.234 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W8 0.177 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W9 2.789 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W10 1.506 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W11 0.039 Direct Impact Wetlands   0.000 
W12 1.331 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 
W13 0.042 Direct Impact Wetlands   0.000 
W14 0.035 Direct Impact Wetlands  0 0.000 
W15 0.058 Avoided/Preserved Wetlands   0.000 

OSW 5.972 
Works in Surface
Waters 

Ponds   0.000 

Total: 38.757     0.000
 
 
 
 

 
 

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 8 of 20

Page 146



Related Concerns:

Water Use Permit Status
The permittee has indicated that irrigation will not be required and landscaping will utilize drought tolerant
plants.

The permittee has indicated that dewatering is required for construction of this project. If the proposed
dewatering does not qualify for the permit by rule under Rule 40E-2.061, F.A.C., a Water Use Permit for
dewatering must be obtained prior to construction. 

This permit does not release the permittee from obtaining all necessary Water Use authorization(s) prior to
the commencement of activities which will require such authorization, including construction dewatering and
irrigation.

Historical/ Archeological Resources
The District has received correspondence from the Florida Department of State, Division of Historical
Resources indicating that no significant archaeological or historical resources are recorded on the project
site; therefore, the project is unlikely to have an effect upon any such resources. 

This permit does not release the permittee from complying with any other agencies requirements in the
event that historical and/or archaeological resources are found on the site.

 

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 9 of 20

Page 147



General Conditions for Individual Environmental Resource Permits, 62-330.350, F.A.C.
 
1. All activities shall be implemented following the plans, specifications and performance criteria approved

by this permit. Any deviations must be authorized in a permit modification in accordance with rule
62-330.315, F.A.C. Any deviations that are not so authorized may subject the permittee to enforcement
action and revocation of the permit under Chapter 373, F.S.

2. A complete copy of this permit shall be kept at the work site of the permitted activity during the
construction phase, and shall be available for review at the work site upon request by the Agency staff.
The permittee shall require the contractor to review the complete permit prior to beginning construction.

3. Activities shall be conducted in a manner that does not cause or contribute to violations of state water
quality standards. Performance-based erosion and sediment control best management practices shall be
installed immediately prior to, and be maintained during and after construction as needed, to prevent
adverse impacts to the water resources and adjacent lands. Such practices shall be in accordance with
the State of Florida Erosion and Sediment Control Designer and Reviewer Manual (Florida Department
of Environmental Protection and Florida Department of Transportation, June 2007), and the Florida
Stormwater Erosion and Sedimentation Control Inspector’s Manual (Florida Department of
Environmental Protection, Nonpoint Source Management Section, Tallahassee, Florida, July 2008),
which are both incorporated by reference in subparagraph 62-330.050(9)(b)5., F.A.C., unless a project-
specific erosion and sediment control plan is approved or other water quality control measures are
required as part of the permit.

4. At least 48 hours prior to beginning the authorized activities, the permittee shall submit to the Agency a
fully executed Form 62-330.350(1), “Construction Commencement Notice,” (October 1, 2013), (http://
www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-02505), incorporated by reference herein, indicating the
expected start and completion dates. A copy of this form may be obtained from the Agency, as described
in subsection 62-330.010(5), F.A.C., and shall be submitted electronically or by mail to the Agency.
However, for activities involving more than one acre of construction that also require a NPDES
stormwater construction general permit, submittal of the Notice of Intent to Use Generic Permit for
Stormwater Discharge from Large and Small Construction Activities, DEP Form 62-621.300(4)(b), shall
also serve as notice of commencement of construction under this chapter and, in such a case, submittal
of Form 62-330.350(1) is not required.

5. Unless the permit is transferred under rule 62-330.340, F.A.C., or transferred to an operating entity
under rule 62-330.310, F.A.C., the permittee is liable to comply with the plans, terms, and conditions of
the permit for the life of the project or activity.

6. Within 30 days after completing construction of the entire project, or any independent portion of the
project, the permittee shall provide the following to the Agency, as applicable:
a. For an individual, private single-family residential dwelling unit, duplex, triplex, or quadruplex-
"Construction Completion and Inspection Certification for Activities Associated With a Private Single-
Family Dwelling Unit"[Form 62-330.310(3)]; or
b. For all other activities- "As-Built Certification and Request for Conversion to Operational Phase" [Form
62-330.310(1)].
c. If available, an Agency website that fulfills this certification requirement may be used in lieu of the
form.

7. If the final operation and maintenance entity is a third party:
a. Prior to sales of any lot or unit served by the activity and within one year of permit issuance, or within
30 days of as-built certification, whichever comes first, the permittee shall submit, as applicable, a copy
of the operation and maintenance documents (see sections 12.3 thru 12.3.4 of Volume I) as filed with the
Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations, and a copy of any easement, plat, or deed
restriction needed to operate or maintain the project, as recorded with the Clerk of the Court in the

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 10 of 20

Page 148



County in which the activity is located.
b. Within 30 days of submittal of the as-built certification, the permittee shall submit “Request for Transfer
of Environmental Resource Permit to the Perpetual Operation and Maintenance Entity” [Form
62-330.310(2)] to transfer the permit to the operation and maintenance entity, along with the
documentation requested in the form. If available, an Agency website that fulfills this transfer
requirement may be used in lieu of the form.

8. The permittee shall notify the Agency in writing of changes required by any other regulatory agency that
require changes to the permitted activity, and any required modification of this permit must be obtained
prior to implementing the changes.

9. This permit does not:
a. Convey to the permittee any property rights or privileges, or any other rights or privileges other than
those specified herein or in Chapter 62-330, F.A.C.;
b. Convey to the permittee or create in the permittee any interest in real property;
c. Relieve the permittee from the need to obtain and comply with any other required federal, state, and
local authorization, law, rule, or ordinance; or
d. Authorize any entrance upon or work on property that is not owned, held in easement, or controlled by
the permittee.

10. Prior to conducting any activities on state-owned submerged lands or other lands of the state, title to
which is vested in the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, the permittee must
receive all necessary approvals and authorizations under Chapters 253 and 258, F.S. Written
authorization that requires formal execution by the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust
Fund shall not be considered received until it has been fully executed.

11. The permittee shall hold and save the Agency harmless from any and all damages, claims, or liabilities
that may arise by reason of the construction, alteration, operation, maintenance, removal, abandonment
or use of any project authorized by the permit.

12. The permittee shall notify the Agency in writing:
a. Immediately if any previously submitted information is discovered to be inaccurate; and
b. Within 30 days of any conveyance or division of ownership or control of the property or the system,
other than conveyance via a long-term lease, and the new owner shall request transfer of the permit in
accordance with Rule 62-330.340, F.A.C. This does not apply to the sale of lots or units in residential or
commercial subdivisions or condominiums where the stormwater management system has been
completed and converted to the operation phase.

13. Upon reasonable notice to the permittee, Agency staff with proper identification shall have permission
to enter, inspect, sample and test the project or activities to ensure conformity with the plans and
specifications authorized in the permit.

14. If prehistoric or historic artifacts, such as pottery or ceramics, projectile points, stone tools, dugout
canoes, metal implements, historic building materials, or any other physical remains that could be
associated with Native American, early European, or American settlement are encountered at any time
within the project site area, the permitted project shall cease all activities involving subsurface
disturbance in the vicinity of the discovery. The permittee or other designee shall contact the Florida
Department of State, Division of Historical Resources, Compliance Review Section (DHR), at
(850)245-6333, as well as the appropriate permitting agency office. Project activities shall not resume
without verbal or written authorization from the Division of Historical Resources. If unmarked human
remains are encountered, all work shall stop immediately and the proper authorities notified in
accordance with section 872.05, F.S. For project activities subject to prior consultation with the DHR
and as an alternative to the above requirements, the permittee may follow procedures for unanticipated
discoveries as set forth within a cultural resources assessment survey determined complete and
sufficient by DHR and included as a specific permit condition herein.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 11 of 20

Page 149



15. Any delineation of the extent of a wetland or other surface water submitted as part of the permit
application, including plans or other supporting documentation, shall not be considered binding unless a
specific condition of this permit or a formal determination under Rule 62-330.201, F.A.C., provides
otherwise.

16. The permittee shall provide routine maintenance of all components of the stormwater management
system to remove trapped sediments and debris. Removed materials shall be disposed of in a landfill or
other uplands in a manner that does not require a permit under Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., or cause
violations of state water quality standards.

17. This permit is issued based on the applicant's submitted information that reasonably demonstrates that
adverse water resource-related impacts will not be caused by the completed permit activity. If any
adverse impacts result, the Agency will require the permittee to eliminate the cause, obtain any
necessary permit modification, and take any necessary corrective actions to resolve the adverse
impacts.

18. A Recorded Notice of Environmental Resource Permit may be recorded in the county public records in
accordance with Rule 62-330.090(7), F.A.C. Such notice is not an encumbrance upon the property.

   

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 12 of 20

Page 150



Special Conditions for Individual Environmental Resource Permits, 62-330.350, F.A.C.

 
1. The construction authorization for this permit shall expire on the date shown on page 2.

 
2. Perpetual O&M of the SWM system shall be the responsibility of the Lakefront Estates Community

Development District. Upon completion of construction and in conjunction with submittal of the as-built
certification, a request for transfer to the operating entity with supporting documentation must be
submitted in accordance with General Condition No. 7.

 
3. Prior to or concurrent with submittal of the engineering completion certification, recorded documentation

of perpetual legal reservation(s), such as an easement or plat dedication, for the subject site’s
acceptance of upstream discharge must be submitted.

 
4. This permit does not eliminate the need to obtain any and all necessary easements and rights of way

prior to the start of any activity approved herein. This permit does not convey to the permittee, or create
for the permittee, any property right, or any interest in real property; nor does it authorize any entrance
upon, or activities on, property which is not owned or controlled by the permittee; or convey any rights or
privileges other than those specified in the permit and Chapter 62-330, F.A.C..

No work shall occur within the FDOT right-of-way until all necessary FDOT permits are obtained
authorizing the proposed work on FDOT property.

 
5. All non-residential, commercial, or industrial projects must provide one half inch of dry pre-treatment

prior to discharging to the master system.

 
6. Prior to initiating construction activities associated with this Environmental Resource Permit (ERP), the

permittee is required to hold a pre-construction meeting with field representatives, consultants,
contractors, District Environmental Resource Bureau (ERB) staff, and any other local government
entities as necessary. The purpose of the pre-construction meeting is to discuss construction methods,
sequencing, best management practices, identify work areas, staking and roping of preserves where
applicable, and to facilitate coordination and assistance amongst relevant parties. To schedule a pre-
construction meeting, please contact ERB staff from the Okeechobee Service Center at (863) 462-5260
or via e-mail at: pre-con@sfwmd.gov. When sending a request for a pre-construction meeting, please
include the application number, permit number, and contact name and phone number.

 
7. An average 25' wide, minimum 15', buffer of undisturbed upland vegetation shall be maintained between

the proposed development and existing wetlands. Buffers shall be staked and roped and District
environmental staff notified for inspection prior to clearing.

 
8. Permanent physical markers designating the preserve status of the wetland preservation areas and

buffer zones shall be placed at the intersection of the buffer and each lot line. These markers shall be
maintained in perpetuity.

 
9. A monitoring program shall be implemented in accordance with Exhibit No. 3.0. The monitoring program

shall extend for a period of 5 years with annual reports submitted to District staff. At the end of the 5
year monitoring program the entire preservation area shall contain an 80% coverage of desirable

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 13 of 20

Page 151



obligate and facultative wetland species.

 
10. The areas to be temporarily disturbed by the installation of control structures in wetlands will be

backfilled and replanted within 30 days of installation. Monitoring of the replanted areas shall consist of
photos taken from fixed point photostations as shown on Exhibit No. 3.0. Monitoring of temporary impact
areas shall be done concurrently with other required monitoring for Lakefront Estates.

 
11. A maintenance program shall be implemented in accordance with Exhibit No. 3.0 for the preserved

wetland and upland buffer areas on a regular basis to ensure the integrity and viability of those areas as
permitted.

Maintenance shall be conducted in perpetuity to ensure that the wetlands under conservation
easement are maintained free from Category 1 exotic vegetation (as defined by the Florida Exotic Pest
Plant Council at the time of permit issuance) immediately following a maintenance activity per Permt
No. 22-101893-P which established the conservation easements. Remaining wetlands not under
conservation easement shall to be mainatained in their current condition. 

Maintenance in perpetuity shall also ensure that wetlands under conservation easements, including
buffers, maintain the species and coverage of native, desirable vegetation specified in the permit.
Coverage of exotic and nuisance plant species shall not exceed 5% of total cover between maintenance
activities. In addition, the permittee shall manage the conservation areas such that exotic/nuisance plant
species do not dominate any one section of those areas. Remaining wetlands not under conservation
easement shall to be mainatained in their current condition. 

 
12. Activities associated with the implementation of the monitoring and maintenance plan shall be

completed in accordance with the project work schedule attached herein. Any deviation from these time
frames must be coordinated with the District's Environmental Resource Compliance staff and may
require a minor modification to this permit. Such requests must be made in writing and shall include (1)
reason for the change, (2) proposed start/finish and/or completion dates; and (3) progress report on the
status of the project development or mitigation effort.

 
13. This permit does not authorize the permittee to cause any adverse impact to or “take” of state listed

species and other regulated species of fish and wildlife. Compliance with state laws regulating the take
of fish and wildlife is the responsibility of the owner or applicant associated with this project. Please refer
to Chapter 68A-27 of the Florida Administrative Code for definitions of “take” and a list of fish and wildlife
species. If listed species are observed onsite, FWC staff are available to provide decision support
information or assist in obtaining the appropriate FWC permits. Most marine endangered and threatened
species are statutorily protected and a “take” permit cannot be issued. Requests for further information
or review can be sent to: FWCConservationPlanningServices@MyFWC.com.

Pursuant to comments received from FFWCC dated August 9, 2018 as part of the review of related
Permit No. 22-101893-P, nesting and denning surveys shall be conducted for sandhill cranes, wading
birds, American kestrel, southern fox squirrel and Audubon's crested caracara as described in Exhibit
3.3 and survey protocols described in the aforemention 2018 correspondence. Should any nests or dens
be identified, buffers shall be established as required by FFWCC and the adjacent construction
schedule shall be adjusted to avoid activity within those areas. A survey for these species was
conducted in 2023, which is also attached in Exhibit No. 3.3. It shall be the responsibility of the
Permittee to coordinate with FFWCC regarding any additional comments they may have regarding these
species. 

 
14. The wetlands and upland buffer zones preserved under conservation easement pursuant to Permit No.

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 14 of 20

Page 152



22-101893-P and as shown on Exhbit No. 3.1 may in no way be altered from their natural or permitted
state. Activities prohibited within the conservation areas include, but are not limited to: (a) construction
or placing of buildings, roads, signs, billboards or other advertising, utilities or other structures on or
above the ground; (b) dumping or placing soil or material as landfill or dumping or placing of trash,
waste, or unsightly or offensive materials; (c) removal or destruction of trees, shrubs, or other vegetation
- with the exception of exotic and nuisance vegetation removal; (d) excavation, dredging, or removal of
loam, peat, gravel, soil, rock, or other material substances in such manner as to affect the surface; (e)
surface use except for purposes that permit the land or water area to remain predominantly in its natural
condition; (f) activities detrimental to drainage, flood control, water conservation, erosion control, soil
conservation, or fish and wildlife habitat preservation, including but not limited to ditching, diking or
fencing; (g) acts or uses detrimental to such retention of land or water areas; and (h) acts or uses
detrimental to the preservation of the structural integrity or physical appearance of sites or properties of
historical, architectural, archaeological, or cultural significance.

 
15. The District reserves the right to require remedial measures to be taken by the permittee if monitoring or

other information demonstrates that adverse impacts to onsite or offsite wetlands, upland conservation
areas or buffers, or other surface waters have occurred due to project related activities.

 
16. Silt fencing shall be installed at the limits of construction to protect all of the preserve areas from silt and

sediment deposition during the construction of the project. A floating turbidity barrier shall be installed
during the construction of the final discharge structure into the adjacent canal/water body. The silt
fencing and the turbidity barrier shall be installed in accordance with Exhibit No. 2.0. The sediment
controls shall be installed prior to the commencement of any clearing or construction . The silt fencing
and turbidity barriers shall remain in place and be maintained in good functional condition until all
adjacent construction activities have been completed and all fill slopes have been stabilized. Upon
completion of the project and the stabilization of the fill, the permittee shall contact the District's
Environmental Resource Compliance staff to inspect the site and approve the removal of the silt fencing
and turbidity barriers.

 
17. Livestock exclusionary fencing shall be constructed along the landward edge of the upland buffer

around all wetlands.

 
18. Prior to commencement of construction, a Consumptive Use permit for dewatering shall be obtained or

demonstration that the work qualifies for the permit by rule under Rule 40E-2.061, F.A.C. shall be
provided.

If proceeding with a General Permit by rule for construction dewatering, the Permittee acknowledges
that the dewatering operation is subject to the Permit Conditions in Section 5.0 of the Applicant's
Handbook for Water Use Permit Applications, including responsibility for mitigating any harm that may
occur as a result of the dewatering to existing legal uses, off-site land uses, or natural resources.

 
19. This permit supersedes construction authorization for G. Harvey Estates Phase 1 Permit No.

22-101893-P.

 
 

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 15 of 20

Page 153



Project Work Schedule for Permit No. 22-108575-P

The following activities are requirements of this Permit and shall be completed in accordance with the
Project Work Schedule below. Please refer to General Conditions, Special Conditions and/or Specific
Conditions for more information. Any deviation from these time frames will require prior approval from the
District’s Environmental Resources Bureau and may require a modification to this permit. Such requests
must be made in writing and shall include: (1) reason for the change, (2) proposed start/finish and/or
completion dates, and (3) progress report on the status of the project.
 

Condition No. Date Added
Description
(Application
Number)

Due Date Date
Satisfied

GC 4 10/13/2023 
Construction
Commencement
Notice

Prior to Construction  

GC 6 10/13/2023 Submit Certification 30 Days After Construction Completion  

GC 7 10/13/2023 
Submit Operation
Transfer Request

Within 30 days of Certification  

SC 3 10/13/2023 
Submit Proof of
Ownership

Prior to Construction  

SC 6 10/13/2023 
Pre-Construction
Meeting

Prior to Construction  

SC 9 10/13/2023 
Submit Mitigation
Monitoring Report 1

Within 1 year after Mitigation Construction
Complete Date and then Annually for 5
years

 

SC 9 10/13/2023 
Submit Mitigation
Monitoring Report 2

1 year after previous submission  

SC 9 10/13/2023 
Submit Mitigation
Monitoring Report 3

1 year after previous submission  

SC 9 10/13/2023 
Submit Mitigation
Monitoring Report 4

1 year after previous submission  

SC 9 10/13/2023 
Submit Mitigation
Monitoring Report 5

1 year after previous submission  

SC 18 10/13/2023 
Obtain a Water Use
Permit for
Dewatering

Prior to Construction  

 

GC = General Condition

SC = Special Condition

 

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 16 of 20

Page 154



Distribution List

Michelle Krizen, Lakefront Estates Community Development District

Steven Dobbs, Newlines/SLD Engineering

Audubon of Florida  

Div of Recreation and Park - District 5  

US Army Corps of Engineers - Permit Section  

Glades County Engineer  

 

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 17 of 20

Page 155



Exhibits

The following exhibits to this permit are incorporated by reference. The exhibits can be viewed by clicking
on the links below or by visiting the District's ePermitting website at http://my.sfwmd.gov/ePermitting and
searching under this application number 230227-37743.
 

Exhibit No. 1.0 Location Map

Exhibit No. 2.0 SWM Plans

Exhibit No. 2.1 SWM Report

Exhibit No. 2.2 Nutrient Analysis

Exhibit No. 3.0 Monitoring and Maintenance Plan, Completed 2020 Baseline Report

Exhibit No. 3.1 Recorded Conservation Easement

Exhibit No. 3.2 Wetland Hydrology Model

Exhibit No. 3.3 2018 FWC Comments and 2023 Species Survey

Exhibit No. 3.4 Perpetual Maintenance Agreement Lakefront Estates CDD

Exhibit No. 4.0_CDD_Resolution

Exhibit No. 4.1_CDD_Accept

Exhibit No. 4.2_Plat

Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 18 of 20

Page 156



NOTICE OF RIGHTS

As required by Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, the following provides notice of the opportunities which may
be available for administrative hearing pursuant to Sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, or judicial
review pursuant to Section 120.68, Florida Statutes, when the substantial interests of a party are determined
by an agency. Please note that this Notice of Rights is not intended to provide legal advice. Some of the
legal proceedings detailed below may not be applicable or appropriate for your situation. You may wish to
consult an attorney regarding your legal rights.

RIGHT TO REQUEST ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING
A person whose substantial interests are or may be affected by the South Florida Water Management
District’s (District) action has the right to request an administrative hearing on that action pursuant to
Sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes. Persons seeking a hearing on a District decision which
affects or may affect their substantial interests shall file a petition for hearing in accordance with the filing
instructions set forth herein within 21 days of receipt of written notice of the decision unless one of the
following shorter time periods apply: (1) within 14 days of the notice of consolidated intent to grant or deny
concurrently reviewed applications for environmental resource permits and use of sovereign submerged
lands pursuant to Section 373.427, Florida Statutes; or (2) within 14 days of service of an Administrative
Order pursuant to Section 373.119(1), Florida Statutes. "Receipt of written notice of agency decision"
means receipt of written notice through mail, electronic mail, posting, or publication that the District has
taken or intends to take final agency action. Any person who receives written notice of a District decision
and fails to file a written request for hearing within the timeframe described above waives the right to
request a hearing on that decision.

If the District takes final agency action that materially differs from the noticed intended agency decision,
persons who may be substantially affected shall, unless otherwise provided by law, have an additional point
of entry pursuant to Rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code.  

Any person to whom an emergency order is directed pursuant to Section 373.119(2), Florida Statutes, shall
comply therewith immediately, but on petition to the board shall be afforded a hearing as soon as possible.

A person may file a request for an extension of time for filing a petition. The District may grant the request
for good cause. Requests for extension of time must be filed with the District prior to the deadline for filing a
petition for hearing. Such requests for extension shall contain a certificate that the moving party has
consulted with all other parties concerning the extension and whether the District and any other parties
agree to or oppose the extension. A timely request for an extension of time shall toll the running of the time
period for filing a petition until the request is acted upon.

FILING INSTRUCTIONS
A petition for administrative hearing must be filed with the Office of the District Clerk. Filings with the Office
of the District Clerk may be made by mail, hand-delivery, or e-mail. Filings by facsimile will not be
accepted. A petition for administrative hearing or other document is deemed filed upon receipt during
normal business hours by the Office of the District Clerk at the District’s headquarters in West Palm Beach,
Florida. The District’s normal business hours are 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., excluding weekends and District
holidays. Any document received by the Office of the District Clerk after 5:00 p.m. shall be deemed filed as
of 8:00 a.m. on the next regular business day.

Additional filing instructions are as follows: 

Filings by mail must be addressed to the Office of the District Clerk, 3301 Gun Club Road, West Palm
Beach, Florida 33406.

Rev. 1/16/20 1 Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 19 of 20

Page 157



Filings by hand-delivery must be delivered to the Office of the District Clerk. Delivery of a petition to the
District's security desk does not constitute filing. It will be necessary to request that the District's
security officer contact the Office of the District Clerk. An employee of the District's Clerk's office will
receive and process the petition.
Filings by e-mail must be transmitted to the Office of the District Clerk at clerk@sfwmd.gov. The filing
date for a document transmitted by electronic mail shall be the date the Office of the District Clerk
receives the complete document.

INITIATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING
Pursuant to Sections 120.54(5)(b)4. and 120.569(2)(c), Florida Statutes, and Rules 28-106.201 and
28-106.301, Florida Administrative Code, initiation of an administrative hearing shall be made by written
petition to the District in legible form and on 8 1/2 by 11 inch white paper.  All petitions shall contain: 

Identification of the action being contested, including the permit number, application number, District file
number or any other District identification number, if known.

1.

The name, address, any email address, any facsimile number, and telephone number of the petitioner,
petitioner’s attorney or qualified representative, if any.

2.

An explanation of how the petitioner’s substantial interests will be affected by the agency determination.3.
A statement of when and how the petitioner received notice of the District’s decision.4.
A statement of all disputed issues of material fact.  If there are none, the petition must so indicate.5.
A concise statement of the ultimate facts alleged, including the specific facts the petitioner contends
warrant reversal or modification of the District’s proposed action.

6.

A statement of the specific rules or statutes the petitioner contends require reversal or modification of
the District’s proposed action.

7.

If disputed issues of material fact exist, the statement must also include an explanation of how the
alleged facts relate to the specific rules or statutes.

8.

A statement of the relief sought by the petitioner, stating precisely the action the petitioner wishes the
District to take with respect to the District’s proposed action.

9.

MEDIATION
The procedures for pursuing mediation are set forth in Section 120.573, Florida Statutes, and Rules
28-106.111 and 28-106.401–.405, Florida Administrative Code. The District is not proposing mediation for
this agency action under Section 120.573, Florida Statutes, at this time.

RIGHT TO SEEK JUDICIAL REVIEW
Pursuant to Section 120.68, Florida Statutes, and in accordance with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure
9.110, a party who is adversely affected by final District action may seek judicial review of the District's final
decision by filing a notice of appeal with the Office of the District Clerk in accordance with the filing
instructions set forth herein within 30 days of rendition of the order to be reviewed, and by filing a copy of
the notice with the appropriate district court of appeals via the Florida Courts E-Filing Portal.

Rev. 1/16/20 2 Permit No: 22-108575-P, Page 20 of 20

Page 158



Page 13
Page 159



Page 14
Page 160



Page 15
Page 161



Page 16
Page 162



Page 17
Page 163



“small” County

Page 18
Page 164



Page 19
Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

LAKEFRONT DEVELOPMENT AT

GLADES COUNTY Project No. FL23028
PHASE 1 By: DCS

Date: 45,238

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE SUBTOTAL REMARKS

General
1 Mobilization (3%) 1 LS 2,200,000 2,200,000
2 Clearing Site 199 AC 5,000 996,850
3 Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 199 AC 1,000 199,370

$3,396,220
Water Distribution Facilities

4 8" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 9,682 LF 50 484,100
5 10" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 418 LF 75 31,350
6 12" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 1,558 LF 100 155,800
7 8"x8"x8" DI Tee 21 EA 830 17,430
8 10"x10"x8" DI Tee 3 EA 1,280 3,840
9 12"x12"x8" DI Tee 5 EA 1,388 6,940

10 12"x12"x10" DI Tee 1 EA 1,746 1,746
11 12"x12"x12" DI Tee 0 EA 1,828 0
12 8" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 12 EA 404 4,848
13 8" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 24 EA 444 10,656
14 8" 45 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 17 EA 452 7,684
15 10" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 2 EA 660 1,320
16 10" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 2 EA 632 1,264
17 12" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 910 0
18 12" 22.50 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 960 0
19 12"x10" DI Reducer 1 EA 860 860
20 10"x8" DI Reducer 1 EA 524 524
21 12"x8" DI Reducer 0 EA 804 0
22 8" DI Cap 1 EA 402 402
23 8" MJ Gate Valve 50 EA 4,100 205,000
24 Residential Service Connection 1.5" Copper Type K 293 EA 5,000 1,465,000
25 Commercial Service Connection 2" Copper Type K 4 EA 7,500 30,000
26 Commercial Fire Suppression Water Service, 4" CL 52 DIP 4 EA 10,000 40,000
27 Hydrant Assembly 17 UN 10,000 170,000
28 Blow-off Assembly 8 UN 4,500 36,000
29 Air-release Assembly 4 UN 7,500 30,000
30 Wet Tap 293 LS 12,000 3,516,000
31 8" CL 52 DIP 0 LF 100 0
32 10" CL DIP 0 UN 120 0
33 10" MJ Gate Valve 5 UN 6,200 31,000
34 12" MJ Gate Valve 10 UN 9,400 94,000
35 Well House 2 LS 175,000 350,000
36 Storage Tank 1 LS 750,000 750,000

$7,445,764
Sanitary Sewerage Facilities

37 Residential Service Connection 4" PVC 4,420 LF 25 110,500
38 Commercial Service Connection, 6" PVC 425 LF 30 12,750
39 Residential Cleanout 244 EA 500 122,000
40 Commercial Cleanout 7 EA 750 5,250
41 Gravity Sewers, 8" PVC 13,641 LF 45 613,845
42 Gravity Sewer 10" PVC 1,042 LF 60 62,520
43 Sanitary Lift Station 0 LS 150,000 0
44 Forcemain, 4" PVC 1,827 LF 40 73,080

ENGINEER'S PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST

Page 186



45 Forcemain, 6" PVC 2,409 LF 50 120,450
46 Forcemain, 8" PVC 1,326 LF 60 79,560
47 Forcemain, 10" PVC 2,675 LF 80 214,000
48 Sanitary Manhole 4-Ft Dia. 47 EA 4,000 188,000
49 Sanitary Manhole 5-Ft Dia. 26 EA 6,000 156,000
50 Sanitary Discharge MH 4-Ft Dia. 2 EA 7,500 15,000
51 5-Ft Dia. By-pass Connection MH 0 LS 2,500 0
52 Sanitary Pumping Station 2 LS 150,000 300,000
53 Wastewater Treatment Plant Phase 1 1 LS 2,500,000 2,500,000

$4,572,955
Stormwater Management Facilities

54 12" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,772 LF 35 62,020
55 15" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,364 LF 45 61,380
56 18" ADS HP Storm Pipe 5,807 LF 55 319,385
57 24" ADS HP Storm Pipe 111 LF 75 8,325
58 36" ADS HP Storm Pipe 316 LF 105 33,180
59 Inlet Type B 0 UN 3,000 0
60 Inlet Type E 76 UN 3,500 266,000
61 4-Ft Storm MH 0 UN 5,000 0
62 5-Ft Storm MH 9 UN 8,000 72,000
63 ADS Nylaplast Drain Basin 24 EA 1,200 28,800

$851,090
Roadway Construction

64 Pavement Area Heavy (Trucks) 72,134 SY 85 6,131,390
65 Concrete Curb, 6" Face 42,892 LF 30 1,286,760
66 Concretre Sidewalks, 4" Thick 11,741 SY 75 880,575

$8,298,725
Communication

67 Fiber Obtic 0 LF 200 0
68 Comm MH 0 EA 5,000 0

$0
Electric - Site Lighting

69 Underground Elect Condut Diuct Bank with Wires 0 LF 200 0
70 Transformers 0 EA 20,000 0
71 Street Light Light Poles 134 EA 10,000 1,340,000
72 Bollard Lights 140 EA 1,500 210,000
73 Lamps units 141 EA 500 70,500

$1,620,500

TOTAL COST PHASE 1  = 26,185,254 26,185,254

Note: Prices do not include a contingency.

Page 187



LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

LAKEFRONT DEVELOPMENT AT

GLADES COUNTY Project No. FL23028
PHASE 2 By: DCS

Date: 8-Nov-2023

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE SUBTOTAL REMARKS

General
1 Mobilization (3 %) 1.00 LS 500,000 500,000
2 Clearing Site 113.31 AC 5,000 566,550
3 Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 113.31 AC 1,000 113,310

$1,179,860
Water Distribution Facilities

4 8" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 15,342 LF 50 767,100
5 10" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 1,413 LF 75 105,975
6 12" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 0 LF 100 0
7 8"x8"x8" DI Tee 25 EA 830 20,750
8 10"x10"x8" DI Tee 4 EA 1,280 5,120
9 12"x12"x8" DI Tee 0 EA 1,388 0

10 12"x12"x10" DI Tee 0 EA 1,746 0
11 12"x12"x12" DI Tee 0 EA 1,828 0
12 8" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 9 EA 404 3,636
13 8" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 5 EA 444 2,220
14 8" 45 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 14 EA 452 6,328
15 10" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 660 0
16 10" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 632 0
17 12" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 910 0
18 12" 22.50 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 960 0
19 12"x10" DI Reducer 0 EA 860 0
20 10"x8" DI Reducer 0 EA 524 0
21 12"x8" DI Reducer 0 EA 804 0
22 8" DI Cap 0 EA 402 0
23 8" MJ Gate Valve 55 EA 4,100 225,500
24 Residential Service Connection 1.5" Copper Type K 278 EA 5,000 1,390,000
25 Commercial Service Connection 2" Copper Type K 3 EA 7,500 22,500
26 Commercial Fire Suppression Water Service, 4" CL 52 DIP 0 EA 10,000 0
27 Hydrant Assembly 12 UN 10,000 120,000
28 Blow-off Assembly 8 UN 4,500 36,000
29 Air-release Assembly 4 UN 7,500 30,000
30 Wet Tap 278 LS 12,000 3,336,000
31 8" CL 52 DIP 0 LF 100 0
32 10" CL DIP 0 UN 120 0
33 10" MJ Gate Valve 2 UN 6,200 12,400
34 12" MJ Gate Valve 2 UN 9,400 18,800
35 Well House 0 LS 175,000 0
36 Storage Tank 0 LS 750,000 0

$6,102,329
Sanitary Sewerage Facilities

37 Residential Service Connection 4" PVC 4,420 LF 25 110,500
38 Commercial Service Connection, 6" PVC 200 LF 30 6,000
39 Residential Cleanout 264 EA 500 132,000
40 Commercial Cleanout 9 EA 750 6,750
41 Gravity Sewers, 8" PVC 7,066 LF 45 317,970
42 Gravity Sewer 10" PVC 0 LF 60 0
43 Sanitary Lift Station 0 LS 150,000 0
44 Forcemain, 4" PVC 525 LF 40 21,000

ENGINEER'S PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST

Page 188



45 Forcemain, 6" PVC 2,320 LF 50 116,000
46 Forcemain, 8" PVC 597 LF 60 35,820
47 Forcemain, 10" PVC 0 LF 80 0
48 Sanitary Manhole 4-Ft Dia. 47 EA 4,000 188,000
49 Sanitary Manhole 5-Ft Dia. 21 EA 6,000 126,000
50 Sanitary Discharge MH 4-Ft Dia. 3 EA 7,500 22,500
51 5-Ft Dia. By-pass Connection MH 0 LS 150,000 0
52 Sanitary Pumping Station 3 LS 150,000 450,000
53 Wastewater Treatment Plant Phase 2 1 LS 1,000,000 1,000,000

$2,532,540
Stormwater Management Facilities

54 12" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,110 LF 35 38,850
55 15" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,135 LF 45 51,075
56 18" ADS HP Storm Pipe 3,497 LF 55 192,335
57 24" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,001 LF 75 75,075
58 36" ADS HP Storm Pipe 882 LF 105 92,610
59 Inlet Type B 0 UN 3,000 0
60 Inlet Type E 79 UN 3,500 276,500
61 4-Ft Storm MH 0 UN 5,000 0
62 5-Ft Storm MH 7 UN 8,000 56,000
63 ADS Nylaplast Drain Basin 1 EA 1,200 1,200

$783,645
Roadway Construction

64 Pavement Area Heavy (Trucks) 60,530 SY 85 5,145,050
65 Concrete Curb, 6" Face 36,874 LF 30 1,106,220
66 Concretre Sidewalks, 4" Thick 9,333 SY 75 699,975

$6,951,245
Communication

67 Fiber Obtic LF 200 0
68 Comm MH EA 5,000 0

$0
Electric - Site Lighting

69 Underground Elect Condut Diuct Bank with Wires 0 LF 200 0
70 Transformers 0 EA 20,000 0
71 Street Light Light Poles 0 EA 10,000 0
72 Bollard Lights 0 EA 1,500 0
73 Lamps units 0 EA 500 0

$0

TOTAL COST PHASE 2  = $17,549,619 $17,549,619

Note: Prices do not include a contingency.

Page 189



LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

LAKEFRONT DEVELOPMENT AT
GLADES COUNTY Project No. FL23028
PHASE 3 By: DCS

Date: 45238.00

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE SUBTOTAL REMARKS

General
1 Mobilization (3 %) 1.00 LS 390,000 390000.00
2 Clearing Site 106.47 AC 5,000 532350.00
3 Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 106.47 AC 1,000 106470.00

$1,028,820
Water Distribution Facilities

4 8" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 9,432 LF 50 471600.00
5 10" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 3 LF 75 261.00
6 12" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 2,162 LF 100 216200.00
7 8"x8"x8" DI Tee 3 EA 830 2490.00
8 10"x10"x8" DI Tee 1 EA 1,280 1280.00
9 12"x12"x8" DI Tee 1 EA 1,388 1388.00

10 12"x12"x10" DI Tee 0 EA 1,746 0.00
11 12"x12"x12" DI Tee 1 EA 1,828 1828.00
12 8" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 5 EA 404 2020.00
13 8" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 6 EA 444 2664.00
14 8" 45 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 45 EA 452 20340.00
15 10" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 660 0.00
16 10" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 632 0.00
17 12" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 1 EA 910 910.00
18 12" 22.50 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 1 EA 960 960.00
19 12"x10" DI Reducer 1 EA 860 860.00
20 10"x8" DI Reducer EA 524 0.00
21 12"x8" DI Reducer 2 EA 804 1608.00
22 8" DI Cap 2 EA 402 804.00
23 8" MJ Gate Valve 23 EA 4,100 94300.00
24 Residential Service Connection 1.5" Copper Type K 240 EA 5,000 1200000.00
25 Commercial Service Connection 2" Copper Type K 1 EA 7,500 7500.00
26 Commercial Fire Suppression Water Service, 4" CL 52 DIP 0 EA 10,000 0.00
27 Hydrant Assembly 12 UN 10,000 120000.00
28 Blow-off Assembly 8 UN 4,500 36000.00
29 Air-release Assembly 4 UN 7,500 30000.00
30 Wet Tap 240 LS 12,000 2880000.00
31 8" CL 52 DIP 0 LF 100 0.00
32 10" CL DIP 0 UN 120 0.00
33 10" MJ Gate Valve 0 UN 6,200 0.00
34 12" MJ Gate Valve 4 UN 9,400 37600.00
35 Well House 0 LS 175,000 0.00
36 Storage Tank 0 LS 750,000 0.00

$5,130,613
Sanitary Sewerage Facilities

37 Residential Service Connection 4" PVC 4,440 LF 25 111000.00
38 Commercial Service Connection, 6" PVC 40 LF 30 1200.00
39 Residential Cleanout 252 EA 500 126000.00
40 Commercial Cleanout 2 EA 750 1500.00
41 Gravity Sewers, 8" PVC 12,250 LF 45 551250.00
42 Gravity Sewer 10" PVC 134 LF 60 8040.00
43 Sanitary Lift Station 0 LS 150,000 0.00
44 Forcemain, 4" PVC 1,170 LF 40 46800.00
45 Forcemain, 6" PVC 0 LF 50 0.00
46 Forcemain, 8" PVC 0 LF 60 0.00
47 Forcemain, 10" PVC 0 LF 80 0.00
48 Sanitary Manhole 4-Ft Dia. 31 EA 4,000 124000.00
49 Sanitary Manhole 5-Ft Dia. 13 EA 6,000 78000.00

ENGINEER'S PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST

Page 190



50 Sanitary Discharge MH 4-Ft Dia. 1 EA 7,500 7500.00
51 5-Ft Dia. By-pass Connection MH 0 LS 2,500 0.00
52 Sanitary Pumping Station 1 LS 150,000 150000.00
53 Wastewater Treatment Plant Phase 3 1 LS 1,000,000 1000000.00

$2,205,290
Stormwater Management Facilities

54 12" ADS HP Storm Pipe 0 LF 35 0.00
55 15" ADS HP Storm Pipe 0 LF 45 0.00
56 18" ADS HP Storm Pipe 2,443 LF 55 134365.00
57 24" ADS HP Storm Pipe 0 LF 75 0.00
58 36" ADS HP Storm Pipe 331 LF 105 34755.00
59 Inlet Type B 0 UN 3,000 0.00
60 Inlet Type E 23 UN 3,500 80500.00
61 4-Ft Storm MH 0 UN 5,000 0.00
62 5-Ft Storm MH 4 UN 8,000 32000.00
63 ADS Nylaplast Drain Basin 0 EA 1,200 0.00

$281,620
Roadway Construction

64 Pavement Area Heavy (Trucks) 43,049 SY 85 3659165.00
65 Concrete Curb, 6" Face 27,106 LF 30 813180.00
66 Concretre Sidewalks, 4" Thick 7,461 SY 75 559575.00

$5,031,920
Communication

67 Fiber Obtic 0 LF 200 0.00
68 Comm MH 0 EA 5,000 0.00

Electric - Site Lighting
69 Underground Elect Condut Diuct Bank with Wires 0 LF 200 0.00
70 Transformers 0 EA 20,000 0.00
71 Street Light Light Poles 0 EA 10,000 0.00
72 Bollard Lights 0 EA 1,500 0.00
73 Lamps units 0 EA 500 0.00

$0

TOTAL COST PHASE 3 = 13678263.00 $13,678,263
Note: Prices do not include a contingency.

Page 191



LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

LAKEFRONT DEVELOPMENT AT

GLADES COUNTY Project No. FL23028
PHASE 4 By: DCS

Date: 8-Nov-2023

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE SUBTOTAL REMARKS

General
1 Mobilization (5 %) 1.00 LS 615,000 615,000
2 Clearing Site 106.22 AC 5,000 531,100
3 Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 106.22 AC 1,000 106,220

$1,252,320
Water Distribution Facilities

4 8" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 12,315 LF 50 615,750
5 10" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 0 LF 75 0
6 12" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 0 LF 100 0
7 8"x8"x8" DI Tee 5 EA 830 4,150
8 10"x10"x8" DI Tee 0 EA 1,280 0
9 12"x12"x8" DI Tee 0 EA 1,388 0

10 12"x12"x10" DI Tee 0 EA 1,746 0
11 12"x12"x12" DI Tee 0 EA 1,828 0
12 8" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 7 EA 404 2,828
13 8" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 6 EA 444 2,664
14 8" 45 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 13 EA 452 5,876
15 10" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 660 0
16 10" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 632 0
17 12" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 910 0
18 12" 22.50 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 0 EA 960 0
19 12"x10" DI Reducer 0 EA 860 0
20 10"x8" DI Reducer 0 EA 524 0
21 12"x8" DI Reducer 0 EA 804 0
22 8" DI Cap 0 EA 402 0
23 8" MJ Gate Valve 23 EA 4,100 94,300
24 Residential Service Connection 1.5" Copper Type K 290 EA 5,000 1,450,000
25 Commercial Service Connection 2" Copper Type K 1 EA 7,500 7,500
26 Commercial Fire Suppression Water Service, 4" CL 52 DIP 0 EA 10,000 0
27 Hydrant Assembly 20 UN 10,000 200,000
28 Blow-off Assembly 8 UN 4,500 36,000
29 Air-release Assembly 4 UN 7,500 30,000
30 Wet Tap 290 LS 12,000 3,480,000
31 8" CL 52 DIP 0 LF 100 0
32 10" CL DIP 0 UN 120 0
33 10" MJ Gate Valve 0 UN 6,200 0
34 12" MJ Gate Valve 0 UN 9,400 0
35 Well House 0 LS 175,000 0
36 Storage Tank 0 LS 750,000 0

$5,929,068
Sanitary Sewerage Facilities

37 Residential Service Connection 4" PVC 4,850 LF 25 121,250
38 Commercial Service Connection, 6" PVC 120 LF 30 3,600
39 Residential Cleanout 263 EA 500 131,500
40 Commercial Cleanout 3 EA 750 2,250
41 Gravity Sewers, 8" PVC 14,534 LF 45 654,030
42 Gravity Sewer 10" PVC 164 LF 60 9,840
43 Sanitary Lift Station 0 LS 150,000 0
44 Forcemain, 4" PVC 2,576 LF 40 103,040

ENGINEER'S PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST

Page 192



45 Forcemain, 6" PVC 0 LF 50 0
46 Forcemain, 8" PVC 0 LF 60 0
47 Forcemain, 10" PVC 0 LF 80 0
48 Sanitary Manhole 4-Ft Dia. 42 EA 4,000 168,000
49 Sanitary Manhole 5-Ft Dia. 9 EA 6,000 54,000
50 Sanitary Discharge MH 4-Ft Dia. 1 EA 7,500 7,500
51 5-Ft Dia. By-pass Connection MH 0 LS 2,500 0
52 Sanitary Pumping Station 1 LS 150,000 150,000
53 Wastewater Treatment Plant Phase 4 1 LS 1,500,000 1,500,000

$2,905,010
Stormwater Management Facilities

54 12" ADS HP Storm Pipe 368 LF 35 12,880
55 15" ADS HP Storm Pipe 314 LF 45 14,130
56 18" ADS HP Storm Pipe 2,813 LF 55 154,715
57 24" ADS HP Storm Pipe 225 LF 75 16,875
58 36" ADS HP Storm Pipe 0 LF 105 0
59 Inlet Type B 0 UN 3,000 0
60 Inlet Type E 31 UN 3,500 108,500
61 4-Ft Storm MH 0 UN 5,000 0
62 5-Ft Storm MH 7 UN 8,000 56,000
63 ADS Nylaplast Drain Basin 0 EA 1,200 0

$363,100
Roadway Construction

64 Pavement Area Heavy (Trucks) 41,569 SY 85 3,533,365
65 Concrete Curb, 6" Face 26,243 LF 30 787,290
66 Concretre Sidewalks, 4" Thick 76,366 SY 75 5,727,450

$10,048,105
Communication

67 Fiber Obtic 0 LF 200 0
68 Comm MH 0 EA 5,000 0

$0
Electric - Site Lighting

69 Underground Elect Condut Diuct Bank with Wires 0 LF 200 0
70 Transformers 0 EA 20,000 0
71 Street Light Light Poles 0 EA 10,000 0
72 Bollard Lights 0 EA 1,500 0
73 Lamps units 0 EA 500 0

$0

TOTAL COST PHASE 4 = 20,497,603.00 $20,497,603

Note: Prices do not include a contingency.

Page 193



LAKEFRONT ESTATES
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

DISTRICT

ENGI

LAKEFRONT DEVELOPMENT AT
GLADES COUNTY Project No. FL23028

TORAL ALL PHASES By: DCS
Date: 45,238

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE SUBTOTAL REMARKS

General
1 Mobilization (5 %) 1.00 LS 3,705,000.00 3,705,000
2 Clearing Site 525.37 AC 5,000.00 2,626,850
3 Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 525.37 AC 1,000.00 525,370

$6,857,220
Water Distribution Facilities

4 8" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 46,771 LF 50 2,338,550
5 10" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 1,834 LF 75 137,586
6 12" Dia. C-900 PVC Water Main 3,720 LF 100 372,000
7 8"x8"x8" DI Tee 54 EA 830 44,820
8 10"x10"x8" DI Tee 8 EA 1,280 10,240
9 12"x12"x8" DI Tee 6 EA 1,388 8,328

10 12"x12"x10" DI Tee 1 EA 1,746 1,746
11 12"x12"x12" DI Tee 1 EA 1,828 1,828
12 8" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 33 EA 404 13,332
13 8" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 41 EA 444 18,204
14 8" 45 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 89 EA 452 40,228
15 10" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 2 EA 660 1,320
16 10" 22.5 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 2 EA 632 1,264
17 12" 11.25 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 1 EA 910 910
18 12" 22.50 Degree CL 52 DI Bend Fitting 1 EA 960 960
19 12"x10" DI Reducer 2 EA 860 1,720
20 10"x8" DI Reducer 1 EA 524 524
21 12"x8" DI Reducer 2 EA 804 1,608
22 8" DI Cap 3 EA 402 1,206
23 8" MJ Gate Valve 151 EA 4,100 619,100
24 Residential Service Connection 1.5" Copper Type K 1,101 EA 5,000 5,505,000
25 Commercial Service Connection 2" Copper Type K 9 EA 7,500 67,500
26 Commercial Fire Suppression Water Service, 4" CL 52 DIP 4 EA 10,000 40,000
27 Hydrant Assembly 61 UN 10,000 610,000
28 Blow-off Assembly 32 UN 4,500 144,000
29 Air-release Assembly 16 UN 7,500 120,000
30 Wet Tap 1,101 LS 12,000 13,212,000
31 8" CL 52 DIP 0 LF 100 0
32 10" CL DIP 0 UN 120 0
33 10" MJ Gate Valve 7 UN 6,200 43,400
34 12" MJ Gate Valve 16 UN 9,400 150,400
35 Well House 2 LS 175,000 350,000
36 Storage Tank 1 LS 750,000 750,000

$24,607,774
Sanitary Sewerage Facilities

37 Residential Service Connection 4" PVC 18,130 LF 25 453,250
38 Commercial Service Connection, 6" PVC 785 LF 30 23,550
39 Residential Cleanout 1,023 EA 500 511,500
40 Commercial Cleanout 21 EA 750 15,750
41 Gravity Sewers, 8" PVC 47,491 LF 45 2,137,095
42 Gravity Sewer 10" PVC 1,340 LF 60 80,400
43 Sanitary Lift Station 0 LS 150,000 0
44 Forcemain, 4" PVC 6,098 LF 40 243,920
45 Forcemain, 6" PVC 4,729 LF 50 236,450
46 Forcemain, 8" PVC 1,923 LF 60 115,380
47 Forcemain, 10" PVC 2,675 LF 80 214,000
48 Sanitary Manhole 4-Ft Dia. 167 EA 4,000 668,000
49 Sanitary Manhole 5-Ft Dia. 69 EA 6,000 414,000

Page 194



50 Sanitary Discharge MH 4-Ft Dia. 7 EA 7,500 52,500
51 5-Ft Dia. By-pass Connection MH 0 LS 2,500 0
52 Sannitary Pumping Station 7 LS 150,000 1,050,000
53 Wastewater Treatment Plant 1 LS 6,000,000 6,000,000

$12,215,795
Stormwater Management Facilities

54 12" ADS HP Storm Pipe 3,250 LF 35 113,750
55 15" ADS HP Storm Pipe 2,813 LF 45 126,585
56 18" ADS HP Storm Pipe 14,560 LF 55 800,800
57 24" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,337 LF 75 100,275
58 36" ADS HP Storm Pipe 1,529 LF 105 160,545
59 Inlet Type B 0 UN 3,000 0
60 Inlet Type E 209 UN 3,500 731,500
61 4-Ft Storm MH 0 UN 5,000 0
62 5-Ft Storm MH 27 UN 8,000 216,000
63 ADS Nylaplast Drain Basin 25 EA 1,200 30,000

$2,279,455
Roadway Construction

64 Pavement Area Heavy (Trucks) 217,282 SY 85 18,468,970
65 Concrete Curb, 6" Face 133,115 LF 30 3,993,450
66 Concretre Sidewalks, 4" Thick 104,901 SY 75 7,867,575

$30,329,995

Communication (NIC)
67 Fiber Obtic 0 LF 200 0
68 Comm MH 0 EA 5,000 0

$0
Electric - Site Lighting

69 Underground Elect Condut Diuct Bank with Wires 0 LF 200 0
70 Transformers 0 EA 20,000 0
71 Street Light Light Poles 134 EA 10,000 1,340,000
72 Bollard Lights 140 EA 1,500 210,000
73 Lamps units 141 EA 500 70,500

$1,620,500

TOTAL COST ALL PHASES = $77,910,739 $77,910,739
Note: Prices include no contingency.

Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



equivalent residential unit 

Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



FI
G

U
R

E 
1

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

 M
A

P

LA
K

EF
R

O
N

T 
ES

TA
TE

S

11"x17" Sheet size

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
'S

 R
E

P
O

R
T

LA
K

E
F

R
O

N
T

 E
S

T
A

T
E

S
 A

T
 G

LA
D

E
S

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 D
IS

T
R

IC
T

N
LE

 F
L2

30
28

O
ct

ob
er

, 2
02

3

 S
T

E
V

E
N

 L
. D

O
B

B
S

, P
.E

.

Z:\2023 Florida\FL23028-Lakefront CDD\CAD\21534 EXHIBITS.dwg, 27/10/2023 3:46:08 p. m.

E
X

H
I

B
I

T
A

Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-30 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED 
$132,000,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, IN ONE OR 
MORE SERIES TO PAY ALL OR A PORTION OF THE COSTS 
OF THE PLANNING, FINANCING, CONSTRUCTION AND/OR 
ACQUISITION OF PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
ENTRY FEATURES AND SIGNAGE, ONSITE AND OFFSITE 
ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS, STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES, WATER AND SEWER 
FACILITIES, STREETLIGHTING, PARKS AND RECREATION 
FACILITIES, AND ASSOCIATED PROFESSIONAL FEES AND 
INCIDENTAL COSTS RELATED THERETO PURSUANT TO 
CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA STATUTES, AS AMENDED; 
APPOINTING A TRUSTEE; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE; PROVIDING THAT SUCH 
BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, LIABILITY OR 
OBLIGATION OF  LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OR THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR OF ANY POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF, BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE FROM 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS ASSESSED AND LEVIED ON THE 
PROPERTY WITHIN THE DISTRICT BENEFITED BY THE 
IMPROVEMENTS AND SUBJECT TO ASSESSMENT; 
PROVIDING FOR THE JUDICIAL VALIDATION OF SUCH 
BONDS; AND PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED 
MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Lakefront Estates Community Development District (the “District”) is a 
local unit of special purpose government duly organized and existing under the provisions of the 
Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as 
amended (the “Act”) and created by Ordinance No. 2023-7 enacted by the Board of County 
Commissioners of Glades County, Florida, which became effective on April 11, 2023;  

WHEREAS, the District was created for the purpose of delivering certain community 
development services and facilities within and outside its jurisdiction, and the District has 
decided to undertake the planning, financing, construction and/or acquisition of public 
infrastructure improvements including, but not limited to, entry features and signage, onsite and 
offsite roadway improvements, stormwater management facilities, water and sewer facilities, 
streetlighting, parks and recreational facilities, and associated professional fees and incidental 

Page 210



 

 
 

2

costs related thereto pursuant to the Act (the “Project”), as set forth in Schedule I attached 
hereto; 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the issuance, in one or more series, of not to 
exceed $132,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District Special Assessment Bonds (collectively, the “Bonds”), in order to pay all 
or a portion of the costs of the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, equipping and 
installation of the Project; 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide the terms and conditions under which the 
District will acquire and cause to be constructed the improvements serving District lands; 

WHEREAS, authority is conferred upon the District by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida, specifically the Act, to issue the Bonds; 

WHEREAS, the District desires to appoint a trustee for the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize and approve various instruments to be 
executed and delivered in connection with the Bonds and to provide for the judicial validation of 
the Bonds pursuant to Section 190.016(12), Florida Statutes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District, as follows: 

Section 1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein without definitions shall have 
the meanings assigned thereto in the Indenture described and defined in Section 5 hereof, the 
form of which is set out as Exhibit A attached hereto, unless the context clearly requires 
otherwise. 

Section 2. Authorization of Bonds.  The District hereby authorizes the issuance of 
not to exceed $132,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Bonds (excluding any refunding 
Bonds issued as provided in the Indenture) in one or more series to pay all or a portion of the 
costs of the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, equipping and 
installation of the Project.  Pursuant to Section 190.016(1), Florida Statutes, the Bonds may be 
issued and delivered by the District in payment of all or a portion of the purchase price of the 
Project or may be sold at public or private sale. 

Section 3. Certain Details of the Bonds.  The Bonds, and the interest thereon, shall 
not be deemed to constitute a debt, liability or obligation of the District, Glades County, Florida 
(the “County), or the State of Florida (the “State”), or of any political subdivision thereof, but 
shall be payable solely from the Pledged Revenues designated for the Bonds, including Special 
Assessments levied by the District on property within the District benefited by the Project and 
subject to assessment, as set forth in the Indenture, and neither the faith and credit nor any taxing 
power of the District, the County or the State, nor of any political subdivision thereof, is pledged 
to the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds, except for Special Assessments to be 
assessed and levied by the District to secure and pay the Bonds. 

Page 211



 

 
 

3

The Bonds shall: 

(i) be issued in one or more series and may be delivered upon 
receipt of the purchase price therefor, for the purpose of financing or 
refinancing the costs of all or a portion of the Project and may be sold at 
public or private sale, as provided in Section 190.016(1), Florida Statutes, 
each series to be in an aggregate principal amount to be determined by 
subsequent resolution or resolutions of the District; provided, however, 
that the total aggregate principal amount of all series of Bonds (excluding 
refunding Bonds, as described in the Indenture) issued may not exceed 
$132,000,000; 

(ii) be issued in fully registered form in such principal denominations 
of $5,000 if the Bonds bear an investment grade rating by a nationally 
recognized rating agency, and otherwise, initially in principal amounts of 
$100,000 and any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, and 
thereafter, in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof; 

(iii) be secured and payable from the Pledged Revenues, as provided in 
the Indenture and any supplement thereto (a “Supplemental Indenture”) 
and the resolution of the District relating to such series of Bonds; 

(iv) bear interest at an average annual rate not exceeding the maximum 
rate as may then be permitted by the laws of the State as more particularly 
provided in a resolution adopted by the District prior to the issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds; 

(v) be payable in not more than the maximum number of annual 
installments allowed by law (currently thirty (30) annual installments of 
principal); and  

(vi) be dated as provided in a resolution adopted by the District prior to 
the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

The final maturity date or dates of the Bonds and the interest rate or rates thereon shall be 
determined, within the foregoing limits, and any optional, mandatory and extraordinary 
redemption provisions thereof shall be fixed, by the Indenture hereinafter referred to, as 
supplemented from time to time, or by one or more resolutions of the District to be adopted prior 
to the delivery of the Bonds.  In other respects, the Bonds shall be in the form, shall be executed 
and authenticated, shall be subject to replacement and shall be delivered as provided in the 
Indenture and a Supplemental Indenture. 

Prior to the issuance and delivery of any series of Bonds (other than refunding Bonds), 
the District shall have undertaken and, to the extent then required under applicable law and the 
Supplemental Indenture for a particular series, completed all necessary proceedings, including, 
without limitation, the approval of assessment rolls, the holding of public hearings, the adoption 
of resolutions and the establishment of all necessary collection proceedings, in order to levy and 
collect Special Assessments upon the lands within the District subject to assessment, all as more 

Page 212



 

 
 

4

specifically required and provided for by the Act and Chapters 170 and 190, Florida Statutes, as 
the same may be amended from time to time, or any successor statutes thereto. 

 Section 4.  Designation of Attesting Members.  The Secretary of the Board of 
Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District, or in the case of the Secretary’s absence or inability to 
act, any Assistant Secretary of the Board (each individually a “Designated Member”), are hereby 
designated and authorized on behalf of the Board to attest to the seal of the Board and to the 
signature of the Chair or Vice Chair of the Board as they appear on the Bonds, the Indenture and 
any other documents which may be necessary or helpful in connection with the issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds and in connection with the application of the proceeds thereof.   
 

Section 5.  Authorization of Execution and Delivery of Master Trust Indenture.  
The District does hereby authorize and approve the execution by the Chair, Vice- Chair or any 
Designated Member and the delivery of a Master Trust Indenture (the “Indenture”) for the 
Bonds, between the District and the trustee appointed pursuant to Section 7 of this Resolution 
(the “Trustee”).  The Indenture shall provide, among other things, for the security of the Bonds 
and express the contract between the District and the owners of such Bonds.  The Indenture shall 
be in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and is hereby approved, with such 
changes therein as shall be approved by the Chair, Vice- Chair or Designated Member executing 
the same, with such execution to constitute conclusive evidence of such officer’s approval and 
the District’s approval of any changes therein from the form of Indenture attached hereto. 

Section 6.  Sale of Bonds.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 190.016(1), Florida 
Statutes, the Bonds may be issued in one or more series and may be delivered upon receipt of the 
purchase price therefor, for the purpose of financing or refinancing the costs of all or a portion of 
the Project and may be sold at public or private sale, after such advertisement, if any, as the 
Board may deem advisable but not in any event at less than ninety percent (90%) of the par value 
thereof, together with accrued interest thereon, unless otherwise permitted by the Act. 

Section 7.  Appointment of Trustee.  The District does hereby appoint U.S. Bank 
Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee under the Indenture.  The Trustee shall also 
serve as the Paying Agent, Registrar and Authenticating Agent under the Indenture. 

 Section 8.  Bond Validation.  District Counsel and Bond Counsel to the District are 
hereby authorized and directed to take appropriate proceedings in the Circuit Court of the 
Twentieth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, in and for Charlotte, Collier, Glades, Hendry 
and Lee Counties, Florida, for validation of the Bonds and the proceedings incident thereto to the 
extent required by and in accordance with Section 190.016(12), Florida Statutes.  The Chair or 
Vice-Chair or any Designated Member is authorized to sign any pleadings and to offer testimony 
in any such proceedings for and on behalf of the District.  The other members of the Board, the 
officers of the District and the agents and employees of the District, including, without 
limitation, the District Manager, the engineer or engineering firm serving as engineer to the 
District, and the District’s financial advisor are hereby also authorized to offer testimony for and 
on behalf of the District in connection with any such validation proceedings. 

Section 9.  Authorization and Ratification of Prior and Subsequent Acts.  The 
members of the Board, the officers of the District, and the agents and employees of the District, 

Page 213



 

 
 

5

are hereby authorized and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents, including, without limitation, the execution and delivery of any closing documents, 
as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of this Resolution and the 
Indenture, and all of the acts and doings of such members of the Board, the officers of the 
District, and the agents and employees of the District, which are in conformity with the intent 
and purposes of this Resolution, whether heretofore or hereafter taken or done, shall be and are 
hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 

Section 10.  Subsequent Resolution(s) Required.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained herein, no series of Bonds may be issued or delivered until the District adopts 
a subsequent resolution and/or supplemental indenture for each such series fixing the details of 
such series of Bonds remaining to be specified or delegating to a Designated Member the 
authority to fix such details. 

Section 11.  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this 
Resolution shall continue in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared 
that the remainder of this Resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or 
ineffectiveness of such section, paragraph, clause or provision. 

Section 12. Open Meetings.  It is hereby found and determined that all acts of the 
Board concerning and relating to adoption of this Resolution were taken in open meetings of the 
Board and all deliberations of the Board that resulted in such official acts were in meetings open 
to the public in compliance with all legal requirements, including, but not limited to, the 
requirements of Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

Section 13. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption, and any provisions of any previous resolutions in conflict with the provisions hereof 
are hereby superseded. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK –  
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

Page 214



 

 

PASSED in Public Session of the Board of Supervisors of Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District this 20th day of December, 2023. 

Attest: 

_____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary 
Board of Supervisors 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  

_____________________________________ 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 

 

Page 215



 

Schedule I-1 
 

SCHEDULE I 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT 
AND SUMMARY OF OPINION OF PROBABLE COSTS 

 
The Project includes the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 

equipping and installation of the following public infrastructure improvements and associated 
professional fees and incidental costs related thereto pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
as amended, including, without limitation, the items listed below, all of which is described in 
more detail in the Engineer’s Report prepared for the Board of Supervisors of Lakefront Estates 
Community Development District (the “Board”), and approved by the Board on December 20, 
2023, prepared by Steven L. Dobbs Engineering, LLC: 

 
 PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3 PHASE 4 TOTAL 

Land Acquisition $5,500,000 $0 $0 $0 
 

$5,500,000 

MITIGATION 
 

$2,000,000 $0 $0 $0 
 

$2,000,000 

EARTHWORK 
 

$6,000,000 
 

$4,000,000 
 

$2,500,000 
 

$2,500,000 
 

$15,000,000 

Entrance Features $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 

General $3,396,220 $1,179,860 $1,028,820 $1,252,320 $6,857,220 

Water Supply 
Facilities 

 
$7,445,764 

 
$6,102,329 

 
$5,130,613 

 
$5,929,068 

 
$24,607,774 

Sewerage Facilities $4,572,955 $2,532,540 $2,205,290 $2,905,010 $12,215,795 

Stormwater 
Facilities 

 
$851,090 

 
$783,645 

 
$281,620 

 
$363,100 

 
$2,279,455 

Roadway Construction  
$8,298,725 

 
$6,951,245 

 
$5,031,920 

 
$10,048,105 

 
$30,329,995 

LIGHTING $1,620,500 $0 $0 $0 $1,620,500 

LANDSCAPING $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $4,000,000 

OPERATION AND MAINT. $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,000,000 
  

$41,685,254 
 

$23,049,619 
 

$17,678,263 
 

$24,497,603 
 

$106,910,739 
 
 

 
 

Page 216



 

A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 

 

 

Page 217



 

 

  

 

MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 

______________________ 

between 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

and 

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  

as Trustee 

______________________________ 

Dated as of [__________] 1, 2024 

______________________________ 

relating to 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS 

  

 

Page 218



 

-i- 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Article I 
DEFINITIONS 

Article II 
THE BONDS 

SECTION 2.01. Amounts and Terms of Bonds; Details of Bonds ......................................14 

SECTION 2.02. Execution ...................................................................................................16 

SECTION 2.03. Authentication; Authenticating Agent .......................................................16 

SECTION 2.04. Registration and Registrar ..........................................................................16 

SECTION 2.05. Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bonds ..............................................16 

SECTION 2.06. Temporary Bonds .......................................................................................17 

SECTION 2.07. Cancellation and Destruction of Surrendered Bonds .................................17 

SECTION 2.08. Registration, Transfer and Exchange .........................................................17 

SECTION 2.09. Persons Deemed Owners ...........................................................................18 

SECTION 2.10. Limitation on Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness .....................................18 

SECTION 2.11. Qualification for The Depository Trust Company .....................................18 

Article III 
ISSUE OF BONDS 

SECTION 3.01. Issue of Bonds ............................................................................................20 

Article IV 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01. Project to Conform to Plans and Specifications; Changes .........................23 

SECTION 4.02. Compliance Requirements .........................................................................23 

Article V 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND 

SECTION 5.01. Acquisition and Construction Fund ...........................................................23 

Article VI 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 

APPLICATION THEREOF TO FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

SECTION 6.01. Special Assessments; Lien of Indenture on Pledged Revenues .................25 

SECTION 6.02. Funds and Accounts Relating to the Bonds ...............................................26 

SECTION 6.03. Revenue Fund ............................................................................................26 

SECTION 6.04. Debt Service Fund......................................................................................28 

SECTION 6.05. Debt Service Reserve Fund ........................................................................29 

SECTION 6.06. Bond Redemption Fund .............................................................................31 

SECTION 6.07. Drawings on Credit Facility .......................................................................32 

SECTION 6.08. Procedure When Funds Are Sufficient to Pay All Bonds of a Series ........32 

SECTION 6.09. Certain Moneys to Be Held for Series Bondholders Only .........................33 

SECTION 6.10. Unclaimed Moneys ....................................................................................33 

SECTION 6.11. Rebate Fund ...............................................................................................33 

Page 219



 

-ii- 

Article VII 
SECURITY FOR AND INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT OF FUNDS 

SECTION 7.01. Deposits and Security Therefor .................................................................34 

SECTION 7.02. Investment or Deposit of Funds .................................................................34 

SECTION 7.03. Valuation of Funds .....................................................................................35 

SECTION 7.04. Brokerage Confirmations ...........................................................................36 

Article VIII 
REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE OF BONDS 

SECTION 8.01. Redemption Dates and Prices ....................................................................36 

SECTION 8.02. Notice of Redemption and of Purchase .....................................................38 

SECTION 8.03. Payment of Redemption Price ...................................................................39 

SECTION 8.04. Partial Redemption of Bonds .....................................................................39 

Article IX 
COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER 

SECTION 9.01. Power to Issue Bonds and Create Lien ......................................................40 

SECTION 9.02. Payment of Principal and Interest on Bonds ..............................................40 

SECTION 9.03. Special Assessments; Re-Assessments ......................................................41 

SECTION 9.04. Method of Collection .................................................................................41 

SECTION 9.05. Delinquent Special Assessments................................................................42 

SECTION 9.06. Sale of Tax Certificates and Issuance of Tax Deeds; Foreclosure of 
Special Assessment Liens ..........................................................................42 

SECTION 9.07. Books and Records with Respect to Special Assessments ........................43 

SECTION 9.08. Removal of Special Assessment Liens ......................................................43 

SECTION 9.09. Deposit of Special Assessments.................................................................44 

SECTION 9.10. Construction to be on District Lands .........................................................44 

SECTION 9.11. Operation, Use and Maintenance of Project ..............................................44 

SECTION 9.12. Observance of and Compliance with Valid Requirements ........................45 

SECTION 9.13. Payment of Operating or Maintenance Costs by State or Others ..............45 

SECTION 9.14. Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance; Maintenance of 
Insurance; Use of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds ........................45 

SECTION 9.15. Collection of Insurance Proceeds ...............................................................47 

SECTION 9.16. Use of Revenues for Authorized Purposes Only .......................................47 

SECTION 9.17. Books, Records and Annual Reports .........................................................47 

SECTION 9.18. [Reserved] ..................................................................................................47 

SECTION 9.19. Employment of Certified Public Accountant .............................................47 

SECTION 9.20. Establishment of Fiscal Year, Annual Budget ...........................................47 

SECTION 9.21. Employment of Consulting Engineer; Consulting Engineer’s Report .......48 

SECTION 9.22. Audit Reports .............................................................................................48 

SECTION 9.23. Covenant Against Sale or Encumbrance; Exceptions ................................48 

SECTION 9.24. No Loss of Lien on Pledged Revenue........................................................49 

SECTION 9.25. Compliance with Other Contracts and Agreements ...................................49 

SECTION 9.26. Issuance of Additional Obligations ............................................................49 

SECTION 9.27. Extension of Time for Payment of Interest Prohibited ..............................49 

SECTION 9.28. Further Assurances.....................................................................................50 

Page 220



 

-iii- 

SECTION 9.29. Use of Bond Proceeds to Comply with Internal Revenue Code ................50 

SECTION 9.30. Corporate Existence and Maintenance of Properties .................................50 

SECTION 9.31. Bankruptcy or Insolvency of Landowner ..................................................50 

SECTION 9.32. Continuing Disclosure ...............................................................................52 

Article X 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 10.01. Events of Default and Remedies ................................................................52 

SECTION 10.02. Events of Default Defined .........................................................................52 

SECTION 10.03. No Acceleration; Redemption ....................................................................53 

SECTION 10.04. Foreclosure of Assessment Lien ................................................................53 

SECTION 10.05. Legal Proceedings by Trustee ....................................................................54 

SECTION 10.06. Discontinuance of Proceedings by Trustee ................................................54 

SECTION 10.07. Bondholders May Direct Proceedings .......................................................54 

SECTION 10.08. Limitations on Actions by Bondholder ......................................................54 

SECTION 10.09. Trustee May Enforce Rights Without Possession of Bonds ......................55 

SECTION 10.10. Remedies Not Exclusive ............................................................................55 

SECTION 10.11. Delays and Omissions Not to Impair Rights..............................................55 

SECTION 10.12. Application of Moneys in Event of Default ...............................................55 

SECTION 10.13. Trustee’s Right to Receiver; Compliance with Act ...................................56 

SECTION 10.14. Trustee and Bondholders Entitled to all Remedies under Act ...................56 

SECTION 10.15. Credit Facility Issuer’s Rights Upon Events of Default ............................56 

Article XI 
THE TRUSTEE; THE PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

SECTION 11.01. Acceptance of Trust ...................................................................................57 

SECTION 11.02. No Responsibility for Recitals ...................................................................57 

SECTION 11.03. Trustee May Act Through Agents; Answerable Only for Willful 
Misconduct or Negligence .........................................................................57 

SECTION 11.04. Compensation and Indemnity ....................................................................58 

SECTION 11.05. No Duty to Renew Insurance .....................................................................58 

SECTION 11.06. Notice of Default; Right to Investigate ......................................................58 

SECTION 11.07. Obligation to Act on Defaults ....................................................................59 

SECTION 11.08. Reliance by Trustee....................................................................................59 

SECTION 11.09. Trustee May Deal in Bonds .......................................................................59 

SECTION 11.10. Construction of Ambiguous Provisions .....................................................59 

SECTION 11.11. Resignation of Trustee ...............................................................................59 

SECTION 11.12. Removal of Trustee ....................................................................................60 

SECTION 11.13. Appointment of Successor Trustee ............................................................60 

SECTION 11.14. Qualification of Successor .........................................................................60 

SECTION 11.15. Instruments of Succession ..........................................................................60 

SECTION 11.16. Merger of Trustee ......................................................................................60 

SECTION 11.17. Extension of Rights and Duties of Trustee to Paying Agent and Registrar61 

SECTION 11.18. Resignation of Paying Agent or Registrar .................................................61 

SECTION 11.19. Removal of Paying Agent or Registrar ......................................................61 

SECTION 11.20. Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar ..............................61 

SECTION 11.21. Qualifications of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar .............................62 

Page 221



 

-iv- 

SECTION 11.22. Judicial Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar .................62 

SECTION 11.23. Acceptance of Duties by Successor Paying Agent or Registrar ................62 

SECTION 11.24. Successor by Merger or Consolidation ......................................................62 

SECTION 11.25  Patriot Act Requirements of Trustee ..........................................................63 

SECTION 11.26  Signatures ...................................................................................................63 

Article XII 
ACTS OF BONDHOLDERS; EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS 

SECTION 12.01. Acts of Bondholders; Evidence of Ownership of Bonds ...........................63 

Article XIII 
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS 

SECTION 13.01. Amendments and Supplements Without Bondholders’ Consent ...............63 

SECTION 13.02. Amendments with Bondholders’ Consent .................................................64 

SECTION 13.03. Trustee Authorized to Join in Amendments and Supplements; Reliance on 
Counsel ......................................................................................................64 

Article XIV 
DEFEASANCE 

SECTION 14.01. Defeasance .................................................................................................64 

SECTION 14.02. Deposit of Funds for Payment of Bonds ....................................................65 

Article XV 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

SECTION 15.01. Limitations on Recourse ............................................................................66 

SECTION 15.02. Payment Dates ...........................................................................................66 

SECTION 15.03. No Rights Conferred on Others .................................................................66 

SECTION 15.04. Illegal Provisions Disregarded ...................................................................66 

SECTION 15.05. Substitute Notice ........................................................................................66 

SECTION 15.06. Notices .......................................................................................................66 

SECTION 15.07. Controlling Law .........................................................................................68 

SECTION 15.08. Successors and Assigns ..............................................................................68 

SECTION 15.09. Headings for Convenience Only ................................................................68 

SECTION 15.10. Counterparts ...............................................................................................68 

SECTION 15.11. Appendices and Exhibits ............................................................................68 

 
EXHIBIT A - Legal Description of the District 
EXHIBIT B - Description of the Project 
EXHIBIT C - Form of Bond 
EXHIBIT D - Form of Requisition 

Page 222



 

1 

THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, dated as of [__________] 1, 2024 (the “Master 
Indenture”), by and between LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (together with its permitted successors and assigns, the “Issuer”), a local unit of 
special-purpose government organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, and 
U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking 
association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America and 
having a corporate trust office in Fort Lauderdale, Florida (said national banking association and 
any bank or trust company becoming successor trustee under this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures (as hereinafter defined) being hereinafter referred to as the “Trustee”); 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is a local unit of special purpose government duly organized and 
existing under the provisions of the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”) created pursuant to Ordinance No. 2023-7 
enacted by the Board of County Commissioners of Glades County, Florida on April 11, 2023, for 
the purposes of delivering community development services and facilities to property to be 
served by the District (as defined below); and 

WHEREAS, the premises governed by the Issuer (as further described in Exhibit A 
hereto, the “District” or “District Lands”) currently consist of approximately 525 gross acres of 
land located within the unincorporated area of Glades County, Florida (the “County”); and  

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined to undertake, in one or more stages/phases, the 
planning, financing, construction and/or acquisition of public infrastructure improvements 
including, but not limited to stormwater facilities, lift stations, water and sewer facilities, street 
lighting and electrical distribution (undergrounding) onsite and offsite road construction, 
landscaping and entry features and signage, and parks and recreational facilities and associated 
professional fees and incidental costs related thereto pursuant to the Act, for the special benefit 
of the District Lands (as further described in Exhibit B hereto, the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer proposes to finance or refinance, as the case may be, the costs of 
the Project by the issuance of one or more series of bonds pursuant to this Master Indenture;  

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS MASTER INDENTURE WITNESSETH, that to 
provide for the issuance of Bonds (as hereinafter defined) under this Master Indenture, as 
supplemented from time to time by one or more Supplemental Indentures (as hereinafter 
defined), the security and payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price thereof (as the 
case may be) and interest thereon, any reimbursement due to a Credit Facility Issuer (hereinafter 
defined), if any, for any drawing on its Credit Facility (hereinafter defined), as required under the 
terms of the corresponding Credit Facility Agreement (hereinafter defined), the rights of the 
Owners of the Bonds of a Series (as hereinafter defined) and the performance and observance of 
all of the covenants contained herein and in said Bonds and in any Credit Facility Agreement for 
and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and of the purchase and 
acceptance of the Bonds of a Series by the Owners thereof, from time to time, the issuance by 
any Credit Facility Issuer of its Credit Facility, from time to time, and of the acceptance by the 

Page 223



 

2 

Trustee of the trusts hereby created, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Issuer hereby 
assigns, transfers, sets over and pledges to the Trustee and grants a lien on all of the right, title 
and interest of the Issuer in and to the Pledged Revenues (hereinafter defined) as security for the 
payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price of (as the case may be) and interest on 
Bonds of a Series issued hereunder and any reimbursement due to any Credit Facility Issuer for 
any drawing on its Credit Facility issued with respect to any such Bonds, as required under the 
terms of the corresponding Credit Facility Agreement, all in the manner hereinafter provided, 
and the Issuer further hereby agrees with and covenants unto the Trustee as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

In this Master Indenture and any indenture supplemental hereto (except as otherwise 
expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires) terms defined in the recitals hereto 
shall have the same meaning throughout this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures, 
and in addition, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below: 

“Account” shall mean any account or subaccount established therein pursuant to this 
Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures. 

“Acquisition Agreement” shall mean one or more improvement acquisition agreements 
between the Issuer and the Landowner, pursuant to which the Landowner agrees to provide, 
design, construct and sell to the Issuer, and the Issuer agrees to purchase from the Landowner, all 
or a portion of a Project. 

“Acquisition and Construction Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated and established 
pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof. 

“Act” shall mean the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute thereto. 

“Annual Budget” shall mean the Issuer’s budget of current operating and maintenance 
expenses for the Project for a Fiscal Year, as the same may be amended from time to time, 
adopted in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

“Arbitrage Certificate” shall mean the certificate of the Issuer delivered at the time of 
issuance of a Series of Bonds setting forth the expectations of the Issuer with respect to the use 
of the proceeds of such Series and also containing certain covenants of the Issuer in order to 
achieve compliance with the Code relating to the tax-exempt status of the Bonds. 

“Authenticating Agent” shall mean the agent so described in, and appointed pursuant to, 
Section 2.03 of this Master Indenture. 

“Authorized Denomination” shall mean, unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, $5,000 if the Bonds bear an investment grade rating 
by a nationally recognized rating agency, and otherwise, initially in principal amounts of 

Page 224



 

3 

$100,000 and any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, and thereafter, in denominations 
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

“Authorized Newspaper” shall mean a newspaper printed in English and customarily 
published at least once a day at least five days a week and generally circulated in New York, 
New York, or such other cities as the Issuer from time to time may determine by written notice 
provided to the Trustee.  When successive publications in an Authorized Newspaper are 
required, they may be made in the same or different Authorized Newspapers. 

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean the actual owner of Bonds while the Bonds are registered 
in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee of DTC.  The Trustee is authorized to recognize the 
Beneficial Owners of a Series of Bonds for purposes of approvals, consents or other actions 
taken hereunder or under a Supplemental Indenture if beneficial ownership is proven to the 
satisfaction of the Trustee. 

“Board” shall mean the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer. 

“Bond Counsel” shall mean Counsel of nationally recognized standing in matters 
pertaining to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on 
obligations issued by states and their political subdivisions. 

“Bondholder,” “Holder of Bonds,” “Holder,” or “Owner” or any similar term shall mean 
any Person or Persons who shall be the registered owner of any Outstanding Bond or Bonds, as 
evidenced on the Bond Register of the Issuer kept by the Registrar. 

“Bond Redemption Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established 
pursuant to Section 6.06 hereof. 

“Bond Register” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.04 of this Master 
Indenture. 

“Bonds” shall mean the Lakefront Estates Community Development District Special 
Assessment Bonds, issued in one or more Series pursuant to the provisions of this Master 
Indenture and one or more Supplemental Indentures, and Bonds subsequently issued to refund all 
or a portion of such aforementioned Bonds. 

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a 
day on which the designated corporate office of the Trustee, the Registrar or any Paying Agent is 
closed, or any day on which the payment system of the U.S. Federal Reserve is not operational. 

“Certified Public Accountant” shall mean a Person, who shall be Independent, appointed 
by the Board, actively engaged in the business of public accounting and duly certified as a 
certified public accountant under the laws of the State. 

“Certified Resolution” or “Certified Resolution of the Issuer” shall mean a copy of one or 
more resolutions certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, under its seal, 
to have been duly adopted by the Board and to be in full force and effect as of the date of such 
certification. 

Page 225



 

4 

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and the applicable 
United States Treasury Department regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Completion Date” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 5.01 of this 
Master Indenture. 

“Consultant” shall mean a Person, who shall be Independent, appointed by the Board, 
qualified to pass upon questions relating to municipal entities and having a favorable reputation 
for skill and experience in the financial affairs of municipal entities. 

“Consultant’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate or a report prepared in accordance with 
then applicable professional standards duly executed by a Consultant. 

“Consulting Engineer” shall mean the Independent engineer or engineering firm or 
corporation at the time employed by the Issuer under the provisions of Section 9.21 of this 
Master Indenture to perform and carry out duties imposed on the Consulting Engineer by this 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures.  The Independent engineer or engineering 
firm or corporation at the time serving as the engineer to the Issuer may serve as Consulting 
Engineer under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures. 

“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” shall mean a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, by 
and among the Issuer, the dissemination agent named therein and any Landowner that is the 
owner of at least twenty percent (20%) of the District Lands which have been determined by the 
Issuer to be lands benefited by the Project or portion thereof financed with the proceeds of a 
Series of Bonds or are responsible for payment of at least twenty percent (20%) of the Special 
Assessments levied and collected on all or a portion of the District Lands with respect to the 
Project or portion thereof financed by such Series of Bonds, and any other obligated person(s) 
under the Rule, in connection with the issuance of one or more Series of Bonds hereunder, 
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule.   

“Cost” or “Costs,” in connection with the Project or any portion thereof, shall mean all 
expenses which are properly chargeable thereto under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
or which are incidental to the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
equipping and installation thereof, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

(a) expenses of determining the feasibility or practicability of acquisition, 
construction, or reconstruction of the Project; 

(b) cost of surveys, estimates, plans, and specifications; 

(c) cost of improvements; 

(d) engineering, architectural, fiscal, legal, accounting and other professional and 
advisory expenses and charges; 

(e) cost of all labor, materials, machinery, and equipment (including, without 
limitation, (i) amounts payable to contractors, builders and materialmen and costs incident to the 
award of contracts and (ii) the cost of labor, facilities and services furnished by the Issuer and its 

Page 226



 

5 

employees, materials and supplies purchased by the Issuer and permits and licenses obtained by 
the Issuer); 

(f) cost of all lands, properties, rights, easements, and franchises acquired; 

(g) financing charges; 

(h) creation of initial reserve and debt service funds; 

(i) working capital; 

(j) interest charges incurred or estimated to be incurred on money borrowed prior to 
and during construction and acquisition and for such reasonable period of time after completion 
of construction or acquisition as the Board may determine and as approved by Bond Counsel; 

(k) the cost of issuance of Bonds, including, without limitation, advertisements and 
printing; 

(l) the cost of any election held pursuant to the Act and all other expenses of issuance 
of bonds; 

(m) the discount, if any, on the sale or exchange of Bonds; 

(n) amounts required to repay temporary or bond anticipation loans made to finance 
any costs permitted under the Act; 

(o) costs of prior improvements performed by the Issuer in anticipation of the Project; 

(p) costs incurred to enforce remedies against contractors, subcontractors, any 
provider of labor, material, services, or any other Person, for a default or breach under the 
corresponding contract, or in connection with any other dispute; 

(q) premiums for contract bonds and insurance during construction and costs on 
account of personal injuries and property damage in the course of construction and insurance 
against the same; 

(r) payments, contributions, dedications, and any other exactions required as a 
condition to receive any government approval or permit necessary to accomplish any District 
purpose; 

(s) administrative expenses; 

(t) taxes, assessments and similar governmental charges during construction or 
reconstruction of the Project; 

(u) expenses of Project management and supervision; 

(v) costs of effecting compliance with any and all governmental permits relating to 
the Project; 

Page 227



 

6 

(w) such other expenses as may be necessary or incidental to the acquisition, 
construction, or reconstruction of the Project or to the financing thereof; and 

(x) any other “cost” or expense as provided by the Act. 

In connection with the refunding or redeeming of any Bonds, “Cost” includes, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the items listed in (d), (k), (l) and (m) above, and other 
expenses related to the redemption of the Bonds to be redeemed and the Redemption Price of 
such Bonds (and the accrued interest payable on redemption to the extent not otherwise provided 
for).  Whenever Costs are required to be itemized, such itemization shall, to the extent 
practicable, correspond with the items listed above.  Whenever Costs are to be paid hereunder, 
such payment may be made by way of reimbursement to the Issuer or any other Person who has 
paid the same in addition to direct payment of Costs. 

“Counsel” shall mean an attorney-at-law or law firm (who may be counsel for the Issuer) 
not unsatisfactory to the Trustee. 

“County” shall mean Glades County, Florida. 

“Credit Facility” shall mean any credit enhancement mechanism such as an irrevocable 
letter of credit, a surety bond, a policy of municipal bond insurance, a corporate or other 
guaranty, a purchase agreement, a credit agreement or deficiency agreement or other similar 
facility applicable to the Bonds, as established pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, pursuant to 
which the entity providing such facility agrees to provide funds to make payment of the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Master 
Indenture, the Bonds may be issued without a Credit Facility; the decision to provide a Credit 
Facility in respect of any Bonds shall be within the absolute discretion of the Issuer. 

“Credit Facility Agreement” shall mean any agreement pursuant to which a Credit 
Facility Issuer issues a Credit Facility. 

“Credit Facility Issuer” shall mean the issuer or guarantor of any Credit Facility. 

“Debt Service Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.04 hereof. 

“Debt Service Requirements” with reference to a specified period, shall mean: 

(a) interest payable on the Bonds during such period, subject to reduction for 
amounts held as capitalized interest in the Funds and Accounts established under this Master 
Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures;  

(b) amounts required to be paid into any mandatory sinking fund account with respect 
to the Bonds during such period; and 

(c) amounts required to pay the principal of the Bonds maturing during such period 
and not to be redeemed prior to or at maturity through any sinking fund account. 

Page 228



 

7 

For any Bonds that bear interest at a variable rate, the interest payable for a specified 
period shall be determined as if such Bonds bear interest at the maximum rate provided for in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture and if no maximum rate is provided for in the Supplemental 
Indenture, the maximum rate shall be 12% per annum. 

“Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established 
pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof. 

“Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy” shall mean the insurance policy, surety bond or 
other evidence of insurance, if any, deposited to the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or 
any Account or subaccount therein in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash or securities on 
deposit therein, which policy, bond or the evidence of insurance constitutes an unconditional 
senior obligation of the issuer thereof.  The issuer thereof shall be a municipal bond insurer 
whose obligations ranking pari passu with its obligations under such policy, bond or other 
evidence of insurance are rated at the time of deposit of such policy, bond or other evidence of 
insurance to the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or subaccount therein in 
one of the three highest rating categories, without regard to gradations, of both Moody’s and 
S&P, unless otherwise approved by the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, who has issued a Credit 
Facility with respect to the Bonds. 

“Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit” shall mean the irrevocable, transferable letter or 
line of credit, if any, deposited for the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or 
subaccount therein in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash or securities on deposit therein, 
which letter or line of credit constitutes an unconditional senior obligation of the issuer thereof.  
The issuer of such letter or line of credit shall be a banking association, bank or trust company or 
branch thereof whose senior debt obligations ranking pari passu with its obligations under such 
letter or line of credit are rated at the time of deposit of the letter or line of credit to the credit of 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or subaccount therein in one of the three highest 
rating categories (without regard to gradations) of both Moody’s and S&P, unless otherwise 
approved by the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, who has issued a Credit Facility with respect to the 
Bonds. 

“Debt Service Reserve Requirement” shall mean, for each Series of Bonds, unless a 
different requirement shall be specified in a Supplemental Indenture, an amount equal to the 
lesser of (i) the maximum annual Debt Service Requirements for the Outstanding Bonds of such 
Series, (ii) 125% of the average annual Debt Service Requirements for the Outstanding Bonds of 
such Series, and (iii) 10% of the original proceeds (within the meaning of the Code) of the Bonds 
of such Series. 

“Defeasance Securities” shall mean, to the extent permitted by law, (a) cash, or (b) non-
callable Government Obligations. 

“Developer” shall mean, Okeechobee Community Developers, a Florida limited liability 
company, and any entity or entities which succeed to all or any part of the interests and assume 
any or all of the responsibilities of said entities. 

Page 229



 

8 

“District Lands” or “District” shall mean the premises governed by the Issuer, consisting 
of approximately 525 gross acres of land located in the County, as more fully described in 
Exhibit A hereto. 

“District Manager” shall mean the then District Manager or acting District Manager of 
the Issuer. 

“Electronic Means” shall mean telecopy, facsimile transmission, email transmission or 
other similar electronic means of communicating providing evidence of transmission. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any of the events described in Section 10.02 hereof. 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the period of twelve (12) months beginning October 1 of each 
calendar year and ending on September 30 of the following calendar year, and also shall mean 
the period from actual execution hereof to and including the next succeeding September 30; or 
such other consecutive twelve-month period as may hereafter be established pursuant to a 
Certified Resolution as the fiscal year of the Issuer for budgeting and accounting purposes as 
authorized by law. 

“Fund” shall mean any fund established pursuant to this Master Indenture. 

“Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” shall mean those accounting principles 
applicable in the preparation of financial statements of municipalities. 

“Government Obligations” shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations the timely 
payment of principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United 
States of America. 

“Indenture” shall mean, with respect to any Series of Bonds, this Master Indenture as 
supplemented by the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which such Series of Bonds is issued. 

“Independent” shall mean a Person who is not a member of the Issuer’s Board, an officer 
or employee of the Issuer or Developer, or which is not a partnership, corporation or association 
having a partner, director, officer, member or substantial stockholder who is a member of the 
Issuer’s Board, or an officer or employee of the Issuer; provided, however, that the fact that such 
Person is retained regularly by or regularly transacts business with the Issuer or Developer shall 
not make such Person an employee within the meaning of this definition. 

“Interest Account” shall mean the Account so designated, established as a separate 
account within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 6.04 hereof. 

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean, unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, each May 1 and November 1 commencing on the 
date specified in the Certified Resolution of the Issuer or in the Supplemental Indenture pursuant 
to which a Series of Bonds is issued. 

“Interest Period” shall mean the period from and including any Interest Payment Date to 
and excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that upon final 

Page 230



 

9 

payment of any Bond at maturity or upon redemption or mandatory purchase, the Interest Period 
shall extend to, but not include, the date of such final payment, which shall always be a Business 
Day. 

“Investment Securities” shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to 
the extent that such securities are legal investments for funds of the Issuer: 

(a) Government Obligations; 

(b) money market deposit accounts, time deposits, and certificates of deposits 
issued by commercial banks, savings and loan associations or mutual savings banks whose short-
term obligations are rated, at the time of purchase, in one of the two highest rating categories, 
without regard to gradation, by Moody’s and S&P; 

(c) commercial paper (having maturities of not more than 270 days) rated, at 
the time of purchase, in one of the two highest rating categories, without regard to gradation, by 
Moody’s and S&P; 

(d) obligations of any state of the United States or political subdivision 
thereof or constituted authority thereof the interest on which is exempt from federal income 
taxation under Section 103 of the Code and rated in one of the top two rating categories by both 
Moody’s and S&P at the time of purchase; 

(e) both (A) shares of a diversified open-end management investment 
company (as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940) or a regulated investment 
company (as defined in Section 851(a) of the Code) that is a money market fund that is rated in 
the highest rating category for such funds by both Moody’s and S&P, and (B) shares of money 
market mutual funds that invest only in Government Obligations and repurchase agreements 
secured by such obligations, which funds are rated in the highest categories for such funds by 
both Moody’s and S&P at the time of purchase; 

(f) bonds, notes and other debt obligations of any corporation organized 
under the laws of the United States, any state or organized territory of the United States or the 
District of Columbia, if such obligations are rated in one of the three highest ratings by both 
Moody’s and S&P or in one of the two highest categories by either S&P or Moody’s at the time 
of purchase; and 

(g) the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund as described in Florida 
Statutes, Section 218.405 or the corresponding provisions of subsequent laws provided that such 
fund, at the time of purchase, is rated at least “AA” by S&P (without regard to gradation) or at 
least “Aa” by Moody’s (without regard to gradation). 

Under all circumstances, the Trustee shall be entitled to request and receive from the 
Issuer and conclusively rely upon as accurate an Officer’s Certificate setting forth that any 
investment directed by the Issuer is permitted under this Indenture and is a legal investment for 
the funds of the Issuer under Florida law.   

“Issuer” shall mean the Lakefront Estates Community Development District. 

Page 231



 

10 

“Landowner” shall mean any owner of District Lands encumbered by Special 
Assessments. 

“Majority Holder” shall mean the Beneficial Owners of more than 50% of the applicable 
principal amount of a Series of Bonds then Outstanding. 

“Majority Landowner” shall mean, for purposes of this Master Indenture, any person or 
entity, including all affiliated persons and/or entities thereof, which collectively own more than 
50% of the District Lands. 

“Major Non-Recurring Expense” shall mean the cost of major replacement or 
reconstruction of the Project, or any part thereof, the cost of major repairs, renewals or 
replacements, the provision of a reserve for the payment of insurance premiums not due on an 
annual or more frequent basis, and the cost of studies, surveys, estimates and investigations in 
connection with any of the foregoing. 

“Master Indenture” shall mean, this Master Trust Indenture dated as of [__________] 1, 
2024, by and between the Issuer and the Trustee, as amended and or supplemented in accordance 
with the provisions of Article XIII hereof. 

“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a corporation organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, and, if such 
corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a 
securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized 
securities rating agency designated by the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee. 

“Officers’ Certificate” or “Officer’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate, duly executed 
by a Responsible Officer and delivered to the Trustee. 

“Outstanding,” in connection with a Series of Bonds, shall mean, as of the time in 
question, all Bonds of such Series authenticated and delivered under the Indenture, except: 

(a) all Bonds theretofore cancelled or required to be cancelled under Section 
2.07 hereof; 

(b) Bonds for the payment, redemption or purchase of which moneys and/or 
Defeasance Securities, the principal of and interest on which, when due, will provide 
sufficient moneys to fully pay such Bonds in accordance with Article XIV hereof, shall 
have been or shall concurrently be deposited with the Trustee; provided that, if such 
Bonds are being redeemed, the required notice of redemption shall have been given or 
provision shall have been made therefor, and that if such Bonds are being purchased, 
there shall be a firm commitment for the purchase and sale thereof; and 

(c) Bonds in substitution for which other Bonds have been authenticated and 
delivered pursuant to Article II hereof. 

In determining whether the Holders of a requisite aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
Outstanding of a Series have concurred in any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, 

Page 232



 

11 

consent or waiver under the provisions of the Indenture, Bonds of such Series which are actually 
known by a Responsible Officer of the Trustee to be held by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be 
disregarded for the purpose of any such determination, unless all of the Bonds of such Series are 
held by or on behalf of the Issuer; provided, however, this provision does not affect the right of 
the Trustee to deal in Bonds as set forth in Section 11.09 hereof. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

“Paying Agent” shall mean initially the Trustee, and thereafter any successor thereto 
appointed in accordance with Section 11.20 of this Master Indenture. 

“Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock 
company, trust, unincorporated organization, governmental body, political subdivision, 
municipality, municipal authority or any other group or organization of individuals. 

“Pledged Revenues” shall mean, unless otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture 
with respect to a Series of Bonds, with respect to each Series of Bonds Outstanding, (a) all 
revenues received by the Issuer from Special Assessments levied and collected on all or a portion 
of the District Lands with respect to the Project or portion thereof financed by such Series of 
Bonds, including, without limitation, amounts received from any foreclosure proceeding for the 
enforcement of collection of such Special Assessments or from the issuance and sale of tax 
certificates with respect to such Special Assessments, and (b) all moneys on deposit in the Funds 
and Accounts established under the Indenture for, or otherwise expressly allocated to, such 
Series of Bonds; provided, however, that Pledged Revenues shall not include (i) any moneys 
transferred to the Rebate Fund, or investment earnings thereon and (ii) “special assessments” 
levied and collected by the Issuer under Section 190.022 of the Act for maintenance purposes or 
“maintenance special assessments” levied and collected by the Issuer under Section 190.021(3) 
of the Act (it being expressly understood that the lien and pledge of the Indenture shall not apply 
to any of the moneys described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) of this provision). 

“Prepayment” shall mean the payment by any owner of Property of the amount of Special 
Assessments encumbering its property, in whole or in part, prior to its scheduled due date.   

“Project” shall mean with respect to any Series of Bonds, the portion or portions of 
certain infrastructure improvements including roadway, water, sewer, landscaping, irrigation, 
storm water management, entry features and recreational improvements to be acquired and/or 
constructed by the Issuer, whether within or outside the District Lands, all as more specifically 
described in the Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds; provided that a Project 
shall specially benefit all of the District Lands on which Special Assessments to secure such 
Series of Bonds have been levied.  

“Project Documents” shall mean all permits, drawings, plans and specifications, contracts 
and other instruments and rights relating to the Project and the development assigned by the 
developer(s) of the District Lands to the Issuer pursuant to a collateral assignment. 

“Property Appraiser” shall mean the property appraiser of the County. 

Page 233



 

12 

“Property Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement” shall mean the Property Appraiser 
and Tax Collector Agreement described in Section 9.04 hereof. 

“Rebate Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated, which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.11 of this Master Indenture. 

“Record Date” shall mean, as the case may be, the applicable Regular or Special Record 
Date. 

“Redemption Price” shall mean the principal amount of any Bond plus the applicable 
premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Registered Owner” shall mean the person or entity in whose name or names any Bond is 
registered on the books maintained by the Registrar. 

“Registrar” shall mean initially the Trustee, which entity shall have the responsibilities 
set forth in Section 2.04 of this Master Indenture, and thereafter any successor thereto appointed 
in accordance with Section 11.20 of this Master Indenture. 

“Regular Record Date” shall mean the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of 
the calendar month next preceding each Interest Payment Date or the date on which the principal 
of a Bond is to be paid, unless otherwise provided in any Supplemental Indenture. 

“Regulatory Body” shall mean and include (a) the United States of America and any 
department of or corporation, agency or instrumentality heretofore or hereafter created, 
designated or established by the United States of America, (b) the State, any political subdivision 
thereof and any department of or corporation, agency or instrumentality heretofore or hereafter 
created, designated or established by the State, (c) the County and any department of or 
corporation, agency or instrumentality heretofore or hereafter created, designated or established 
by the County, and (d) any other public body, whether federal, state or local or otherwise having 
regulatory jurisdiction and authority over the Issuer. 

“Responsible Officer” shall mean with respect to the Issuer, any member of the Board, 
the District Manager, or any other officer of the Issuer or other person designated by Certified 
Resolution of the Issuer, a copy of which shall be on file with the Trustee, to act for any of the 
foregoing, either generally or with respect to the execution of any particular document or other 
specific matter, and when used with respect to the Trustee, any vice president, assistant vice 
president, senior associate or other officer of the Trustee within the corporate trust office 
specified in Section 15.06 (or any successor corporate trust office) having direct responsibility 
for the administration of this Indenture. 

“Revenue Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.03 hereof. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from 
time to time. 

Page 234



 

13 

“S&P” shall mean S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial 
Services LLC business, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New 
York, its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall 
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to 
any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer and acceptable 
to the Trustee. 

“Series” shall mean all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered at one time on original 
issuance and pursuant to any Certified Resolution of the Issuer authorizing such Bonds as a 
separate Series of Bonds, or any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in 
substitution for such Bonds pursuant to Article II hereof and the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture, regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate or other provisions; provided, 
however, two or more Series of Bonds may be issued simultaneously under the same 
Supplemental Indenture if designated as separate Series of Bonds by the Issuer upon original 
issuance.  Two or more Series or sub-Series of Bonds may be issued simultaneously under 
separate Supplemental Indentures, but under this Master Indenture.  As may be provided by 
subsequent proceedings of the Issuer, one or more Series of Bonds or sub-Series Bonds, whether 
issued at the same time or not, may be separately secured by Special Assessments imposed 
pursuant to separate assessment proceedings.  Such Bonds or sub-Series of Bonds which are 
secured by separate Special Assessments will not be issued as parity bonds even if issued at the 
same time. 

“Series Account” shall mean any Account established as to a particular Series of Bonds. 

“Sinking Fund Account” shall mean the Account so designated, established as a separate 
account within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 6.04 hereof. 

“Special Assessments” shall mean (a) the net proceeds derived from the levy and 
collection of “special assessments,” as provided for in Sections 190.011(14) and 190.022 of the 
Act against District Lands that are subject to assessment as a result of a particular Project or any 
portion thereof or against one or more identified Assessment Areas, and (b) the net proceeds 
derived from the levy and collection of “benefit special assessments,” as provided for in Section 
190.021(2) of the Act, against the lands within the District that are subject to assessment as a 
result of a particular Project or any portion thereof, and in the case of both “special assessments” 
and “benefit special assessments,” including the interest and penalties on such assessments, 
pursuant to all applicable provisions of the Act and Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 
197, Florida Statutes (and any successor statutes thereto), including, without limitation, any 
amount received from any foreclosure proceeding for the enforcement of collection of such 
assessments or from the issuance and sale of tax certificates with respect to such assessments, 
less (to the extent applicable) the fees and costs of collection thereof payable to the Tax Collector 
and less certain administrative costs payable to the Property Appraiser pursuant to the Property 
Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement.  “Special Assessments” shall not include “special 
assessments” levied and collected by the Issuer under Section 190.022 of the Act for 
maintenance purposes or “maintenance special assessments” levied and collected by the Issuer 
under Section 190.021(3) of the Act. 

Page 235



 

14 

“Special Record Date” shall mean such date as shall be fixed for the payment of 
defaulted interest on the Bonds in accordance with Section 2.01 hereof. 

“State” shall mean the State of Florida. 

“Supplemental Indenture” and “indenture supplemental hereto” shall mean any indenture 
amending or supplementing this Master Indenture which may be entered into in accordance with 
the provisions of this Master Indenture. 

“Tax Collector” shall mean the tax collector of the County. 

“Trust Accounts” shall mean Funds and Accounts that the Trustee administers as trustee, 
including, but not limited to, the trusts created by the Indenture for a Series of Bonds. 

The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereto,” “hereby,” and “hereunder” (except in the form of 
Bond), refer to the entire Master Indenture. 

Every “request,” “requisition,” “order,” “demand,” “application,” “notice,” “statement,” 
“certificate,” “consent,” or similar action hereunder by the Issuer shall, unless the form or 
execution thereof is otherwise specifically provided, be in writing signed by the Responsible 
Officer of the Issuer. 

All words and terms importing the singular number shall, where the context requires, 
import the plural number and vice versa. 

ARTICLE II 
THE BONDS 

SECTION 2.01. Amounts and Terms of Bonds; Details of Bonds.  The Issuer is hereby 
authorized to issue in one or more Series pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Master 
Indenture, its obligations to be known as “Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
Special Assessment Bonds, Series ____” (the “Bonds”).  The total principal amount of Bonds 
that may be issued and Outstanding under this Master Indenture is not expressly limited to a 
specific principal amount; provided, however, that the total principal amount of Bonds that may 
be issued and Outstanding under this Master Indenture shall be subject to any conditions and/or 
limitations (i) set forth in a Supplemental Indenture and (ii) under State law.  The Bonds shall be 
issued in Authorized Denominations and within each Series shall be numbered consecutively 
from R-1 and upwards in each Series and in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, 
with such appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this 
Master Indenture or as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture.  All Bonds shall be 
issued only upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article III hereof; and the Trustee 
shall, at the Issuer’s request, authenticate such Bonds and deliver them as specified in such 
request. 

Each Bond shall be dated, shall have such Interest Payment Dates, shall bear interest 
from such date or dates and at such rate or rates until the maturity thereof, payable on such 

Page 236



 

15 

Interest Payment Dates, and shall be stated to mature (subject to the right of prior redemption), 
all as provided in, or pursuant to, a Supplemental Indenture. 

Both the principal of and the interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or 
currency of the United States of America which is legal tender on the respective dates of 
payment thereof for the payment of public and private debts.  Unless otherwise provided in 
Section 2.11 hereof or in a Supplemental Indenture, the principal of all Bonds shall be payable at 
the designated corporate trust office of the Paying Agent upon the presentation and surrender of 
such Bonds as the same shall become due and payable. 

Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 2.11 hereof or in a Supplemental 
Indenture, interest on any Bond is payable on any Interest Payment Date by check or draft 
mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the person in whose name that Bond is registered at the 
close of business on the Regular Record Date for such Interest Payment Date, at his address as it 
appears on the Bond Register.  The Bonds shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next 
preceding the date on which they are authenticated unless authenticated on an Interest Payment 
Date in which event they shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, or unless 
authenticated before the first Interest Payment Date in which event they shall bear interest from 
their date; provided, however, that if a Bond is authenticated between a Record Date and the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date, such Bond shall bear interest from such succeeding Interest 
Payment Date; provided further, however, that if at the time of authentication of any Bond 
interest thereon is in default, such Bond shall bear interest from the date to which interest has 
been paid.  Any interest on any Bond which is payable, but is not punctually paid or provided for 
on any Interest Payment Date (hereinafter called “Defaulted Interest”) shall be paid to the Owner 
in whose name the Bond is registered at the close of business on a Special Record Date to be 
fixed by the Trustee, such date to be not more than fifteen (15) nor less than ten (10) days prior 
to the date of proposed payment.  The Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed payment of 
such Defaulted Interest and the Special Record Date therefor to be given by Electronic Means or 
mailed, first-class, postage-prepaid, to each Owner of record as of the fifth (5th) day prior to the 
giving of such notices, at its address as it appears in the Bond Register on the date of the giving 
of such notices.  The foregoing notwithstanding, but subject to the procedures set forth in Section 
2.11 hereof, any Owner of Bonds of a Series in an aggregate principal amount of at least 
$1,000,000 shall be entitled to have interest paid by wire transfer to such Owner to the bank 
account number on file with the Trustee and Paying Agent, upon requesting the same in a writing 
received by the Trustee and Paying Agent at least fifteen (15) days prior to the relevant Record 
Date, which writing shall specify the bank, which shall be a bank within the continental United 
States, and bank account number to which interest payments are to be wired.  Any such request 
for interest payments by wire transfer shall remain in effect until rescinded or changed, in a 
writing delivered by the Owner to the Trustee and Paying Agent, and any such rescission or 
change of wire transfer instructions must be received by the Trustee and Paying Agent at least 
fifteen (15) days prior to the relevant Record Date.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, interest on the Bonds will be computed on the basis 
of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, interest on overdue principal and, to the extent 
lawful, on overdue interest will be payable at the numerical rate of interest borne by such Bonds 
on the day before the default occurred. 

Page 237



 

16 

The Trustee is hereby constituted and appointed as Paying Agent for the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.02. Execution.  The Bonds shall be executed by the manual or facsimile 
signature of the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Issuer or by any other member of the Board 
designated by the Chair for such purpose, and the corporate seal of the Issuer shall appear 
thereon (which may be in facsimile) and shall be attested by the manual or facsimile signature of 
its Secretary or Assistant Secretary.  Bonds executed as above provided may be issued and shall, 
upon request of the Issuer, be authenticated by the Trustee, notwithstanding that one or both of 
the officers of the Issuer whose signatures appear on such Bonds shall have ceased to hold office 
at the time of issuance or authentication or shall not have held office at the date of the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.03. Authentication; Authenticating Agent.  No Bond shall be valid until 
the certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such 
authentication shall be proof that the Bondholder is entitled to the benefit of the trust hereby 
created.  The Trustee shall at all times serve as Authenticating Agent. 

SECTION 2.04. Registration and Registrar.  The Trustee is hereby constituted and 
appointed as the Registrar for the Bonds.  The Registrar shall act as registrar and transfer agent 
for the Bonds.  The Issuer shall cause to be kept at an office of the Registrar a register (herein 
sometimes referred to as the “Bond Register” or “Register”) in which, subject to the provisions 
set forth in Section 2.08 below and such other regulations as the Issuer and Registrar may 
prescribe, the Issuer shall provide for the registration of the Bonds and for the registration of 
transfers and exchanges of such Bonds.  The Trustee shall notify the Issuer in writing of the 
specific office location (which may be changed from time to time, upon similar notification) at 
which the Bond Register is kept.  Initially, and until the Trustee provides notice to the Issuer as 
provided in the immediately preceding sentence, the Bond Register shall be kept at the Trustee’s 
corporate trust office in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. 

SECTION 2.05. Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bonds.  If any Bond shall become 
mutilated, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee or Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, 
shall thereupon authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like Series, tenor and denomination in 
exchange and substitution for the Bond so mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee or 
Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, of such mutilated Bond for cancellation, and the Issuer 
and the Trustee or Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, may require reasonable indemnity 
therefor.  If any Bond shall be reported lost, stolen or destroyed, evidence as to the ownership 
and the loss, theft or destruction thereof shall be submitted to the Issuer and the Trustee or 
Authenticating Agent, as the case may be; and if such evidence shall be satisfactory to both and 
indemnity satisfactory to both shall be given, the Issuer shall execute, and thereupon the Trustee 
or Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like 
Series, tenor and denomination.  The cost of providing any substitute Bond under the provisions 
of this Section shall be borne by the Bondholder for whose benefit such substitute Bond is 
provided.  If any such mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond shall have matured or be about to 
mature, the Issuer may, with the consent of the Trustee or Authenticating Agent, as the case may 
be, pay to the Owner the principal amount of and accrued interest on such Bond upon the 
maturity thereof and compliance with the aforesaid conditions by such Owner, without the 
issuance of a substitute Bond therefor. 

Page 238



 

17 

Every substituted Bond issued pursuant to this Section 2.05 shall constitute an additional 
contractual obligation of the Issuer, whether or not the Bond alleged to have been destroyed, lost 
or stolen shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of 
this Master Indenture and applicable Supplemental Indenture equally and proportionately with 
any and all other Bonds of such same Series duly issued hereunder and under such Supplemental 
Indenture. 

All Bonds shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the foregoing 
provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost 
or stolen Bonds, and shall preclude any and all other rights or remedies with respect to the 
replacement or payment of negotiable instruments, investments or other securities without their 
surrender. 

SECTION 2.06. Temporary Bonds.  Pending preparation of definitive Bonds, or by 
agreement with the original purchasers of all Bonds, the Issuer may issue and, upon its request, 
the Trustee shall authenticate in lieu of definitive Bonds one or more temporary printed or 
typewritten Bonds of substantially the tenor recited above.  Upon request of the Issuer, the 
Trustee shall authenticate definitive Bonds in exchange for and upon surrender of an equal 
principal amount of temporary Bonds.  Until so exchanged, temporary Bonds shall have the same 
rights, remedies and security hereunder as definitive Bonds.  So long as Cede & Co., or any other 
nominee of DTC is the Registered Owner of the Bonds, the definitive Bonds shall be in 
typewritten form.   

SECTION 2.07. Cancellation and Destruction of Surrendered Bonds.  All Bonds 
surrendered for payment or redemption and all Bonds surrendered for exchange shall, at the time 
of such payment, redemption or exchange, be promptly transferred by the Registrar, Paying 
Agent or Authenticating Agent to, and cancelled and disposed of by, the Trustee in accordance 
with its then current procedures.  The Trustee shall deliver to the Issuer a certificate of 
destruction (or other evidence of destruction) in respect of all Bonds destroyed in accordance 
with this Section. 

SECTION 2.08. Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  As provided in Section 2.04 
hereof, the Issuer shall cause a Bond Register in respect of the Bonds to be kept at the designated 
office of the Registrar. 

Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Bond at the designated office of the 
Registrar, and upon compliance with the conditions for the transfer of Bonds set forth in this 
Section 2.08, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee (as Authenticating Agent and/or Registrar 
as described in Section 2.03 and Section 2.04 hereof) shall authenticate and deliver, in the name 
of the designated transferees, one or more new Bonds of a like aggregate principal amount and of 
the same Series and maturity. 

At the option of the Bondholder, Bonds may be exchanged for other Bonds of a like 
aggregate principal amount and of the same Series and maturity, upon surrender of the Bonds to 
be exchanged at any such office of the Registrar or agency.  Whenever any Bonds are so 
surrendered for exchange, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee (as Authenticating Agent 

Page 239



 

18 

and/or Registrar as described in Section 2.03 and Section 2.04 hereof) shall authenticate and 
deliver the Bonds which the Bondholder making the exchange is entitled to receive. 

All Bonds issued upon any transfer or exchange of Bonds shall be valid obligations of the 
Issuer, evidencing the same debt and entitled to the same benefits under this Master Indenture 
and applicable Supplemental Indenture as the Bonds of such Series surrendered upon such 
transfer or exchange. 

Every Bond presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be duly endorsed or 
accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee, Paying 
Agent or the Registrar, duly executed by the Bondholder or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing. 

Transfers and exchanges shall be made without charge to the Bondholder, except that the 
Issuer or the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of Bonds. 

Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar on behalf of the Issuer shall be required (i) to issue, 
transfer or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business fifteen (15) 
days before the day of giving of a notice of redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and 
ending at the close of business on the day of giving such notice, or (ii) to transfer or exchange 
any Bond so selected for redemption in whole or in part. 

SECTION 2.09. Persons Deemed Owners.  The Issuer, the Trustee, any Paying Agent, 
the Registrar, or the Authenticating Agent shall deem and treat the person in whose name any 
Bond is registered as the absolute Owner thereof (whether or not such Bond shall be overdue and 
notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing thereon made by anyone other than 
the Issuer, the Trustee, any Paying Agent, the Registrar or the Authenticating Agent) for the 
purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on such Bond, and for all other purposes, and the Issuer, the Trustee, any Paying Agent, 
the Registrar and the Authenticating Agent shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.  
All such payments so made to any such Owner, or upon his order, shall be valid and, to the 
extent of the sum or sums so paid, effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability for moneys 
payable upon any such Bond. 

SECTION 2.10. Limitation on Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness.  The Issuer will not 
issue Bonds of any Series, except upon the conditions and in the manner provided or as 
otherwise permitted in the Indenture, provided that the Issuer may enter into agreements with 
issuers of Credit Facilities which involve liens on Pledged Revenues on a parity with that of the 
Bonds or portion thereof which is supported by such Credit Facilities. 

SECTION 2.11. Qualification for The Depository Trust Company.  To the extent 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture or authorized and directed by a Resolution of the Issuer 
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall be authorized to enter into 
agreements with The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) and other 
depository trust companies, including, but not limited to, agreements necessary for wire transfers 
of interest and principal payments with respect to the Bonds, utilization of electronic book entry 

Page 240



 

19 

data received from DTC, and other depository trust companies in place of actual delivery of 
Bonds and provision of notices with respect to Bonds registered by DTC and other depository 
trust companies (or any of their designees identified to the Trustee) by overnight delivery, 
courier service, telegram, telecopy or other similar means of communication. 

So long as there shall be maintained a book-entry-only system with respect to a Series of 
Bonds, the following provisions shall apply: 

Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, 
each Series of Bonds shall initially be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC, 
which will act initially as securities depository for the Bonds and so long as the Bonds are held in 
book-entry-only form, Cede & Co. shall be considered the Registered Owner for all purposes 
hereof.  On original issue, such Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible 
for maintaining a book-entry-only system for recording the ownership interest of its participants 
(“Direct Participants”) and other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial 
relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  The 
Direct Participants and Indirect Participants will be responsible for maintaining records with 
respect to the beneficial ownership interests of individual purchasers of the Bonds (“Beneficial 
Owners”). 

Principal and interest on the Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. prior to and at 
maturity shall be payable directly to Cede & Co. in care of DTC without the need for 
presentment of such Bonds.  Disbursal of such amounts to Direct Participants shall be the 
responsibility of DTC.  Payments by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct 
Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct 
Participants and Indirect Participants and not of DTC, the Trustee or the Issuer. 

The Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. shall initially be issued in the form of 
one fully registered Bond for each maturity of each Series registered in the name of Cede & Co. 
and shall be held in such form until maturity.  Individuals may purchase beneficial interests in 
Authorized Denominations in book-entry-only form, without certificated Bonds, through DTC 
Participants and Indirect Participants. 

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICH CEDE & CO. IS REGISTERED OWNER OF 
THE BONDS, ANY NOTICES TO BE PROVIDED TO ANY REGISTERED OWNER WILL 
BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & CO. DTC SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICES TO 
DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND DIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
NOTICES TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND 
INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICES TO BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS. 

The Issuer and the Trustee, if appropriate, shall enter into a blanket letter of 
representations with DTC providing for such book-entry-only system.  Such agreement may be 
terminated at any time by either DTC or the Issuer.  In the event of such termination, the Issuer 
shall select another securities depository and in that event all references herein to DTC or Cede 
& Co. shall be deemed to be references to their respective successors.  If the Issuer does not 

Page 241



 

20 

replace DTC, the Trustee will register and deliver to the Beneficial Owners replacement Bonds 
in the form of fully registered Bonds in accordance with the instructions from Cede & Co. 

In the event DTC, any successor of DTC or the Issuer elects to discontinue the book-
entry only system in conformity with the requirements of DTC, the Trustee shall deliver bond 
certificates in accordance with the instructions from DTC or its successor and after such time 
Bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds in other Authorized 
Denominations and of the same maturity and Series upon surrender thereof at the corporate trust 
office of the Trustee. 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUE OF BONDS 

SECTION 3.01. Issue of Bonds.  Subject to the provisions of Section 2.01 hereof, the 
Issuer may issue one or more Series of Bonds hereunder and under Supplemental Indentures 
from time to time for the purpose of financing the Costs of acquisition or construction of the 
Project or to refund all or a portion of a Series of Bonds (and to pay the costs of the issuance of 
such Bonds and to pay the amounts required to be deposited with respect to such Bonds in the 
Funds and Accounts established under the Indenture).  In connection with the issuance of a 
Series of Bonds the Trustee shall, at the written request of the Issuer, authenticate the Bonds and 
deliver or cause them to be authenticated and delivered, as specified in the request, but only upon 
receipt of: 

(1) a Certified Resolution of the Issuer (a) approving a Supplemental Indenture under 
which the Series of Bonds are to be issued; (b) providing the terms of the Bonds and directing 
the payments to be made into the Funds and Accounts in respect thereof as provided in Article 
VI hereof; (c) authorizing the execution and delivery of the Series of Bonds to be issued; and (d) 
if the purpose is to effectuate a refunding, authorizing the redemption, if any, of the Bonds to be 
refunded and the defeasance thereof, and the execution and delivery of an escrow agreement, if 
applicable, and other matters contained in Article XIV hereof; 

(2) a written opinion or opinions of Counsel to the Issuer, to the effect that (a) all 
conditions prescribed herein as precedent to the issuance of the Bonds have been fulfilled; (b) the 
Bonds have been validly authorized and executed and when authenticated and delivered pursuant 
to the request of the Issuer will be valid obligations of the Issuer entitled to the benefit of the 
trust created hereby and will be enforceable in accordance with their terms except as 
enforcement thereof may be affected by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and 
other similar laws relating to creditors’ rights generally and subject to equitable principles, 
whether in a proceeding at law or in equity; (c) any consents of any Regulatory Bodies required 
in connection with the issuance of the Bonds have been obtained or can be reasonably expected 
to be obtained on or prior to the date such consents are required; and (d) if the acquisition of any 
real property or interest therein is included in the purpose of such issue, (i) the Issuer has or can 
acquire good and marketable title thereto free from all liens and encumbrances except such as 
will not materially interfere with the proposed use thereof or (ii) the Issuer has or can acquire a 
valid, subsisting and enforceable leasehold, easement, right-of-way or other interest in real 
property sufficient to effectuate the purpose of the issue (which opinion may be stated in reliance 
on the opinion of other Counsel satisfactory to the signer or on a title insurance policy issued by 

Page 242



 

21 

a reputable title company) (clauses (c) and (d) shall not apply in the case of the issuance of a 
refunding Series of Bonds); and (e) whether a certificate described in Section 3.01(13) hereof is 
required to be delivered and that such certificate conforms to the requirements of such section; 

(3) an opinion of Counsel to the Issuer, which shall also be addressed to the Trustee, 
to the effect that:  (a) the Issuer has good right and lawful authority under the Act to undertake 
the Project, subject to obtaining such licenses, orders or other authorizations as are, at the date of 
such opinion, required to be obtained from any agency or regulatory body; (b) the Special 
Assessment proceedings have been taken in accordance with Florida law and that the Issuer has 
taken all action necessary to levy and impose the Special Assessments; (c) the Special 
Assessments are legal, valid, and binding liens upon the property against which the Special 
Assessments are made, coequal with the lien of all state, county, district and municipal ad 
valorem taxes and superior in priority to all other liens, titles and claims against said property 
then existing or thereafter created, until paid; (d) this Master Indenture and the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture have been duly and validly authorized, approved, and executed by the 
Issuer; (e) the issuance of the Series of Bonds has been duly authorized and approved by the 
Board; and (f) this Master Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture (assuming due 
authorization, execution and delivery by the Trustee) constitutes a binding obligation of the 
Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with its terms except as enforcement thereof 
may be affected by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and other similar laws 
relating to creditors’ rights generally and subject to equitable principles, whether in a proceeding 
at law or in equity; 

(4) a Consulting Engineer’s certificate addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee setting 
forth the estimated cost of the Project, and in the case of an acquisition by the Issuer of all or a 
portion of the Project that has been completed, stating, in the signer’s opinion, (a) that the 
portion of the Project improvements to be acquired from the proceeds of such Bonds have been 
completed in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor; (b) to the best of his 
knowledge, the Project improvements are constructed in a sound workmanlike manner and in 
accordance with industry standards; (c) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the Project 
improvements is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market value of such improvements and 
(ii) the actual Costs of construction of such components of the Project; and (d) the plans and 
specifications for the Project improvements have been approved by all Regulatory Bodies 
required to approve them (specifying such Regulatory Bodies) or such approval can reasonably 
be expected to be obtained; provided, however, that in lieu of the information required in clause 
(a), there may be delivered to the Trustee satisfactory evidence of the acceptance of operational 
and maintenance responsibility of each component of the Project by one or more governmental 
entities (the foregoing shall not be applicable in the case of the issuance of a refunding Series of 
Bonds); 

(5) a copy of the Supplemental Indenture for such Bonds, certified by the Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Issuer as being a true and correct copy thereof; 

(6) the proceeds of the sale of such Bonds together with any required equity deposit 
by a Landowner or other third party; 

(7) any Credit Facility authorized by the Issuer in respect to such Bonds; 

Page 243



 

22 

(8) one or more Certified Resolutions of the Issuer relating to the levy of Special 
Assessments in respect of the Project, and evidencing that the Issuer has undertaken and, to the 
extent then required under applicable law, completed all necessary proceedings, including, 
without limitation, the approval of assessment rolls, the holding of public hearings, the adoption 
of resolutions and the establishment of all necessary collection procedures, in order to levy and 
collect Special Assessments upon the District Lands in an amount sufficient to pay the Debt 
Service Requirement on the Bonds to be issued; 

(9) an executed opinion of Bond Counsel; 

(10) a written direction of the Issuer to the Trustee to authenticate and deliver such 
Bonds;  

(11) a copy of a Final Judgment of validation and a Certificate of No Appeal with 
respect to the Bonds that are subject to validation; 

(12) a collateral assignment from the developer(s) of the District Lands to the Issuer of 
the Project Documents;  

(13) in the case of the issuance of a refunding Series of Bonds, an Officer’s  Certificate 
of the Issuer stating:  (a) the intended use of the proceeds of the refunding Series of Bonds; (b) 
the Bonds to be refunded; (c) any other amounts available for such purpose; (d) that the proceeds 
of the issue plus the other amounts, if any, stated to be available for the purpose will be sufficient 
to refund the Bonds to be refunded in accordance with the refunding plan and in compliance with 
Article XIV of this Master Indenture, including, without limitation, to pay the Costs of issuance 
of such Bonds, and (e) that notice of redemption, if applicable, of the Bonds to be refunded has 
been duly given or that provision has been made therefor, as applicable; 

(14) in the case of the issuance of a refunding Series of Bonds, a written opinion of 
Bond Counsel to the effect that the issuance of such Bonds will not adversely affect the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on any Bonds issued 
pursuant to the Indenture (to the extent that upon original issuance thereof such Bonds were 
issued as Bonds the interest on which is excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes); and 

(15) such other documents, certifications and opinions as shall be required by the 
Supplemental Indenture, by the Participating Underwriter or the initial purchaser of a Series of 
Bonds or by the Issuer or the Trustee upon advice of counsel. 

Page 244



 

23 

At the option of the Issuer, any or all of the matters required to be stated in the Certified 
Resolution described in (1) above may instead be stated in a Supplemental Indenture, duly 
approved by a Certified Resolution of the Issuer.  Execution of a Series of the Bonds by the 
Issuer and payment to the Trustee of the net proceeds from the original issuance of the Series of 
Bonds shall be conclusive evidence of satisfaction of the conditions precedent, set forth in this 
Article, as to the Issuer, the Participating Underwriter and the initial purchaser of the respective 
Series of Bonds. 

ARTICLE IV 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01. Project to Conform to Plans and Specifications; Changes.  The Issuer 
will proceed to complete any Project or portion thereof for which any Series of Bonds is being 
issued in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor, as such plans and specifications 
may be amended from time to time, and subject to the specific requirements of the Supplemental 
Indenture for such Series of Bonds. 

SECTION 4.02. Compliance Requirements.  The Issuer will comply with all present 
and future laws, acts, rules, regulations, orders and requirements lawfully made and applicable in 
fact to any acquisition or construction hereby undertaken and shall obtain all necessary approvals 
under federal, state and local laws, acts, rules and regulations necessary for the acquisition, 
completion and operation of any Project or portion thereof for which any Series of Bonds is 
being issued and shall complete any Project or portion thereof in conformity with such 
approvals, laws, rules and regulations.  Prior to the completion of the Project, in the event that 
any developer of the District Lands shall fail to pay, when due, any Special Assessments levied 
against lands within the Issuer owned by the developer or any affiliated entity thereof, the Issuer 
shall immediately take all actions necessary, to the extent revenues of the Issuer are legally 
available for such purpose, to complete the Project including, without limitation, taking control 
of the Project Documents. 

ARTICLE V 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND 

SECTION 5.01. Acquisition and Construction Fund.  The Trustee shall establish an 
Acquisition and Construction Fund into which shall be deposited the proceeds from each Series 
of Bonds issued under the Indenture (unless otherwise specified herein or in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture for a Series of Bonds) and from which Costs may be paid as set forth 
herein and in the applicable Supplemental Indenture.  Unless otherwise specified in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture, a separate Series Account shall be established in the 
Acquisition and Construction Fund with respect to each Series of Bonds issued hereunder and 
the proceeds of each Series of Bonds (other than Bonds issued to refund all or a portion of the 
Bonds) shall be deposited into the corresponding Series Account in the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund.  The amounts in any Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction 
Fund, until applied as hereinafter provided, shall be held for the security of the Series of Bonds 
hereunder in respect of which such Series Account was established.  Separate subaccounts within 
any Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be maintained by the Trustee 

Page 245



 

24 

in respect of each Series of Bonds upon request of the Issuer whenever, in the opinion of the 
Issuer, it is appropriate to have a separate written accounting in respect of the Costs of any 
designated portion of the Project.  Payments shall be made from the appropriate Series Account 
of the Acquisition and Construction Fund to pay any unpaid Costs of Issuance of the Series of 
Bonds in question, including without limitation, legal, engineering, and consultants’ fees and to 
pay amounts to be reimbursed to the Issuer for Costs advanced, and thereafter to pay Costs of 
planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, equipping and installation of the 
Project or portion thereof. 

(a) Deposits.  In addition to the deposit of amounts received by the Trustee on the date 
of issuance of each Series of Bonds, the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee, for 
deposit into the Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund, as promptly as 
practicable, the following amounts: 

(i) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.23 hereof, payments made to the 
Issuer from the sale, lease or other disposition of the Project or any portion thereof; 

(ii) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.14 hereof, the balance of insurance 
proceeds with respect to the loss or destruction of the Project or any portion thereof;  

(iii) Deposits made by any developer of the District Lands pursuant to the 
terms and provisions of a developer funding agreement; and 

(iv) Amounts received from a governmental entity pursuant to an interlocal 
agreement or other similar agreement between the District and such governmental entity 
providing for the payment by such governmental entity of a portion of the Costs of the 
Project. 

Amounts in the applicable Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be 
applied to pay the Cost of the Project or a portion thereof, as applicable, pertaining to the Series 
of Bonds in question; provided, however, that if any amounts remain in the Series Account of the 
Acquisition and Construction Fund after the Completion Date (as defined in paragraph (c) 
below) of the Project or portion thereof pertaining to the Series of Bonds in question, and if such 
amounts are not reserved for payment of any remaining part of the Cost of the Project as directed 
in writing by the Issuer, such amounts shall be transferred to the applicable Series Account of the 
Bond Redemption Fund for application to the redemption of Bonds of the Series to which such 
proceeds relate, as set forth in Section 6.06 hereof or in the applicable Supplemental Indenture. 

(b) Disbursements.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture, all 
payments from the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be paid in accordance with the 
provisions of this subsection.  Moneys in the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund shall be disbursed by check, voucher, order, draft, certificate or warrant 
signed by any one or more officers or employees of the Trustee legally authorized to sign such 
items or by wire transfer to an account specified by the payee upon satisfaction of the conditions 
for disbursement set forth in this subsection (b).  Before any such payment shall be made, the 
Issuer shall file with the Trustee a fully executed requisition in the form of Exhibit D attached 
hereto, signed by a Responsible Officer and, except for payments of cost of issuance, a certificate 

Page 246



 

25 

of the Consulting Engineer signed by a consulting engineer also in the form of Exhibit D 
attached hereto and as may be modified by terms of the related Supplemental Indenture.  Upon 
receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate, the Trustee shall promptly 
withdraw from the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund and pay 
to the person, firm or corporation named in such requisition the amount designated in such 
requisition.  The Trustee shall have no duty to investigate the accuracy or validity of the items 
delivered pursuant to this section.  All requisitions and certificates received by the Trustee 
pursuant to this Section 5.01 shall be retained in the possession of the Trustee, subject at all 
reasonable times to the inspection of the Issuer, the Consulting Engineer, the Owner of any 
Bonds, and the agents and representatives thereof.  The Trustee shall have no duty to verify that 
the disbursement of funds pursuant to a requisition is for a purpose for which payment may be 
made hereunder and the Trustee may conclusively rely that a properly signed requisition is, on its 
face, sufficient to disburse funds from the Acquisition and Construction Fund. 

(c) Completion of Project.  On the date of completion of the Project or if sufficient 
moneys are retained in the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund, 
to complete the Cost of the Project, in either case, as evidenced by the delivery of a Certificate of 
the Consulting Engineer to the Trustee and adoption of a resolution by the Board accepting the 
Project as provided by Section 170.09, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Completion Date”), 
the balance in the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund not 
reserved by the Issuer for the payment of any remaining part of the Cost of the Project shall be 
transferred by the Trustee to, and deposited in, the applicable Series Account of the Bond 
Redemption Fund and applied as provided in Section 6.06 hereof and in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture. 

ARTICLE VI 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 

APPLICATION THEREOF TO FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

SECTION 6.01. Special Assessments; Lien of Indenture on Pledged Revenues.  The 
Issuer hereby covenants that it shall levy Special Assessments in the amount necessary to pay the 
Debt Service Requirement on Bonds issued and Outstanding hereunder, and, unless provided 
otherwise with respect to a Series of Bonds, evidence and certify the same to the Tax Collector 
or cause the Property Appraiser to certify the same on the tax roll to the Tax Collector for 
collection by the Tax Collector and enforcement by the Tax Collector or the Issuer,  pursuant to 
the Act, Chapter 170 or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes, as applicable. 

The Issuer shall, within five (5) Business Days of receipt thereof, pay to the Trustee for 
deposit in the Series Account of the Revenue Fund established under Section 6.03 hereof all 
Special Assessments received by the Issuer from the levy thereof on the District Lands subject to 
assessments for the payment of the related Series of Bonds; provided, however, that amounts 
received as Prepayments of Special Assessments shall be deposited directly into the applicable 
Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund established hereunder or in any account 
thereof established pursuant to the applicable Supplemental Indenture.  The Issuer shall notify 
the Trustee in writing at the time of deposit of any amounts received as Prepayments of Special 
Assessments and shall identify the related Series of Bonds.  If necessary, the Issuer shall direct 

Page 247



 

26 

the Landowner making such prepayment to specify what Series of Bonds such prepayments 
relate. 

There are hereby pledged for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on all Bonds of each Series issued and Outstanding under the Indenture and all 
reimbursements due to any Credit Facility Issuer for any drawing with respect to such Series of 
Bonds on its Credit Facility, including, without limitation, interest thereon, as required under the 
terms of the applicable Credit Facility Agreement, the Pledged Revenues; provided, however, 
that unless otherwise specifically provided herein or in a Supplemental Indenture relating to a 
Series of Bonds with respect to the Pledged Revenues securing such Series of Bonds, the 
Pledged Revenues securing a Series of Bonds shall secure only such Series of Bonds and Bonds 
issued on a parity therewith and shall not secure any other Bonds or Series of Bonds.  The 
Pledged Revenues shall immediately be subject to the lien and pledge of the Indenture without 
any physical delivery hereof or further act; provided, however, that the lien and pledge of the 
Indenture shall not apply to any moneys transferred by the Trustee to the Rebate Fund.  The 
foregoing notwithstanding, to the extent provided in the  Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of a Series of Bonds, such Series of Bonds may be made payable from and secured by 
less than all of the Pledged Revenues, and any one or more of the provisions of this Master 
Indenture may be made inapplicable to such Series of Bonds, all as more specifically provided in 
the corresponding Supplemental Indenture; provided, however, that any such provisions shall 
apply only to the particular Series of Bonds authorized by such Supplemental Indenture and shall 
not affect in any manner whatsoever any Outstanding Series of Bonds. 

SECTION 6.02. Funds and Accounts Relating to the Bonds.  The Funds and Accounts 
specified in this Article VI shall be established under this Master Indenture and each 
Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which a Series of Bonds is issued for the benefit of the 
specific Series of Bonds issued pursuant to such Supplemental Indenture and any Series issued 
on a parity therewith and, unless expressly otherwise provided in said Supplemental Indenture, 
shall not apply to Bonds Outstanding hereunder issued under any other indenture supplemental 
hereto or separately secured hereunder by separate Special Assessments.  Unless provided 
otherwise by Supplemental Indenture, all moneys, including, without limitation, proceeds of a 
Series of Bonds, on deposit to the credit of the Funds and Accounts established hereunder and 
under a Supplemental Indenture (except for moneys transferred to the Rebate Fund) shall be 
pledged to the payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price of (as the case may be) 
and interest on the Series of Bonds issued hereunder and under such Supplemental Indenture, 
and any Series issued on a parity therewith. 

SECTION 6.03. Revenue Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Revenue Fund and pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture a Series Account for each 
Series of Bonds issued hereunder, into which the Trustee shall immediately deposit any and all 
Special Assessments received from the levy thereof on the District Lands or any portion thereof 
(other than Prepayments) and any amounts received as the result of any foreclosure, sale of tax 
certificates or other remedial action for nonpayment of Special Assessments for the payment of 
the related Series of Bonds and other payments required hereunder or under the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture (unless such Special Assessments and/or other payments are specifically 
designated by the Issuer pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture for deposit into the Rebate Fund 
or any other Fund or Account established hereunder or under a Supplemental Indenture) and 

Page 248



 

27 

each Series Account therein shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds 
and Accounts held under the Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee.  The Trustee 
shall transfer from amounts on deposit in the Series Account in the Revenue Fund to the Funds 
and Accounts designated below, the following amounts, at the following times and in the 
following order of priority unless other times and/or priorities are established in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds: 

FIRST, upon receipt but no later than the Business Day preceding the first May 1 
for which there is an insufficient amount from Bond proceeds (or investment earnings 
thereon) on deposit in the applicable Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund to 
be applied to the payment of interest on the Bonds of a Series due on the next succeeding 
May 1, and no later than the Business Day next preceding each May 1 thereafter while 
Bonds of a Series issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series 
Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the interest on the related 
Series of Bonds becoming due on the next succeeding May 1, less any amount on deposit 
in such Interest Account not previously credited;  

SECOND, beginning on the date set forth in the related Supplemental Indenture, 
and no later than the Business Day next preceding each May 1 or November 1, as 
designated in the applicable Supplemental Indenture thereafter while Bonds of a Series 
issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series Principal 
Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the principal amount of Bonds of 
such Series maturing on the next succeeding principal payment date, less any amount on 
deposit in the applicable Series Principal Account not previously credited; 

THIRD, beginning on the date set forth in the related Supplemental Indenture, and 
no later than the Business Day next preceding each May 1 or November 1, as so 
designated in the applicable Supplemental Indenture thereafter while Bonds of a Series 
issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series Sinking Fund 
Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the principal amount of Bonds of 
such Series subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on the next succeeding 
mandatory sinking fund redemption date, less any amount on deposit in the applicable 
Series Sinking Fund Account not previously credited; 

FOURTH, upon receipt but no later than the Business Day preceding the first 
November 1 for which there remains an insufficient amount from Bond proceeds (or 
investment earnings thereon) on deposit in the applicable Series Interest Account to be 
applied to the payment of interest on the Bonds of a Series due on the next succeeding 
November 1, and no later than the Business Day next preceding each November 1 
thereafter while Bonds of such Series issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to 
the applicable Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the 
interest on the Bonds of such Series becoming due on the next succeeding November 1, 
less any amount on deposit in the applicable Series Interest Account not previously 
credited; 

FIFTH, upon receipt but no later than the Business Day next preceding each 
Interest Payment Date while Bonds of a Series issued under the Indenture remain 

Page 249



 

28 

Outstanding, to the applicable Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, if any, 
an amount equal to the amount, if any, which is necessary to make the amount on deposit 
therein equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement; and 

SIXTH, subject to the following paragraph, the balance of any moneys remaining 
in a Series Account of the Revenue Fund after making the foregoing deposits shall 
remain therein. 

Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall retain any 
moneys held for the credit of the Revenue Fund which are not otherwise required to be deposited 
pursuant to this Section and apply such amounts on subsequent dates for the purposes and in the 
priority set forth above.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if pursuant to any Arbitrage Certificate 
it is necessary to make a deposit in the Rebate Fund, the Issuer shall direct the Trustee to make 
such deposit thereto.  Prepayments pledged to a particular Series of Bonds shall be deposited 
directly into the applicable Series Account of the Bond Redemption Fund as provided herein. 

SECTION 6.04. Debt Service Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Debt Service Fund which shall consist of amounts deposited therein by the Trustee 
and any other amounts the Issuer may pay to the Trustee for deposit therein with respect to the 
related Series of Bonds.  The Debt Service Fund shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart 
from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and from all other moneys of the 
Trustee.  The Trustee shall establish within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to a Supplemental 
Indenture, a Series Principal Account, a Series Interest Account and, if applicable, a Series 
Sinking Fund Account for each Series of Bonds and a Series Capitalized Interest Account, which 
accounts shall be separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts established under the 
Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee. 

The Trustee at all times shall make available to any Paying Agent the funds in the Series 
Principal Account and the Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund to pay the principal 
of the applicable Series of Bonds as they mature upon surrender thereof and the interest on the 
applicable Series of Bonds as it becomes payable, respectively.  When a Series of Bonds is 
redeemed, the amount, if any, in the Debt Service Fund representing interest thereon shall be 
applied to the payment of accrued interest in connection with such redemption. 

The Trustee shall apply moneys in the Series Sinking Fund Account in the Debt Service 
Fund for purchase or redemption of the applicable Series of Bonds in amounts and maturities set 
forth in the Supplemental Indenture.  Whenever Bonds of a Series are to be purchased out of 
such Series Sinking Fund Account, if the Issuer shall notify the Trustee in writing that the Issuer 
wishes to arrange for such purchase, the Trustee shall comply with the Issuer’s arrangements 
provided they conform to the Indenture. 

Except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a 
Series of Bonds, purchases and redemptions out of the Series Sinking Fund Account shall be 
made as follows: 

(a) The Trustee shall apply the amounts required to be transferred to the Series 
Sinking Fund Account (less any moneys applied to the purchase of Bonds of the applicable 

Page 250



 

29 

Series pursuant to the next sentence hereof) on the mandatory sinking fund redemption date in 
each of the years set forth in the Supplemental Indenture to the redemption of Bonds of the 
related Series in the amounts, manner and maturities and on the dates set forth in the 
Supplemental Indenture, at a Redemption Price of 100% of the principal amount thereof.  At the 
written direction of the Issuer, the Trustee shall apply moneys from time to time available in the 
Series Sinking Fund Account to the purchase of Bonds of the applicable Series which mature in 
the aforesaid years, at prices not higher than the principal amount thereof, in lieu of redemption 
as aforesaid, provided that firm purchase commitments can be made before the notice of 
redemption would otherwise be required to be given.  In the event of purchases at less than the 
principal amount thereof, the difference between the amount in the Series Sinking Fund Account 
representing the principal amount of the Bonds so purchased and the purchase price thereof 
(exclusive of accrued interest) shall be transferred to the related Series Interest Account of the 
Debt Service Fund. 

(b) Accrued interest on purchased Bonds of a Series shall be paid from the related 
Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund.  

(c) In lieu of paying the Debt Service Requirements necessary to allow any 
mandatory redemption of Bonds of a Series from the related Series Sinking Fund Account, the 
Issuer may present to the Trustee Bonds of such Series purchased by the Issuer pursuant to 
subparagraph (a) above and furnished for such purposes; provided, however, that no Bonds of 
such Series so purchased shall be credited towards the Debt Service Requirements in respect of 
the mandatory redemption of Bonds of such Series for which notice of redemption has been 
given pursuant to Section 8.02 of this Master Indenture.  Any Bond so purchased shall be 
presented to the Trustee for cancellation.  In such event, the Debt Service Requirements with 
respect to the Bonds of a Series for the period in which the purchased Bonds are presented to the 
Trustee shall, for all purposes hereunder, be reduced by an amount equal to the aggregate 
principal amount of any such Bonds so presented.  

SECTION 6.05. Debt Service Reserve Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and 
directed to establish a Debt Service Reserve Fund and, if applicable, pursuant to a Supplemental 
Indenture a Series Account for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder.  The Debt Service 
Reserve Fund and each Series Account therein shall be held by the Trustee solely for the benefit 
of each related Series of Bonds or sub-Series, as determined by the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Master Indenture, the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds may 
provide that the Debt Service Reserve Fund is not applicable and no account therein shall secure 
such Series of Bonds.  The Debt Service Reserve Fund and each Series Account therein shall 
constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set forth herein and shall be held by 
the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and 
from all other moneys of the Trustee.  Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds, on the date of issuance and delivery of a Series of 
Bonds an amount of Bond proceeds or equity equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement in 
respect of such Series of Bonds, calculated as of the date of issuance and delivery of such Series 
of Bonds, shall be deposited in the related Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund.  
Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, and 
as long as there exists no default under the Indenture and the amount in the Series Account of the 

Page 251



 

30 

Debt Service Reserve Fund is not reduced below the then applicable Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement with respect to such Series of Bonds, earnings on investments in the Series Account 
of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall, prior to the Completion Date of a Project, be transferred 
to the applicable Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund, and after the 
Completion Date, shall be transferred, at the written direction of the Issuer, to the related Series 
Account of the Revenue Fund.  Otherwise, earnings on investments in each Series Account of 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be retained therein until applied as set forth herein.  Unless 
otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, in the event that the amount in a Series Account 
of the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with respect to 
such Series of Bonds due to a decrease in the then applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement 
as a result of a Prepayment of Special Assessments, which Special Assessments are pledged for 
the payment and security of such Series of Bonds, the excess amount shall be transferred from 
the Series Account or Subaccount of the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the applicable Series 
Account of the Bond Redemption Fund established for such Series of Bonds and shall constitute 
a credit against such Prepayment.  In the event that the amount in a Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series 
of Bonds due to a decrease in the then applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any 
other reason, the excess amount shall, unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture 
with respect to a Series of Bonds, be transferred from the Series Account of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund to the related Series Account or subaccount of the Bond Redemption Fund.   

Whenever for any reason on an Interest Payment Date, principal payment date or 
mandatory redemption date with respect to a related Series of Bonds secured by a Series Account 
of the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount in the related Series Interest Account, the related 
Series Principal Account or the related Series Sinking Fund Account, as the case may be, is 
insufficient to pay all amounts payable on such Series of Bonds therefrom on such payment 
dates, the Trustee shall, without further instructions, but subject to contrary direction by the 
Majority Holder of the Bonds to which such Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
relates, transfer the amount of any such deficiency from the related Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund into the related Series Interest Account, the related Series Principal 
Account and the related Series Sinking Fund Account, as the case may be, with priority to the 
related Series Interest Account and then, proportionately according to the respective deficiencies 
therein, to the related Series Principal Account and the related Series Sinking Fund Account, to 
be applied to pay the Series of Bonds secured by the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if permitted by the terms of the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture, in lieu of the required deposits into the related Series Account of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund, the Issuer may cause to be deposited into the Series Account of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund a Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit, 
either in lieu of any cash amount required to be deposited therein in connection with the issuance 
of any Series of Bonds or in substitution for the full amounts then on deposit therein or in an 
amount equal to the difference between the amount required to be deposited and the sum, if any, 
then on deposit in the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, which Debt Service 
Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit shall be payable (upon the 
giving of notice as required thereunder) on any Interest Payment Date or principal payment date 
on which a deficiency exists which cannot be remedied by moneys in any other Fund or Account 

Page 252



 

31 

held pursuant to the Indenture and available for such purpose.  Unless otherwise provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, if any such Debt Service Reserve 
Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit is substituted for moneys on deposit in 
the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, or if at any time there are excess moneys 
in the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the excess moneys in the Series 
Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be transferred to and deposited in the related 
Series Account or Subaccount of the Revenue Fund.  If a disbursement is made from a Debt 
Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit, the Issuer shall be 
obligated to either reinstate the maximum limits of such Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy 
or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit immediately following such disbursement or to deposit 
into the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, as provided in the Indenture for 
restoration of withdrawals from the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, funds in 
the amount of the disbursement made under such Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt 
Service Reserve Letter of Credit. 

In the event that upon the occurrence of any deficiency in a Series Interest Account, a 
Series Principal Account or a Series Sinking Fund Account, the Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund is then funded with a Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt 
Service Reserve Insurance Policy, the Trustee shall, on an Interest Payment Date or principal 
payment date or mandatory redemption date to which such deficiency relates, draw upon the 
Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or cause to be paid under the Debt Service Reserve 
Insurance Policy an amount sufficient to remedy such deficiency, in accordance with the terms 
and provisions of the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance 
Policy, as applicable, and any corresponding reimbursement or other agreement governing the 
Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy; provided, 
however, that if at the time of such deficiency the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund is only partially funded with a Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service 
Reserve Insurance Policy, prior to drawing on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt 
Service Reserve Insurance Policy, as applicable, the Trustee shall first apply any cash and 
securities on deposit in the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund to remedy the 
deficiency in accordance with the second paragraph of this Section 6.05 and, if after such 
application a deficiency still exists, the Trustee shall make up the balance of the deficiency by 
drawing on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy, 
as provided in this sentence.  Amounts drawn on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or 
Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy, as applicable, shall be applied as set forth in the second 
paragraph of this Section 6.05.  Any amounts drawn under a Debt Service Reserve Letter of 
Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy shall be reimbursed to the issuer thereof in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of the reimbursement or other agreement governing 
such Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy. 

SECTION 6.06. Bond Redemption Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and 
directed to establish a Bond Redemption Fund and a Series Account therein for each Series of 
Bonds issued hereunder into which shall be deposited moneys, unless otherwise provided in a 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, in the amounts and at the times 
provided in Sections 5.01, 6.01, 6.03, 6.05, 9.08(d) and 9.14(c) of this Master Indenture.  The 
Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund shall constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be 
applied solely as set forth in the applicable Supplemental Indenture for the related Series of 

Page 253



 

32 

Bonds and shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts 
held under such Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee.  All earnings on investments 
held in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund shall be retained therein and 
applied as set forth below. 

Moneys in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund (including all earnings 
on investments held in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund) shall be 
accumulated therein to be used in the following order of priority, to the extent that the need 
therefor arises: 

FIRST, to make such deposits into the Rebate Fund created and established under 
this Master Indenture as the Issuer may direct in accordance with an arbitrage rebate 
agreement, such moneys thereupon to be used solely for the purposes specified in said 
arbitrage rebate agreement.  Any moneys so transferred from the Series Account within 
the Bond Redemption Fund to the Rebate Fund shall thereupon be free from the lien and 
pledge of the related Indenture; 

SECOND, to be used to call for redemption pursuant to clause (b) of Section 8.01 
hereof an amount of Bonds of the applicable Series equal to the amount of money 
transferred to the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund pursuant to the 
aforesaid clauses or provisions, as appropriate, for the purpose of such extraordinary 
mandatory redemption on the dates and at the prices provided in such clauses or 
provisions, as appropriate; and 

THIRD, the remainder to be utilized by the Trustee, at the direction of a 
Responsible Officer, to call for redemption on each Interest Payment Date or other date 
on which Bonds of the applicable Series are subject to optional redemption pursuant to 
Section 8.01(a) hereof such amount of Bonds of the applicable Series as, with the 
redemption premium, may be practicable; provided, however, that not less than Five 
Thousand Dollars ($5,000) principal amount of Bonds of the applicable Series shall be 
called for redemption at one time. 

Any such redemption shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Article VIII of 
this Master Indenture and the applicable provisions of the related Supplemental Indenture.  The 
Issuer shall pay all expenses in connection with such redemption. 

SECTION 6.07. Drawings on Credit Facility.  With respect to Bonds in respect of 
which there has been issued a Credit Facility, the Trustee shall draw on the Credit Facility, in 
accordance with the provisions for drawing under such Credit Facility, and within the requisite 
time period, all as set forth in the Credit Facility Agreement or the Supplemental Indenture. 

SECTION 6.08. Procedure When Funds Are Sufficient to Pay All Bonds of a Series.  
Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, if at 
any time the moneys held by the Trustee in the Funds (other than the moneys in the Rebate 
Fund) and Accounts hereunder and under a Supplemental Indenture and available therefor are 
sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of, as the case may be, and interest on all 
Bonds of a Series then Outstanding under such Indenture to maturity or prior redemption, 

Page 254



 

33 

together with any amounts due the Issuer and the Trustee, Paying Agent, Registrar and Credit 
Facility Issuer, if any, the Trustee, at the direction of the Issuer, shall apply the amounts in the 
Series Funds and Series Accounts to the payment of the aforesaid obligations and the Issuer shall 
not be required to pay over any further Pledged Revenues with respect to such Series of Bonds 
unless and until it shall appear that there is a deficiency in the Funds and Accounts held by the 
Trustee. 

SECTION 6.09. Certain Moneys to Be Held for Series Bondholders Only.  Each Series 
of Bonds issued pursuant to this Master Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture shall 
be secured by Pledged Revenues, as set forth herein, and otherwise may be secured by such 
additional Funds and Accounts and other security (including, but not limited to, Credit Facilities) 
established by the pertinent Supplemental Indenture.  Moneys and investments in the various 
Funds and Accounts created under a Supplemental Indenture expressly and solely for the benefit 
of the Series of Bonds issued under such Supplemental Indenture shall be held in trust by the 
Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of, and Credit Facility Issuer with respect to, Bonds of that 
Series only. 

SECTION 6.10. Unclaimed Moneys.  In the event any Bond shall not be presented for 
payment when the principal of such Bond becomes due, either at maturity or at the date fixed for 
redemption of such Bond or otherwise, if amounts sufficient to pay such Bond have been 
deposited with the Trustee for the benefit of the owner of the Bond and have remained unclaimed 
for two (2) years after the date payment thereof becomes due shall, upon request of the Issuer, if 
the Issuer is not at the time to the actual knowledge of a Responsible Officer of the Trustee in 
default with respect to any covenant in this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the 
Bonds contained, be paid to the Issuer; and the Owners of the Bonds for which the deposit was 
made shall thereafter be limited to a claim against the Issuer; provided, however, that the 
Trustee, before making payment to the Issuer, may, at the expense of the Issuer, cause a notice to 
be published in an Authorized Newspaper, stating that the money remaining unclaimed will be 
returned to the Issuer after a specified date. 

SECTION 6.11. Rebate Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Rebate Fund.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee 
shall transfer monies from the applicable Series Account in the Revenue Fund and deposit the 
same to the Rebate Fund, and shall make payments therefrom at the times and in the amounts as 
directed by the Issuer in writing that are required to comply with the covenants in the applicable 
Arbitrage Certificate.  If so directed by the Issuer in writing, the Trustee shall create one or more 
Series Accounts within the Rebate Fund relating to one or more particular Series of Bonds. 

(a) All amounts held in the Rebate Fund shall be governed by this Section and the 
applicable Arbitrage Certificate.  The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on the rebate calculations 
obtained from the rebate analyst retained by the Issuer pursuant to any Arbitrage Certificate and 
the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any good faith action 
taken or omitted to be taken by the Issuer in reliance upon such calculations. 

(b) Pursuant to the applicable Arbitrage Certificate, the Trustee shall remit all rebate 
installments and a final rebate payment to the United States.  The Trustee shall have no 
obligation to pay any amounts required to be rebated pursuant to this Section and the applicable 

Page 255



 

34 

Arbitrage Certificate, other than at the direction of the Issuer and from moneys held in the 
Rebate Fund or from other moneys provided to it by the Issuer.  Any moneys remaining in the 
Rebate Fund after redemption and payment of all of the Bonds and payment and satisfaction of 
any arbitrage rebate shall be withdrawn and paid to the Issuer. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, including in particular 
Article XIV hereof, the obligation to pay arbitrage rebate to the United States and to comply with 
all other requirements of this Section and the Arbitrage Certificate shall survive the defeasance 
or payment in full of the Bonds. 

(d) The Trustee shall not be deemed to have constructive knowledge of the Code or 
regulations, rulings and judicial decisions concerning the Code. 

ARTICLE VII 
SECURITY FOR AND INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT OF FUNDS 

SECTION 7.01. Deposits and Security Therefor.  Unless otherwise provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, all moneys received by the Trustee 
under a Supplemental Indenture for deposit in any Fund or Account established under this 
Master Indenture or such Supplemental Indenture shall be considered trust funds, shall not be 
subject to lien or attachment, except for the lien created by this Master Indenture and the related 
Supplemental Indenture, and shall be deposited with the Trustee, until or unless invested or 
deposited as provided in Section 7.02 hereof.  All deposits of moneys received by the Trustee 
under this Master Indenture or such Supplemental Indenture (whether original deposits under this 
Section 7.01 or deposits or redeposits in time accounts under Section 7.02) shall, to the extent 
not insured, and to the extent permitted by law, be fully secured as to both principal and interest 
earned, by Investment Securities of the types set forth in the definition of Investment Securities 
and the provisions thereof provided, however, the foregoing shall not apply to Investment 
Securities of the types specified in (b) and (e) of the definition of Investment Securities.  If at any 
time the Trustee is unwilling to accept such deposits or unable to secure them as provided above, 
the Trustee may deposit such moneys with any other depository which is authorized to receive 
them and the deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(including the FDIC Savings Association Insurance Fund).  All deposits in any other depository 
in excess of the amount covered by insurance (whether under this Section 7.01 or Section 7.02 as 
aforesaid) shall, except for investments of the type specified on (b) and (e) of the definition of 
Investment Securities, to the extent permitted by law, be fully secured as to both principal and 
interest earned, in the same manner as required herein for deposits with the Trustee.  Such 
security shall be deposited with a Federal Reserve Bank, with the trust department of the Trustee 
as authorized by law with respect to trust funds in the State, or with a bank or trust company 
having a combined net capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000. 

SECTION 7.02. Investment or Deposit of Funds.  The Trustee shall, as directed by the 
Issuer in writing, invest moneys held in the Series Accounts in the Debt Service Fund and any 
Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund created under any Supplemental Indenture 
only in Investment Securities unless the applicable Supplemental Indenture provides for alternate 
investments.  Except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect 
to a Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall, as directed by the Issuer in writing, invest moneys held in 

Page 256



 

35 

any Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund in Investment Securities.  All deposits in 
time accounts shall be subject to withdrawal without penalty and all investments shall mature or 
be subject to redemption by the holder without penalty, not later than the date when the amounts 
will foreseeably be needed for purposes set forth herein or in the Supplemental Indenture with 
respect to a Series of Bonds.  All securities securing investments under this Section shall be 
deposited with a Federal Reserve Bank, with the trust department of the Trustee, as authorized 
by law with respect to trust funds in the State, or with a bank or trust company having a 
combined net capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000.  The interest and income received 
upon such investments and any interest paid by the Trustee or any other depository of any Fund 
or Account and any profit or loss resulting from the sale of securities shall be added or charged 
to the Fund or Account for which such investments are made; provided, however, that if the 
amount in any Fund or Account equals or exceeds the amount required to be on deposit therein, 
subject to Section 6.05 of this Master Indenture and unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, any interest and other income so received shall be 
deposited in the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund.  Upon written request of the Issuer, 
or on its own initiative whenever payment is to be made out of any Fund or Account, the Trustee 
shall sell such securities as may be requested to make the payment and restore the proceeds to 
the Fund or Account in which the securities were held.  The Trustee shall not be accountable for 
any depreciation in the value of any such security or for any loss resulting from the sale thereof.  
If net proceeds from the sale of securities held in any Fund or Account shall be less than the 
amount invested and, as a result, the amount on deposit in such Fund or Account is less than the 
amount required to be on deposit in such Fund or Account, the amount of such deficit shall be 
transferred to such Fund or Account from the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund. 

In the absence of written investment instructions from the Issuer, the Trustee shall not be 
responsible or liable for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder invested or for any losses 
because such amounts were not invested.  Moneys in any of the Funds and Accounts established 
pursuant to the Indenture, when held by the Trustee, shall be promptly invested by the Trustee in 
accordance with all written directions from the Issuer and the Issuer shall be responsible for 
ensuring that such instructions conform to requirements of this Master Indenture including, 
without limitation, Article VII hereof.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss 
or entitled to any gain resulting from any investment or sale upon the investment instructions of 
the Issuer or otherwise, including that set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph.  The 
Trustee may conclusively rely upon the Issuer’s written instructions as to both the suitability and 
legality of all investments directed hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture.  Ratings of 
investments shall be determined by the Issuer at the time of purchase of such investments and 
without regard to ratings subcategories.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility to monitor the 
ratings of investments after the initial purchase of such investments.  The Trustee may make any 
and all such investments through its own investment department or that of its affiliates or 
subsidiaries, and may charge its ordinary and customary fees for such trades.  Confirmations of 
investments are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month in which a monthly 
statement is rendered.  No statement need be rendered for any fund or account if no activity 
occurred in such fund or account during such month. 

SECTION 7.03. Valuation of Funds.  Except for the assets on deposit in the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, the Trustee shall value the assets in each of the Funds and Accounts 
established hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture within ten (10) Business Days prior 

Page 257



 

36 

to each Interest Payment Date.  With respect to the assets in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, 
including all accounts established therein, the Trustee shall value such assets forty-five (45) days 
prior to each Interest Payment Date.  In either case, as soon as practicable after each such 
valuation date (but no later than ten (10) Business Days after each such valuation date), the 
Trustee shall provide the Issuer a report of the status of each Fund and Account as of the 
valuation date.  In computing the assets of any Fund or Account, investments and accrued 
interest thereon shall be deemed a part thereof, subject to Section 7.02 hereof.  For the purpose of 
determining the amount on deposit to the credit of any Fund or Account established hereunder or 
under any Supplemental Indenture, obligations in which money in such Fund or Account shall 
have been invested shall be valued at the market value or the amortized cost thereof, whichever 
is lower, or at the redemption price thereof, to the extent that any such obligation is then 
redeemable at the option of the holder. 

SECTION 7.04. Brokerage Confirmations.  The District acknowledges that to the 
extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable regulatory entity grant 
the District the right to receive individual confirmations of security transactions at no additional 
cost, as they occur, the District specifically waives receipt of such confirmations to the extent 
permitted by law.  The Trustee will furnish the District periodic cash transaction statements that 
include detail for all investment transactions made by the Trustee hereunder. 

ARTICLE VIII 
REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE OF BONDS 

SECTION 8.01. Redemption Dates and Prices.  Unless provided otherwise in a 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Bonds of a Series may be made 
subject to optional, mandatory and extraordinary redemption and purchase, either in whole or in 
part, by the Issuer, prior to maturity in the amounts, at the times and in the manner provided in 
this Article VIII and in the related Supplemental Indenture. 

(a) Optional Redemption.  Bonds of a Series shall be subject to optional redemption 
at the direction of the Issuer, at the times and upon payment of the purchase price as provided in 
the related Supplemental Indenture. 

(b) Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption in Whole or in Part.  Except as otherwise 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to Bonds of the related Series, Bonds of a 
Series are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to maturity by the Issuer in 
whole, on any date, or in part, on any Interest Payment Date, at an extraordinary mandatory 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus 
interest accrued to the redemption date, (i) from moneys deposited into the related Series Bond 
Redemption Fund following the payment in full of Special Assessments on any portion of the 
District Lands in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.08(a) hereof; (ii) from moneys 
deposited into the related Series Bond Redemption Fund following the payment in full of Special 
Assessments on any portion of the District Lands as a result of any prepayment of Special 
Assessments in accordance with Section 9.08(b) hereof; (iii) when sufficient moneys are on 
deposit in the related Series Funds and Accounts (other than moneys in the Rebate Fund and any 
other excluded Fund or Account as provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series 
of Bonds or moneys required to pay Costs of the Project under the applicable Supplemental 

Page 258



 

37 

Indenture) to pay and redeem all Outstanding Bonds of a Series and accrued interest thereon to 
the redemption date in addition to all amounts owed to Persons under the Indenture; (iv) from 
moneys in excess of the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement in the Series 
Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund transferred to the Series Bond Redemption Fund 
pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof; (v) from excess moneys transferred from the Series Account of 
the Revenue Fund to the Series Bond Redemption Fund in accordance with Section 6.03 of this 
Master Indenture; (vi) from moneys, if any, on deposit in the Series Bond Redemption Fund 
pursuant to Section 9.14(c) hereof following condemnation or the sale of any portion of the 
District Lands benefited by a Project to a governmental entity under threat of condemnation by 
such governmental entity or the damage or destruction of all or substantially all of the Project 
when such moneys are not to be used pursuant to 9.14(c) to repair, replace or restore the Project; 
provided, however, that at least forty-five (45) days prior to such extraordinary mandatory 
redemption, the Issuer shall cause to be delivered to the Trustee (x) notice setting forth the 
redemption date and (y) a certificate of the Consulting Engineer confirming that the repair and 
restoration of the Project would not be economical or would be impracticable; or (vii) from 
amounts transferred to the Series Account of the Bond Redemption Fund from the Series 
Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund in accordance with Section 5.01(c) hereof. 

(c) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  Bonds of a Series may be subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption at a Redemption Price of 100% of the principal amount 
thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, in the years and amounts set forth in a 
Supplemental Indenture. 

In connection with such mandatory sinking fund redemption of Bonds, amounts shall be 
transferred from the applicable Series Account of the Revenue Fund to the Series Sinking Fund 
Account of the Debt Service Fund, all as more particularly described in Section 6.03 hereof. 

The principal amounts of scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts shall be 
reduced as specified by the Issuer or as provided in Section 8.04 hereof by any principal amounts 
of the Bonds redeemed pursuant to Section 8.01(a) and (b) hereof or purchased pursuant to 
Section 6.04 hereof. 

Upon any redemption of Bonds other than in accordance with scheduled mandatory 
sinking fund redemption amounts, the Issuer shall cause to be recalculated and delivered to the 
Trustee revised mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts recalculated so as to amortize the 
Outstanding principal amount of Bonds of such Series in substantially equal annual installments 
of principal and interest (subject to rounding to Authorized Denominations of principal) over the 
remaining term of the Bonds of such Series.  The mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts as 
so recalculated shall not result in an increase in the aggregate of the mandatory sinking fund 
redemption amounts for all Bonds of such Series in any year.  In the event of a redemption or 
purchase occurring less than 45 days prior to a date on which a mandatory sinking fund 
redemption amount is due, the foregoing recalculation shall not be made to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption amounts due in the year in which such redemption or purchase occurs, but shall 
be made to mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts for the immediately succeeding and 
subsequent years. 

Page 259



 

38 

SECTION 8.02. Notice of Redemption and of Purchase.  Except where otherwise 
required by a Supplemental Indenture, when required to redeem or purchase Bonds of a Series 
under any provision of the related Indenture or directed to do so by the Issuer, the Trustee shall 
cause notice of the redemption, either in whole or in part, to be provided by Electronic Means or 
mailed at least thirty (30) but not more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption or purchase 
date to all Owners of Bonds to be redeemed or purchased (as such Owners appear on the Bond 
Register on the fifth (5th) day prior to such mailing), at their registered addresses, but failure to 
mail any such notice or defect in the notice or in the mailing thereof shall not affect the validity 
of the redemption or purchase of the Bonds of such Series for which notice was duly mailed in 
accordance with this Section 8.02.  Such notice shall be given in the name of the Issuer, shall be 
dated, shall set forth the Bonds of such Series Outstanding which shall be called for redemption 
or purchase and shall include, without limitation, the following additional information: 

(a) the redemption or purchase date; 

(b) the redemption or purchase price; 

(c) CUSIP numbers, to the extent applicable, and any other distinctive numbers and 
letters; 

(d) any conditions that must be satisfied for the Bonds to be redeemed on the date of 
redemption;  

(e) if less than all Outstanding Bonds of a Series to be redeemed or purchased, the 
identification (and, in the case of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the 
Bonds to be redeemed or purchased; 

(f) that on the redemption or purchase date the Redemption Price or purchase price 
will become due and payable upon surrender of each such Bond or portion thereof called for 
redemption or purchase, and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and after said date; 
and 

(g) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption 
or purchase price, which place of payment shall be a corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

If at the time of mailing of notice of an optional redemption or purchase, the Issuer shall 
not have deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent moneys sufficient to redeem or purchase all 
the Bonds called for redemption or purchase, such notice shall be entitled “CONDITIONAL 
NOTICE OF REDEMPTION” or “CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF PURCHASE”, as appropriate, 
and shall expressly state that the redemption or purchase, as appropriate, is conditional and is 
subject to the deposit of the redemption or purchase moneys with the Trustee or Paying Agent, as 
the case may be, not later than the opening of business on the redemption or purchase date, and 
such notice shall be of no effect unless such moneys are so deposited. 

If the amount of funds deposited with the Trustee for such redemption, or otherwise 
available, is insufficient to pay the Redemption Price and accrued interest on the Bonds so called 
for redemption on the redemption date, the Trustee shall redeem and pay on such date an amount 
of such Bonds for which such funds are sufficient, selecting the Bonds to be redeemed randomly 

Page 260



 

39 

from among all such Bonds called for redemption on such date, and among different maturities 
of Bonds in the same manner as the initial selection of Bonds to be redeemed, and from and after 
such redemption date, interest on the Bonds or portions thereof so paid shall cease to accrue and 
become payable; but interest on any Bonds or portions thereof not so paid shall continue to 
accrue until paid at the same rate as it would have had such Bonds not been called for 
redemption. 

The notices required to be given by this Section 8.02 shall state that no representation is 
made as to correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP numbers listed in such notice or printed on the 
Bonds. 

SECTION 8.03. Payment of Redemption Price.  If any required (a) unconditional 
notice of redemption has been duly mailed or waived by the Owners of all Bonds called for 
redemption or (b) conditional notice of redemption has been so mailed or waived and the 
redemption moneys have been duly deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent, then in either 
case, the Bonds called for redemption shall be payable on the redemption date at the applicable 
Redemption Price plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.  Bonds of a Series so 
called for redemption, for which moneys have been duly deposited with the Trustee, will cease to 
bear interest on the specified redemption date, shall no longer be secured by the related Indenture 
and shall not be deemed to be Outstanding under the provisions of the related Indenture. 

Payment of the Redemption Price, together with accrued interest, shall be made by the 
Trustee or Paying Agent to or upon the order of the Owners of the Bonds called for redemption 
upon surrender of such Bonds.  The Redemption Price of the Bonds to be redeemed, the 
expenses of giving notice and any other expenses of redemption, shall be paid out of the Fund 
from which redemption is to be made or by the Issuer, or as specified in a Supplemental 
Indenture. 

SECTION 8.04. Partial Redemption of Bonds.  Except to the extent otherwise provided 
in a Supplemental Indenture, if less than all of a Series of Bonds of a maturity are to be 
redeemed, the Trustee shall select the particular Bonds or portions of the Bonds to be called for 
redemption by lot in such reasonable manner as the Trustee in its discretion may determine.  In 
the case of any partial redemption of Bonds of a Series pursuant to Section 8.01(a), such 
redemption shall be effectuated by redeeming Bonds of such Series of such maturities in such 
manner as shall be specified by the Issuer in writing, subject to the provisions of Section 8.01 
hereof.  In the case of any partial redemption of Bonds of a Series pursuant to Section 8.01(b), 
such redemption shall be effectuated by redeeming Bonds of such Series pro rata among the 
maturities, treating each date on which a mandatory sinking fund redemption amount is due as a 
separate maturity for such purpose, with the portion to be redeemed from each maturity being 
equal to the product of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds of such Series to be redeemed 
multiplied times a fraction the numerator of which is the principal amount of the Series of Bonds 
of such maturity outstanding immediately prior to the redemption date and the denominator of 
which is the aggregate principal amount of all Bonds of such Series outstanding immediately 
prior to the redemption date rounded up or down to the nearest $5,000 amount in order to 
maintain Authorized Denominations.  The District Manager, on behalf of the Issuer, shall be 
responsible for calculating such revised sinking fund installments and providing the Trustee with 
the revised sinking fund installments. 

Page 261



 

40 

ARTICLE IX 
COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER 

SECTION 9.01. Power to Issue Bonds and Create Lien.  The Issuer is duly authorized 
under the Act and all applicable laws of the State to issue the Bonds, to adopt and execute this 
Master Indenture and to pledge the Pledged Revenues for the benefit of the Bonds of a Series 
and any Credit Facility Issuer, except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture.  The Pledged Revenues are not and shall not be subject to any other lien senior to or 
on a parity with the lien created in favor of the Bonds of a Series and any Credit Facility Issuer 
with respect to such Series.  The Bonds and the provisions of this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture are and will be valid and legally enforceable obligations of the Issuer in 
accordance with their respective terms.  The Issuer shall, at all times, to the extent permitted by 
law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge created by this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture and all the rights of the Bondholders and any Credit Facility Issuer 
under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture against all claims and demands of 
all other Persons whomsoever. 

SECTION 9.02. Payment of Principal and Interest on Bonds.  The payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on all of the Bonds of a Series issued under the 
related Indenture shall be secured forthwith equally and ratably by a first lien on and pledge of 
the Pledged Revenues, except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture; and 
Pledged Revenues in an amount sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on the Bonds of a Series authorized by the related Indenture are hereby irrevocably 
pledged to the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a 
Series authorized under the related Indenture, as the same become due and payable.  The Issuer 
shall promptly pay the interest on and the principal or Redemption Price of every Bond issued 
hereunder according to the terms thereof, but shall be required to make such payment only out of 
the Pledged Revenues.   

THE BONDS AUTHORIZED UNDER THIS MASTER INDENTURE AND THE 
RELATED SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE AND THE OBLIGATIONS EVIDENCED 
THEREBY SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A LIEN UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE ISSUER, 
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE PROJECT OR ANY PORTION THEREOF IN 
RESPECT OF WHICH ANY SUCH BONDS ARE BEING ISSUED, OR ANY PART 
THEREOF, BUT SHALL CONSTITUTE A LIEN ONLY ON THE PLEDGED REVENUES 
AS SET FORTH IN THIS MASTER INDENTURE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL 
INDENTURE.  NOTHING IN THE BONDS AUTHORIZED UNDER THIS MASTER 
INDENTURE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE CONSTRUED AS 
OBLIGATING THE ISSUER TO PAY THE BONDS OR THE REDEMPTION PRICE 
THEREOF OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM THE PLEDGED REVENUES, 
OR AS PLEDGING THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE 
STATE OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, OR AS OBLIGATING 
THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE STATE OR ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY, TO LEVY OR TO PLEDGE ANY 
FORM OF TAXATION WHATEVER THEREFOR. 

 

Page 262



 

41 

SECTION 9.03. Special Assessments; Re-Assessments. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to 
a Series of Bonds, the Issuer shall levy Special Assessments, and evidence and certify the same 
to the Tax Collector or cause the Property Appraiser to certify the same on the tax roll to the Tax 
Collector for collection by the Tax Collector and enforcement by the Tax Collector or the Issuer 
pursuant to the Act, Chapter 170 or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes, as 
applicable, and Section 9.04 hereof, to the extent and in an amount sufficient to pay Debt Service 
Requirements on all Outstanding Bonds. 

(b) If any Special Assessment shall be either in whole or in part annulled, 
vacated or set aside by the judgment of any court, or if the Issuer shall be satisfied that any such 
Special Assessment is so irregular or defective that the same cannot be enforced or collected, or 
if the Issuer shall have omitted to make such Special Assessment when it might have done so, the 
Issuer shall either (i) take all necessary steps to cause a new Special Assessment to be made for 
the whole or any part of said improvement or against any property benefited by said 
improvement, or (ii) in its sole discretion, make up the amount of such Special Assessment from 
any legally available moneys, which moneys shall be deposited into the applicable Series 
Account in the Revenue Fund.  In case such second Special Assessment shall be annulled, the 
Issuer shall obtain and make other Special Assessments until a valid Special Assessment shall be 
made. 

SECTION 9.04. Method of Collection.  Special Assessments shall be collected by the 
Issuer in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Chapter 170 or Chapter 197, Florida 
Statutes, or any successor statutes thereto, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this 
Section.  Except as stated in the next succeeding sentence, the Issuer shall use the uniform 
method for the levy, collection and enforcement of Special Assessments afforded by Sections 
197.3631, 197.3632 and 197.3635, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes thereto (the 
“Uniform Method”), and to do all things necessary to continue to use the Uniform Method or a 
comparable alternative method afforded by Section 197.3631, Florida Statutes.  The Issuer shall 
use its best efforts to enter into and/or maintain in effect one or more written agreements with the 
Property Appraiser and the Tax Collector, either individually or jointly (together, the “Property 
Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement”) in order to effectuate the provisions of this Section.  
The Issuer shall ensure that any such Property Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement remains 
in effect for at least as long as the final maturity of Bonds Outstanding under this Indenture.  To 
the extent that the Issuer is legally prevented from collecting Special Assessments pursuant to the 
Uniform Method, then the Issuer shall collect and enforce Special Assessments pursuant to any 
available method under the Act, Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, 
or any successor statutes thereto.   

Notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph or any other provision in this 
Master Indenture to the contrary, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, if the Trustee, 
acting at the direction of the Majority Holder of a Series of Bonds, requests that the Issuer not 
use the Uniform Method to collect the Special Assessments levied by the Issuer for the purpose 
of paying the Debt Service Requirements such Series of Bonds, but instead collect and enforce 
the Special Assessments levied by the Issuer for the purpose of paying the Debt Service 
Requirements such Series of Bonds to another available method under the Act, Chapter 170, 

Page 263



 

42 

Florida Statutes, or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes thereto, then the 
Issuer shall collect and enforce said Special Assessments in the manner and pursuant to the 
method so requested by the Trustee.  Any Special Assessments that are not collected pursuant to 
the Uniform Method shall be billed directly to the applicable Landowner and be payable not later 
than thirty (30) days prior to each Interest Payment Date. 

SECTION 9.05. Delinquent Special Assessments.  Subject to the provisions of Section 
9.04 hereof, if the owner of any lot or parcel of land assessed for a particular Project shall be 
delinquent in the payment of any Special Assessment, then such Special Assessment shall be 
enforced pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor statute 
thereto, including but not limited to the sale of tax certificates and tax deeds as regards such 
delinquent Special Assessment.  In the event the provisions of Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and 
any provisions of the Act with respect to such sale are inapplicable by operation of law, then 
upon the delinquency of any Special Assessment the Issuer shall, to the extent permitted by law, 
utilize any other method of enforcement as provided by Section 9.04 hereof, including, without 
limitation, declaring the entire unpaid balance of such Special Assessment to be in default and, at 
its own expense, cause such delinquent property to be foreclosed, pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 170.10, Florida Statutes, in the same method now or hereafter provided by law for the 
foreclosure of mortgages on real estate and Sections 190.026 and 170.10, Florida Statutes, or 
otherwise as provided by law.  The Issuer covenants not to use the provisions of Chapter 173, 
Florida Statutes. 

SECTION 9.06. Sale of Tax Certificates and Issuance of Tax Deeds; Foreclosure of 
Special Assessment Liens.  If the Special Assessments levied and collected under the Uniform 
Method described in Section 9.04 are delinquent, then the applicable procedures for issuance and 
sale of tax certificates and tax deeds for nonpayment shall be followed in accordance with 
Chapter 197, Florida Statutes and related statutes.  Alternatively, if the Uniform Method is not 
utilized, and if any property shall be offered for sale for the nonpayment of any Special 
Assessment, and no person or persons shall purchase the same for an amount at least equal to the 
full amount due on the Special Assessment (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus 
attorneys’ fees, if any), the property may then be purchased by the Issuer, to the extent the Issuer 
has available funds, for an amount equal to the balance due on the Special Assessment (principal, 
interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys’ fees, if any), and the Issuer shall thereupon receive, 
in its corporate name or in the name of a special purpose entity nominee of the Issuer, the title to 
the property for the benefit of the Registered Owners.  The Issuer, either through its own actions 
or actions caused to be done through the Trustee, shall have the power and shall use its best 
efforts to lease or sell such property and deposit all of the net proceeds of any such lease or sale 
into the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund.  Not less than ten (10) days prior to the 
filing of any foreclosure action or any sale of tax deed as herein provided, the Issuer shall cause 
written notice thereof to be mailed to the Registered Owners of the Series of Bonds secured by 
such delinquent Special Assessments.  Not less than thirty (30) days prior to the proposed sale of 
any lot or tract of land acquired by foreclosure by the Issuer, it shall give written notice thereof 
to such Registered Owners.  The Issuer, either through its own actions or actions caused to be 
done through the Trustee, agrees that it shall be required to take the measure provided by law for 
sale of property acquired by it as trustee for the Registered Owners within thirty (30) days after 
the receipt of the request therefor signed by the Registered Owners of at least twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the aggregate principal amount of all Outstanding Bonds of the Series payable from 

Page 264



 

43 

Special Assessments assessed on such property.  If directed by an owner of at least twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the Bonds Outstanding or if the Trustee or the Issuer shall so elect, the Issuer 
and the Trustee may place title of property received upon foreclosure or deed in lieu of 
foreclosure into a special purpose entity controlled by the Trustee or such other entity acceptable 
to the registered Holders of a majority of the Bonds of a Series so effected by such foreclosure, 
for the benefit of the Registered Owners.  If the Issuer determines, after consultation with 
District Counsel, that there is an obligated person, as defined under the Rule, then in addition to 
the Issuer, the decision to file a foreclosure action shall be made by at least twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the Holders of the Bonds so secured by the delinquent Special Assessments and such 
decision shall be communicated to the Issuer and Trustee in writing. 

SECTION 9.07. Books and Records with Respect to Special Assessments.  In addition 
to the books and records required to be kept by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of Section 
9.17 hereof, the Issuer shall keep books and records for the collection of the Special Assessments 
on the District Lands, which such books, records and accounts shall be kept separate and apart 
from all other books, records and accounts of the Issuer.  The District Manager or the District 
Manager’s designee, at the end of each Fiscal Year, shall prepare a written report setting forth 
the collections received, the number and amount of delinquencies, the proceedings taken to 
enforce collections and cure delinquencies and an estimate of time for the conclusion of such 
legal proceedings.  As soon as practicable after such audit shall become available, a copy of such 
audit shall be mailed to any Registered Owner upon its written request. 

SECTION 9.08. Removal of Special Assessment Liens.  Except as otherwise provided 
in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a related Series of Bonds, the following procedures 
shall apply in connection with the removal of Special Assessment liens: 

(a) At any time from the date of levy of Special Assessments on a parcel of District 
Lands through the date that is thirty (30) days after the related Project has been completed and 
the Board has adopted a resolution accepting such Project as provided by Section 170.09, Florida 
Statutes, as amended, any owner of property subject to the Special Assessments may, at its 
option, require the Issuer to release and extinguish the lien upon its property by virtue of the levy 
of the Special Assessments that relate to a Series of Bonds by paying to the Issuer the entire 
amount of such Special Assessment on such property, without interest.  The Issuer shall 
promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any Prepayment made under such circumstances.  
Accrued interest on the principal amount of any Bonds that would be redeemed as a result of 
such Prepayment made within thirty (30) days after the Board has adopted a resolution accepting 
the Project shall be derived from moneys on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account and, if 
no moneys remain, from moneys on deposit in the Interest Account, and, if no moneys remain 
therein, from moneys on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account.  

Upon receipt of a Prepayment as described in the immediately preceding paragraph, the 
Issuer shall immediately, but in any event within two (2) Business Days following the receipt of 
such Prepayment moneys, pay the amount so received to the Trustee, and the Issuer shall take 
such action as is necessary to record in the official records of the Issuer that the Special 
Assessment has been paid in full or in part and that such Special Assessment lien is thereby 
released and extinguished if paid in full or such Special Assessment lien shall be reduced if the 
Landowner only made a partial Prepayment.  Upon receipt of any such moneys from the Issuer 

Page 265



 

44 

the Trustee shall immediately deposit the same into the Bond Redemption Fund to be applied to 
the redemption of Bonds in accordance with Section 8.01(b)(i) hereof.  In connection with such 
Prepayment, the Trustee shall calculate the credit authorized pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof, and 
transfer such credit to the Bond Redemption Fund to be used together with such Prepayment for 
the redemption of Bonds in accordance with Section 8.01(b)(i) hereof. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, and consistent with the proceedings of the Issuer 
relating to the imposition and levy of the Special Assessments, any Landowner may at any time 
require the Issuer to release and extinguish the lien upon its property by virtue of the levy of the 
Special Assessments by paying to the Issuer the entire amount of the Special Assessment, plus 
accrued interest to the next succeeding Interest Payment Date (or the second succeeding Interest 
Payment Date if such prepayment is made within forty (40) calendar days before an Interest 
Payment Date), attributable to the property subject to Special Assessment owned by such owner.   

(c) Upon receipt of a Prepayment as described in (a) and (b) above, the Issuer shall 
immediately pay the amount so received to the Trustee, and the Issuer shall take such action as is 
necessary to record in the official records of the Issuer that the Special Assessment has been paid 
or otherwise satisfied and that such Special Assessment lien is thereby released and extinguished.  
Except as otherwise provided by a Supplemental Indenture, upon receipt of any such moneys 
from the Issuer the Trustee shall immediately deposit the same into the applicable Series 
Account within the Bond Redemption Fund to be applied to the redemption of Bonds in 
accordance with Section 8.01(b)(i) or (ii) hereof, as the case may be. 

SECTION 9.09. Deposit of Special Assessments.  The Issuer covenants to cause any 
Special Assessments collected or otherwise received by it to be deposited with the Trustee within 
five (5) Business Days after receipt thereof for deposit into the related Series Account of the 
Revenue Fund (except that amounts received as Prepayments of Special Assessments shall be 
designated by the Issuer as such upon delivery to the Trustee and shall be deposited directly into 
the related Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund). 

SECTION 9.10. Construction to be on District Lands.  The Issuer covenants that no 
part of the Project will be constructed on, over or under lands other than (i) lands good and 
marketable title to which is owned by the Issuer or other appropriate entity in fee simple, 
(ii) lands on, over or under which the Issuer or other appropriate entity shall have acquired 
perpetual easements for the purposes of the Project, or (iii) lands, including public streets and 
highways, the right to the use and occupancy of which for such purposes shall be vested in the 
Issuer or other appropriate entity by law or by valid franchises, licenses, easements or rights of 
way or other legally effective permissions or approval.   

SECTION 9.11. Operation, Use and Maintenance of Project.  The Issuer shall establish 
and enforce reasonable rules and regulations governing the use of the Project owned by the 
Issuer, and the operation thereof, such rules and regulations to be adopted in accordance with the 
Act, and the Issuer shall operate, use and maintain the Project owned by the Issuer in accordance 
with the Act and all other applicable federal and State laws, rules and regulations; the Issuer shall 
maintain and operate the Project owned by the Issuer in an efficient and economical manner, 
shall at all times maintain the same in good repair and in sound operating condition and shall 
make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 

Page 266



 

45 

SECTION 9.12. Observance of and Compliance with Valid Requirements.  The Issuer 
shall pay all municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or assessed upon any Project or 
any part thereof or upon any revenues when the same shall become due, and the Issuer shall duly 
observe and comply with all valid requirements of any municipal or governmental authority 
relative to the Project.  The Issuer shall not, except as otherwise permitted in Sections 9.23 and 
9.24 of this Article, create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon any Project or upon 
Pledged Revenues, except the lien and charge of the Bonds on the Pledged Revenues. 

SECTION 9.13. Payment of Operating or Maintenance Costs by State or Others.  The 
Issuer may permit the United States of America, the State, the County, or any of their agencies, 
departments or political subdivisions to pay all or any part of the cost of maintaining, repairing 
and operating the Project out of funds other than Pledged Revenues. 

SECTION 9.14. Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance; Maintenance of 
Insurance; Use of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds.   

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (d) of this Section, the Issuer will 
carry or cause to be carried, in respect of each Project, comprehensive general liability insurance 
(covering bodily injury and property damage) issued by one or more insurance companies 
authorized and qualified to do business under the laws of the State, in such amounts as is 
customary for similar operations, or as is more specifically set forth herein below. 

(b) At all times, to the extent commercially available, the Issuer shall maintain a 
practical insurance program, with reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and costs which the 
District Manager determines will afford adequate protection against loss caused by damage to or 
destruction of any component of the Project owned by the Issuer.  Limits for such coverage will 
be subject to the Consulting Engineer’s recommendations which are to be provided in an annual 
report, as required by Section 9.21 hereof.  The Issuer shall also, at all times, maintain a practical 
comprehensive general liability insurance program with respect to the Project for such coverage, 
with such reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and costs as the District Manager determines 
will afford adequate protection against bodily injury and property damage. 

All insurance policies of the Issuer relating to the Project shall be carried with companies 
authorized to do business in the State, with a Best rating of no less than “A” as to management 
and Class “V” as to financial strength; provided, however, that if, in the opinion of the District 
Manager, adequate insurance protection under reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and cost 
cannot be purchased from an insurance company with the above-designated ratings, then the 
District Manager, on behalf of the Issuer, may secure such insurance protection as the Issuer 
determines to be in its best interests and otherwise consistent with this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture; provided further, however, that the Issuer may act as a self-insurer in 
accordance with the requirements of subsection (d) hereof.  All policies providing the insurance 
coverages required by this Section shall designate the Issuer as the loss-payee and shall be made 
payable to the Issuer. 

(c) All proceeds received from property damage or destruction insurance and all 
proceeds received from the condemnation of the Project or any part thereof are hereby pledged 
by the Issuer as security for the related Series of Bonds and shall be deposited at the option of the 

Page 267



 

46 

Issuer, but subject to the limitations hereinafter described, either (i) into a separate subaccount 
within the Acquisition and Construction Fund to be established by the Trustee for such purpose, 
and used to remedy the loss, damage or taking for which such proceeds are received, either by 
repairing the damaged property or replacing the destroyed or taken property, as soon as 
practicable after the receipt of such proceeds, or (ii) into the related Series Account within the 
Bond Redemption Fund for the purpose of purchasing or redeeming Bonds according to the 
provisions set forth in Article VIII hereof.  The Issuer shall not be entitled to deposit insurance 
proceeds or condemnation awards into the separate fund described above in clause (i) of this 
paragraph (and such proceeds and awards shall be deposited directly into the related Series 
Account within the Bond Redemption Fund pursuant to clause (ii) of this paragraph) unless there 
shall have been filed with the Issuer within a reasonable time after the damage, destruction or 
condemnation (A) a certificate from the Consulting Engineer that the proceeds of the insurance 
or condemnation awards deposited into such separate fund, together with other funds available 
for such purposes, will be sufficient to repair, rebuild, replace or restore such property to 
substantially the same condition as it was in prior to its damage, destruction or condemnation 
(taking into consideration any changes, alterations and modifications that the Issuer may desire), 
(B) an opinion from the Consulting Engineer that the Project can be repaired, rebuilt, replaced or 
restored within two (2) years following the damage, destruction or condemnation thereof and 
(C) an opinion of the Consulting Engineer that, in each of the three (3) Fiscal Years following 
completion of such repair, rebuilding, replacement or restoration, the Issuer will be in 
compliance with its obligations hereunder.  If the certificate described in clause (A) of this 
paragraph is not rendered because such proceeds or awards are insufficient for such purposes, the 
Issuer may deposit any other legally available funds in such separate fund in an amount required 
to enable the Consulting Engineer to render its certificate.  If the insurance proceeds or 
condemnation awards deposited in such separate fund are more than sufficient to repair the 
damaged property or to replace the destroyed or taken property, the balance thereof remaining 
shall be deposited to the credit of the related Series Account in the Revenue Fund. 

(d) The Issuer shall be entitled to provide all or a portion of the insurance coverage 
required by subsections (a) and (b) of this Section through Qualified Self Insurance, provided 
that the requirements hereinafter set forth in this subsection (d) are satisfied.  “Qualified Self 
Insurance” means insurance maintained through a program of self insurance or insurance 
maintained with a company or association in which the Issuer has a material interest or of which 
the Issuer has control, either singly or with others. 

Each plan of Qualified Self Insurance shall be in written form, shall provide that upon the 
termination of such plan reserves will be established or insurance acquired in amounts adequate 
to cover any potential retained liability in respect of the period of self insurance, and shall be 
reviewed annually by the District Manager or registered actuary who shall deliver to the Issuer a 
report on the adequacy of the reserves established thereunder in light of claims made.  If the 
District Manager or registered actuary determines that such reserves are inadequate in light of the 
claims made, he shall make recommendations as to the amount of reserves that should be 
established and maintained, and the Issuer shall comply with such recommendations. 

(e) Copies of all recommendations and approvals made by the Consulting Engineer 
under the provisions of this Section shall be filed with the District Manager. 

Page 268



 

47 

SECTION 9.15. Collection of Insurance Proceeds.  Copies of all insurance policies 
referred to in Section 9.14 of this Article shall be available at the offices of the Issuer at all 
reasonable times to the inspection of the Holders of the Bonds and their agents and 
representatives duly authorized in writing.  The Issuer covenants that it will take such action as 
may be necessary to demand, collect and sue for any insurance money which may become due 
and payable under any policy of insurance required under this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture, whether such policy is payable to the Issuer or to the Trustee.  The 
Trustee is hereby authorized in its own name to demand, collect, sue and receive any insurance 
money which may become due and payable under any policies payable to it. 

Any appraisal or adjustment of any loss or damage under any policy of insurance 
required under the Indenture, whether such policy is payable to the Issuer or to the Trustee, and 
any settlement or payment of indemnity under any such policy which may be agreed upon by the 
Issuer and any insurer shall be evidenced by a certificate, signed by the District Manager 
approved by the Consulting Engineer, and filed with the Trustee.  The Trustee shall in no way be 
liable or responsible for the collection of insurance moneys in case of any loss or damage. 

SECTION 9.16. Use of Revenues for Authorized Purposes Only.  None of the Pledged 
Revenues shall be used for any purpose other than as provided in this Master Indenture and the 
related Supplemental Indenture and no contract or contracts shall be entered into or any action 
taken by the Issuer or the Trustee which will be inconsistent with the provisions of this Master 
Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture. 

SECTION 9.17. Books, Records and Annual Reports.  The Issuer shall keep proper 
books of record and account in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(separate from all other records and accounts) consistently applied and consistent with the 
provisions of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, in which complete and 
correct entries shall be made of its transactions relating to the Project, and which, together with 
all other books and records of the Issuer, including, without limitation, insurance policies, 
relating to the Project, shall at all times be subject during regular business hours to the inspection 
of the Trustee. 

SECTION 9.18. [Reserved].   

SECTION 9.19. Employment of Certified Public Accountant.  The Issuer shall employ 
or cause to be employed as required a Certified Public Accountant to perform accounting and 
auditing functions and duties required by the Act and this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture. 

SECTION 9.20. Establishment of Fiscal Year, Annual Budget.  The Issuer has 
established a Fiscal Year beginning October 1 of each year and ending September 30 of the 
following year.  The reports and budget of the Issuer shall relate to such Fiscal Year unless and 
until, in accordance with applicable law, a different Fiscal Year is established by Certified 
Resolution of the Issuer and is filed with the Trustee to hold solely as a repository and with no 
duty to review the contents thereof. 

Page 269



 

48 

On or before the first day of each Fiscal Year the Issuer shall adopt a final Annual Budget 
with respect to the Project for such Fiscal Year for the payment of anticipated operating and 
maintenance expenses and shall supply a copy of such budget promptly upon the approval 
thereof to any Bondholders who shall have so requested in writing and shall have filed their 
names and addresses with the Secretary of the Board for such purpose.  If for any reason the 
Issuer shall not have adopted the Annual Budget with respect to the Project on or before the first 
day of any Fiscal Year, the Annual Budget for the preceding Fiscal Year shall, until the adoption 
of the new Annual Budget, be deemed in force for the ensuing Fiscal Year.  The Issuer may at 
any time adopt an amended or supplemental Annual Budget for the remainder of the current 
Fiscal Year, and when such amended or supplemental Annual Budget is approved it shall be 
treated as the official Annual Budget under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental 
Indenture.  Copies of such amended or supplemental Annual Budget shall be mailed by the 
Issuer to any Bondholders who shall have so requested in writing and shall have filed their 
names and addresses with the Secretary of the Board for such purpose. 

SECTION 9.21. Employment of Consulting Engineer; Consulting Engineer’s Report. 

(a) The Issuer shall, for the purpose of performing and carrying out the duties 
imposed on the Consulting Engineer by this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
employ one or more Independent engineers or engineering firms or corporations having a 
statewide and favorable repute for skill and experience in such work. 

(b) The Issuer shall cause the Consulting Engineer to make an inspection of any 
portions of the Project owned by the Issuer at least once in each Fiscal Year and, on or before the 
first day of July in each Fiscal Year, to submit to the Board a report setting forth (i) its findings 
as to whether such portions of the Project owned by the Issuer have been maintained in good 
repair, working order and condition, (ii) its recommendations as to the proper maintenance, 
repair and operation of the Project during the ensuing Fiscal Year and an estimate of the amount 
of money necessary for such purpose and (iii) the insurance to be carried under the provisions of 
Section 9.14 hereof and the amount that should be set aside monthly for the purpose of paying 
insurance premiums which fall due less often than monthly. 

Promptly after the receipt of such reports by the Issuer, copies thereof shall be mailed by 
the Issuer to all Bondholders who shall have filed their names and addresses with the Secretary 
of the Board for such purpose. 

SECTION 9.22. Audit Reports.  The Issuer covenants to keep accurate records and 
books of account with respect to the Project, and covenants that, no later than 270 days after the 
end of each Fiscal Year, it will cause an audit to be made by a Certified Public Accountant 
covering all receipts and moneys then on deposit with or in the name of the Trustee or the Issuer 
and any security held therefor and any investments thereof.  Copies of such audit reports shall be 
filed with the District Manager and the Secretary of the Board, and mailed by said Secretary to 
the Consulting Engineer and to all Bondholders who shall have filed their names and addresses 
with him for such purpose.   

SECTION 9.23. Covenant Against Sale or Encumbrance; Exceptions.  The Issuer 
covenants that, (a) except for those improvements comprising the Project that are to be conveyed 

Page 270



 

49 

by the Issuer to the County, the State Department of Transportation or another governmental 
entity, as to which no assessments of the Issuer will be imposed and (b) except as in this Section 
permitted, it will not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of or encumber the Project, or any part 
thereof.  Subject to the provisions of Section 9.29 hereof, the Issuer may, however, from time to 
time, sell any machinery, fixtures, apparatus, tools, instruments or other movable property 
acquired by it from the proceeds of a Series of Bonds or from Pledged Revenues if the District 
Manager shall determine, with the approval of the Consulting Engineer, that such items are no 
longer needed or are no longer useful in connection with the construction, maintenance and 
operation of the related Project, and the proceeds thereof shall be applied to the replacement of 
the properties so sold or disposed of or, at the written direction of the Issuer shall be deposited to 
the credit of the related Series Account in the Acquisition and Construction Fund. 

Upon any sale of property relating to the Project, the aggregate of which in any thirty 
(30) day period exceeds Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) under the provisions of this Section, 
the Issuer shall provide written notice to the Trustee of the property so sold and the amount and 
disposition of the proceeds thereof. 

Subject to obtaining an opinion of Bond Counsel that such action will not adversely 
affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes, the Issuer may 
lease or grant easements, franchises or concessions for the use of any part of the Project not 
incompatible with the maintenance and operation thereof, if the Consulting Engineer shall 
approve such lease, easement, franchise or concession in writing, and the net proceeds of any 
such lease, easement, franchise or concession (after the making of provision for payment from 
said proceeds of all costs incurred in financing, constructing, operating, maintaining or repairing 
such leases, easements, franchises or concessions) shall be deposited as received to the credit of 
related Series Account in the Acquisition and Construction Fund. 

SECTION 9.24. No Loss of Lien on Pledged Revenue.  The Issuer shall not do or omit 
to do, or suffer to be done or omit to be done, any matter or thing whatsoever whereby the lien of 
the Bonds on the Pledged Revenues or any part thereof, or the priority thereof, would be lost or 
impaired; provided, however, that this Section shall not prohibit the Trustee from transferring 
moneys to the Rebate Fund held by the Trustee under any arbitrage rebate agreement. 

SECTION 9.25. Compliance with Other Contracts and Agreements.  The Issuer shall 
comply with and abide by all of the terms and conditions of any and all contracts and agreements 
which the Issuer enters into in connection with the Project and the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECTION 9.26. Issuance of Additional Obligations.  The Issuer shall not issue any 
obligations other than the Bonds payable from Pledged Revenues, nor voluntarily create or cause 
to be created any debt, lien, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other charge, payable from 
Pledged Revenues, except in the ordinary course of business. 

SECTION 9.27. Extension of Time for Payment of Interest Prohibited.  The Issuer shall 
not directly or indirectly extend or assent to an extension of time for payment of any claim for 
interest on any of the Bonds and shall not directly or indirectly be a party to or approve any 
arrangement therefor by purchasing or funding or in any manner keeping alive any such claim 
for interest; no claim for interest which in any way, at or after maturity, shall have been 

Page 271



 

50 

transferred or pledged apart from the Bonds to which it relates or which shall in any manner have 
been kept alive after maturity by extension or by purchase thereof by or on behalf of the Issuer, 
shall be entitled, in case of a default hereunder, to any benefit or security under this Master 
Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture except after the prior payment in full of the principal 
of all Bonds and claims for interest appertaining thereto not so transferred, pledged, kept alive or 
extended. 

SECTION 9.28. Further Assurances.  The Issuer shall not enter into any contract or 
take any action by which the rights of the Trustee or the Bondholders may be impaired and shall, 
from time to time, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as 
may be required to carry out the purposes of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental 
Indenture. 

SECTION 9.29. Use of Bond Proceeds to Comply with Internal Revenue Code.  The 
Issuer covenants to the Holders of the Bonds that it will not make or direct the making of any 
investment or other use of the proceeds of any Bonds issued hereunder, the interest on which is 
intended to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes (“Tax-Exempt 
Bonds”) which would cause such Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” as that term is defined in 
Section 148 of the Code or “private activity bonds” as that term is defined in Section 141, of the 
Code, and that it will comply with the requirements of such Code sections and related regulations 
throughout the term of such Tax-Exempt Bonds.  The Issuer hereby further covenants and agrees 
to comply with the procedures and covenants contained in any Arbitrage Certificate executed in 
connection with the issuance of each Series of Tax-Exempt Bonds for so long as compliance is 
necessary in order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
of interest on each Series of Tax-Exempt Bonds.  

SECTION 9.30. Corporate Existence and Maintenance of Properties.  For so long as 
any Bonds are Outstanding hereunder, unless otherwise provided by the Act, the Issuer shall 
maintain its corporate existence as a local unit of special purpose government under the Act and 
shall provide for or otherwise require all Projects, and all parts thereof owned by the Issuer to be 
(a) continuously operated, repaired, improved and maintained as shall be necessary to provide 
adequate service to the lands benefited thereby; and (b) in compliance with all valid and 
applicable laws, acts, rules, regulations, permits, orders, requirements and directions of any 
competent public authority. 

SECTION 9.31. Bankruptcy or Insolvency of Landowner.  For purposes of this Section 
9.31, (a) each Series of Bonds secured by and payable from Special Assessments levied against 
property owned by any Insolvent Taxpayer (defined below) are collectively referred to herein as 
the “Affected Bonds” and (b) the Special Assessments levied against any Insolvent Taxpayer’s 
property and pledged under one or more Supplemental Indentures as security for the Affected 
Bonds are collectively referred to herein as the “Affected Special Assessments”. 

The provisions of this Section 9.31 shall be applicable both before and after the 
commencement, whether voluntary or involuntary, of any case, proceeding or other action by or 
against any owner of any tax parcel subject to the Affected Special Assessments (an “Insolvent 
Taxpayer”) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or relief of debtors (a 

Page 272



 

51 

“Proceeding”).  For as long as any Affected Bonds remain Outstanding, in any Proceeding 
involving the Issuer, any Insolvent Taxpayer, the Affected Bonds or the Affected Special 
Assessments, the Issuer shall be obligated to act in accordance with any direction from the 
Trustee with regard to all matters directly or indirectly affecting at least three percent (3%) of the 
Outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Affected Bonds or for as long as any Affected 
Bonds remain Outstanding, in any proceeding involving the Issuer, any Insolvent Taxpayer, the 
Affected Bonds or the Affected Special Assessments or the Trustee.  The Issuer agrees that it 
shall not be a defense to a breach of the foregoing covenant that it has acted upon advice of 
counsel in not complying with this covenant. 

The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that, although the Affected Bonds were issued by 
the Issuer, the Owners of the Affected Bonds are categorically the party with the ultimate 
financial stake in the transaction and, consequently, the party with a vested and pecuniary 
interest in a Proceeding.  In the event of any Proceeding involving any Insolvent Taxpayer:  (a) 
the Issuer hereby agrees that it shall follow the direction of the Trustee in making any election, 
giving any consent, commencing any action or filing any motion, claim, obligation, notice or 
application or in taking any other action or position in any Proceeding or in any action related to 
a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, the Affected  Special Assessments, the 
Affected Bonds or any rights of the Trustee under the Indenture; (b) the Issuer hereby agrees that 
it shall not make any election, give any consent, commence any action or file any motion, claim, 
obligation, notice or application or take any other action or position in any Proceeding or in any 
action related to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, the Affected  Special 
Assessments, the Affected Bonds or any rights of the Trustee under the Indenture that is 
inconsistent with any direction from the Trustee; (c) to the extent permitted by law, the Trustee 
shall have the right, but is not obligated to, (i) vote in any such Proceeding any and all claims of 
the Issuer, or (ii) file any motion, pleading, plan or objection in any such Proceeding on behalf of 
the Issuer, including without limitation, motions seeking relief from the automatic stay, dismissal 
the Proceeding, valuation of the property belonging to the Insolvent Taxpayer, termination of 
exclusivity, and objections to disclosure statements, plans of liquidation or reorganization, and 
motions for use of cash collateral, seeking approval of sales or post-petition financing.  If the 
Trustee chooses to exercise any such rights, the Issuer shall be deemed to have appointed the 
Trustee as its agent and granted to the Trustee an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with an 
interest, and its proxy, for the purpose of exercising any and all rights and taking any and all 
actions available to the Issuer in connection with any Proceeding of any Insolvent Taxpayer, 
including without limitation, the right to file and/or prosecute any claims, to propose and 
prosecute a plan, to vote to accept or reject a plan, and to make any election under Section 
1111(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and (d) the Issuer shall not challenge the validity or amount of 
any claim submitted in such Proceeding by the Trustee in good faith or any valuations of the 
lands owned by any Insolvent Taxpayer submitted by the Trustee in good faith in such 
Proceeding or take any other action in such Proceeding, which is adverse to Trustee’s 
enforcement of the Issuer claim and rights with respect to the Affected  Special Assessments or 
receipt of adequate protection (as that term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code).  Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, the Issuer agrees that the Trustee shall have the right (i) to file a 
proof of claim with respect to the Affected Special Assessments, (ii) to deliver to the Issuer a 
copy thereof, together with evidence of the filing with the appropriate court or other authority, 
and (iii) to defend any objection filed to said proof of claim. 

Page 273



 

52 

SECTION 9.32. Continuing Disclosure.  The Issuer hereby covenants and agrees that it 
will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
failure of the Issuer or the Developer (if obligated pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement) to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be considered an 
Event of Default; however, the Trustee may (and, at the request of any participating underwriter 
or the Holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount in Outstanding Bonds of a Series and 
receipt of indemnity to its satisfaction, shall) or any Holder of the Bonds or Beneficial Owner 
may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking specific 
performance by court order, to cause the Issuer to comply with its obligations under this Section 
9.32.  For purposes of this Section, “Beneficial Owner” means any person which (a) has the 
power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, 
any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other 
intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

ARTICLE X 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 10.01. Events of Default and Remedies.  Except to the extent otherwise 
provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds, events of default and 
remedies with respect to each Series of Bonds shall be as set forth in this Master Indenture.   

SECTION 10.02. Events of Default Defined.  Each of the following shall be an “Event 
of Default” under the Indenture, with respect to a Series of Bonds:   

(a) if payment of any installment of interest on any Bond of such Series is not made 
when it becomes due and payable; or 

(b) if payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any Bond of such Series is not 
made when it becomes due and payable at maturity or upon call or presentation for redemption; 
or 

(c) if the Issuer, for any reason, fails in, or is rendered incapable of, fulfilling its 
obligations under the Indenture or under the Act, as determined by the Majority Holder of such 
Series of Bonds; or 

(d) if the Issuer proposes or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or enters 
into a composition agreement with all or a material part of its creditors, or a trustee, receiver, 
executor, conservator, liquidator, sequestrator or other judicial representative, similar or 
dissimilar, is appointed for the Issuer or any of its assets or revenues, or there is commenced any 
proceeding in liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement of debts, debtor 
rehabilitation, creditor adjustment or insolvency, local, state or federal, by or against the Issuer 
and if such is not vacated, dismissed or stayed on appeal within ninety (90) days; or 

(e) if the Issuer defaults in the due and punctual performance of any other covenant in 
the Indenture or in any Bond of such Series  issued pursuant to the Indenture and such default 
continues for sixty (60) days after written notice requiring the same to be remedied shall have 

Page 274



 

53 

been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, which may give such notice in its discretion and shall 
give such notice at the written request of the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds of such 
Series; provided, however, that if such performance requires work to be done, actions to be 
taken, or conditions to be remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken or 
remedied, as the case may be, within such sixty (60) day period, no Event of Default shall be 
deemed to have occurred or exist if, and so long as the Issuer shall commence such performance 
within such sixty (60) day period and shall diligently and continuously prosecute the same to 
completion; or 

(f) written notice shall have been received by the Trustee from a Credit Facility 
Issuer securing Bonds of such Series that an event of default has occurred under the Credit 
Facility Agreement, or there shall have been a failure by said Credit Facility Issuer to make said 
Credit Facility available or to reinstate the interest component of said Credit Facility in 
accordance with the terms of said Credit Facility, to the extent said notice or failure is 
established as an event of default under the terms of a Supplemental Indenture; or 

(g) if at any time the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any account therein 
is less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement as a result of the Trustee withdrawing an 
amount therefrom to pay debt service on any Series of Bonds and such amount has not been 
restored within thirty (30) days of such withdrawal; or 

(h) if at any time after eighteen months following issuance of the related series of 
Bonds, more than twenty percent (20%) of the “maintenance special assessments” levied by the 
Issuer on the District Lands upon which the Special Assessments are levied to secure one or 
more Series of Bonds pursuant to Section 190.021(3), Florida Statutes, as amended, and 
collected directly by the District have become due and payable and have not been paid, when 
due. 

The Trustee shall not be required to rely on any official action, admission or declaration 
by the Issuer before recognizing that an Event of Default under (c) above has occurred. 

SECTION 10.03. No Acceleration; Redemption.  No Series of Bonds issued under this 
Master Indenture shall be subject to acceleration.  Upon occurrence and continuance of an Event 
of Default, no optional redemption or extraordinary mandatory redemption of the Bonds 
pursuant to Article VIII hereof shall occur unless all of the Bonds of the Series where an Event 
of Default has occurred will be redeemed or if 100% of the Holders of such Series of Bonds 
agree to such redemption; provided however nothing in this Section 10.03 shall prevent a pro 
rata default distribution pursuant to Section 10.12 herein.   

SECTION 10.04. Foreclosure of Assessment Lien.  Notwithstanding Section 9.06 of this 
Master Indenture or any other provision of this Master Indenture to the contrary, the following 
provisions shall apply with respect to the Special Assessments securing a Series of Bonds and 
such Series of Bonds. 

If any property shall be offered for sale for the nonpayment of any Special Assessment 
and no person or persons shall purchase such property for an amount equal to the full amount 
due on the Special Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys’ fees, if 

Page 275



 

54 

any), the property may then be purchased by the Issuer for an amount equal to the balance due on 
the Special Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys’ fees, if any), 
from any legally available funds of the Issuer and the Issuer shall receive in its corporate name or 
in the name of a special purpose entity title to the property for the benefit of the Owners of the 
applicable Series of Bonds; provided that the Trustee shall have the right, acting at the written 
direction of the Majority Holder, but shall not be obligated, to direct the Issuer with respect to 
any action taken pursuant to this Section.  The Issuer, either through its own actions, or actions 
caused to be taken through the Trustee, shall have the power and shall lease or sell such property, 
and deposit all of the net proceeds of any such lease or sale into the Revenue Account.  The 
Issuer, either through its own actions, or actions caused to be taken through the Trustee, agrees 
that it shall be required to take the measures provided by law for sale of property acquired by it 
as Trustee for the Owners of the applicable Series of Bonds within sixty (60) days after the 
receipt of the request therefor signed by the Trustee or the Majority Holder. 

SECTION 10.05. Legal Proceedings by Trustee.  If any Event of Default with respect to 
a Series of Bonds has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee, in its discretion may, and upon the 
written request of the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds of such Series and receipt of 
indemnity to its satisfaction shall, in its capacity as Trustee: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all 
rights of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series, including, without limitation, the right to 
require the Issuer to carry out any agreements with, or for the benefit of, the Bondholders of the 
Bonds of such Series and to perform its or their duties under the Act; 

(b) bring suit upon the Series of Bonds; 

(c) by action or suit in equity require the Issuer to account as if it were the trustee of 
an express trust for the Holders of the Bonds of such Series; 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in 
violation of the rights of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series; and 

(e) by other proceeding in law or equity, exercise all rights and remedies provided for 
by any other document or instrument securing such Series of Bonds. 

SECTION 10.06. Discontinuance of Proceedings by Trustee.  If any proceeding taken by 
the Trustee on account of any Event of Default is discontinued or is determined adversely to the 
Trustee, the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agent and the Bondholders shall be restored to their 
former positions and rights hereunder as though no such proceeding had been taken. 

SECTION 10.07. Bondholders May Direct Proceedings.  Subject to Section 10.08 
below, the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds of a Series then subject to remedial 
proceedings under this Article X shall have the right to direct the method and place of 
conducting all remedial proceedings by the Trustee under the Indenture, provided that such 
directions shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law or the provisions of the Indenture. 

SECTION 10.08. Limitations on Actions by Bondholders.  No Bondholder shall have 
any right to pursue any remedy hereunder unless (a) the Trustee shall have been given written 

Page 276



 

55 

notice of an Event of Default, (b) the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds of the applicable 
Series shall have requested the Trustee, in writing, to exercise the powers hereinabove granted or 
to pursue such remedy in its or their name or names, (c) the Trustee shall have been offered 
indemnity satisfactory to it against costs, expenses and liabilities (including attorneys’ fees, costs 
and expenses), and (d) the Trustee shall have failed to comply with such request within a 
reasonable time. 

SECTION 10.09. Trustee May Enforce Rights Without Possession of Bonds.  All rights 
under the Indenture and a Series of Bonds may be enforced by the Trustee without the possession 
of any of the Bonds of such Series or the production thereof at the trial or other proceedings 
relative thereto, and any proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name for the 
ratable benefit of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series. 

SECTION 10.10. Remedies Not Exclusive.  Except as limited under Section 15.01 of 
this Master Indenture, no remedy contained in the Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds is 
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each remedy is in addition to 
every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

SECTION 10.11. Delays and Omissions Not to Impair Rights.  No delay or omission in 
respect of exercising any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair such 
right or power or be a waiver of such Event of Default, and every remedy given by this Article X 
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

SECTION 10.12. Application of Moneys in Event of Default.  Any moneys received by 
the Trustee or the Paying Agent, as the case may be, in connection with any proceedings brought 
under this Article X with respect to a Series of Bonds shall be applied in the following order of 
priority: 

(a) to the payment of the costs of the Trustee and Paying Agent incurred in 
connection with actions taken under this Article X with respect to such Series of Bonds, 
including counsel fees, costs and expenses and any disbursements of the Trustee and the Paying 
Agent and payment of unpaid fees owed to the Trustee, the Registrar or the Paying Agent. 

(b) unless the principal of all the Bonds of such Series shall have become or shall 
have been declared due and payable: 

FIRST, to payment of all installments of interest then due on the Bonds of such 
Series in the order of maturity of such installments of interest, and, if the amount 
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the 
payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons 
entitled thereto, without any preference or priority of one installment of interest over any 
other installment; and 

SECOND, to payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal or 
Redemption Price of any of the Bonds of such Series which shall have become due in the 
order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds from the respective dates upon 
which they become due and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full 
the principal or Redemption Price coming due on such Bonds on any particular date, 

Page 277



 

56 

together with such interest, then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of 
principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any preference or 
priority of one such Bond of a Series over another or of any installment of interest over 
another. 

(c) if the principal of all Bonds of a Series shall have become or shall have been 
declared due and payable, to the payment of principal or Redemption Price (as the case may be) 
and interest then owing on the Bonds of such Series and in case such moneys shall be 
insufficient to pay the same in full, then to the payment of principal or Redemption Price and 
interest ratably, without preference or priority of one Bond of such Series over another or of any 
installment of interest over any other installment of interest. 

Any surplus remaining after the payments described above shall be paid to the Issuer or 
to the Person lawfully entitled to receive the same or as a court of competent jurisdiction may 
direct. 

For purposes of the application of moneys described above, to the extent payments of 
principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds shall have been made under a Credit Facility 
relating thereto, the Credit Facility Issuer shall be entitled to moneys in the related Series 
Accounts in the Debt Service Fund in accordance with the agreement pursuant to which such 
Credit Facility has been issued (but subject to subsection (a) hereof and Section 11.04 hereof) 
and the Certified Resolution of the Issuer authorizing the issuance of such Bonds to which such 
Credit Facility relates. 

SECTION 10.13. Trustee’s Right to Receiver; Compliance with Act.  During the 
continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall be entitled as of right to the appointment of 
a receiver and the Trustee, the Bondholders and any receiver so appointed shall have such rights 
and powers and be subject to such limitations and restrictions as are contained in the Act and 
other applicable law of the State.  When the Trustee incurs costs or expenses (including legal 
fees, costs and expenses) or renders services after the occurrence of an Event of Default, such 
costs and expenses and the compensation for such services are intended to constitute expenses of 
administration under any federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, moratorium, 
reorganization or other debtor relief law. 

SECTION 10.14. Trustee and Bondholders Entitled to all Remedies under Act.  It is the 
purpose of this Article to provide such remedies to the Trustee and Bondholders as may be 
lawfully granted under the provisions of the Act and other applicable laws of the State; if any 
remedy herein granted shall be held unlawful, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall nevertheless 
be entitled to every other remedy provided by the Act and other applicable laws of the State.  It is 
further intended that, insofar as lawfully possible, the provisions of this Article X shall apply to 
and be binding upon any receiver appointed in accordance with Section 10.13 hereof. 

SECTION 10.15. Credit Facility Issuer’s Rights Upon Events of Default.  Anything in 
the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, if any Event of Default, other than Events of 
Default described in Section 10.02(a) or (b) hereof, has occurred and is continuing while a Credit 
Facility securing all or a portion of such Bonds of a Series Outstanding is in effect, the Credit 
Facility Issuer shall have the right, in lieu of the Owners of the Series of Bonds (or portion 

Page 278



 

57 

thereof) secured by said Credit Facility, by an instrument in writing, executed and delivered to 
the Trustee, to direct the time, method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings 
available to the Trustee under the Indenture, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the 
Trustee by the Indenture.  Said direction shall be controlling to the extent the direction of 
Owners of the Series of Bonds (or portion thereof) secured by said Credit Facility would have 
been controlling under this Article.  If the Credit Facility Issuer shall be in default in the 
performance of its obligations under the Credit Facility, said Credit Facility Issuer shall have no 
rights under this Section.   

ARTICLE XI 
THE TRUSTEE; THE PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

SECTION 11.01. Acceptance of Trust.  The Trustee accepts and agrees to execute the 
trusts hereby created, but only upon the additional terms set forth in this Article XI, to all of 
which the parties hereto the Bondholders and any Credit Facility Issuer agree.  The Trustee shall 
act as Trustee under this Master Indenture.  Subject to the provisions of Section 11.03 hereof, the 
Trustee shall have only such duties as are expressly set forth herein, and no duties shall be 
implied on the part of the Trustee.  The Trustee further agrees to assist the Issuer in complying 
with the procedures and covenants of the Issuer contained in any arbitrage rebate agreement to 
which the Issuer is a party and which specifically pertain to the Trustee for so long as 
compliance is necessary in order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income 
tax purposes of interest on the Bonds, to the extent applicable. 

SECTION 11.02. No Responsibility for Recitals.  The recitals, statements and 
representations in this Master Indenture or in the Bonds, save only the Trustee’s Certificate of 
Authentication, if any, upon the Bonds, have been made by the Issuer and not by the Trustee and 
the Trustee shall be under no responsibility for the correctness thereof. 

SECTION 11.03. Trustee May Act Through Agents; Answerable Only for Willful 
Misconduct or Negligence.  The Trustee may execute any powers hereunder and perform any 
duties required of it through attorneys, agents, officers or employees, and shall be entitled to 
advice of Counsel concerning all questions hereunder and the advice of such Counsel or any 
opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any 
action taken, suffered or omitted by the Trustee hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon; 
the Trustee shall not be answerable for the default or misconduct of any attorney or agent 
selected and supervised by it with reasonable care.  The Trustee shall not be answerable for the 
exercise of any discretion or power under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture 
nor for anything whatever in connection with the trust hereunder, except only its own negligence 
or willful misconduct or breach of its obligations hereunder.  The Trustee shall not be 
accountable for the use or application of any of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use 
or application of any money paid over by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this 
Indenture.  The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall 
not be construed as a duty.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any 
information, statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other 
disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds and shall have no 
responsibility for compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection with the 
Bonds.  None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its 

Page 279



 

58 

own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any of 
its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.  The Trustee shall not be 
responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this 
Indenture arising out of or caused, directly or indirectly, by circumstances beyond its reasonable 
control, including, without limitation, acts of God; earthquakes; fire; flood; hurricanes or other 
storms; wars; terrorism; similar military disturbances; sabotage; epidemic; pandemic; riots; 
interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, computer (hardware or software) or 
communications services; accidents; labor disputes; acts of civil or military authority or 
governmental action; it being understood that the Trustee shall use commercially reasonable 
efforts which are consistent with accepted practices in the banking industry to resume 
performance as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances.   

SECTION 11.04. Compensation and Indemnity.  The Issuer shall pay the Trustee 
reasonable compensation for its services hereunder, and also all its reasonable expenses and 
disbursements, and shall, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify and hold the Trustee 
harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the proper exercise and performance of its 
powers and duties hereunder, except with respect to its own willful misconduct, negligence or 
breach of its obligations hereunder.  If the Issuer defaults in respect of the foregoing obligations, 
the Trustee may deduct the amount owing to it from any moneys held by the Trustee or coming 
into its hands but exclusive of the Rebate Fund and moneys from a drawing on any Credit 
Facility, which right of payment shall be prior to the right of the holders of the Bonds.  The 
Trustee shall promptly provide to the Issuer a periodic report of any moneys the Trustee has 
deducted for amounts owing to it.  This Section 11.04 shall survive the termination of this Master 
Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture and, as to any Trustee, its removal or resignation as 
Trustee.  No provision of this Master Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own 
funds. 

SECTION 11.05. No Duty to Renew Insurance.  The Trustee shall be under no duty to 
effect or to renew any insurance policy nor shall it incur any liability for the failure of the Issuer 
to require or effect or renew insurance or to report or file claims of loss thereunder. 

SECTION 11.06. Notice of Default; Right to Investigate.  The Trustee shall give written 
notice by first-class mail to registered Holders of a Series of Bonds of all defaults known to the 
Trustee, unless such defaults have been remedied (the term “defaults” for purposes of this 
Section and Section 11.07 being defined to include the events specified as “Events of Default” in 
Article X hereof, but not including any notice or periods of grace provided for therein); provided 
that, except in the case of a default in payment of principal or interest or Redemption Price, the 
Trustee may withhold such notice so long as it in good faith determines that such withholding is 
in the interest of the Bondholders.  The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any default 
other than a payment default under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture or a 
notification by a Credit Facility Issuer of a default under its Credit Facility, unless notified in 
writing of such default by the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds of a Series.  The 
Trustee may, however, at any time require of the Issuer full information as to the performance of 
any covenant hereunder, and if information satisfactory to it is not forthcoming, the Trustee may 
make or cause to be made, at the expense of the Issuer, an investigation into the affairs of the 
Issuer. 

Page 280



 

59 

SECTION 11.07. Obligation to Act on Defaults.  The Trustee shall be under no 
obligation to take any action in respect of any default or otherwise, unless it is requested in 
writing to do so by the Majority Holder of the Outstanding Bonds which are or would be, upon 
the taking of such action, subject to remedial proceedings under Article X of this Master 
Indenture if in its opinion such action may tend to involve expense or liability, and unless it is 
also furnished with indemnity satisfactory to it. 

SECTION 11.08. Reliance by Trustee.  The Trustee may act on any requisition, 
resolution, notice, telegram, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, request, consent, waiver, 
certificate, statement, affidavit, voucher, bond, or other paper or document which it in good faith 
believes to be genuine and to have been passed, signed or given by the persons purporting to be 
authorized (which in the case of the Issuer shall be a Responsible Officer) or to have been 
prepared and furnished pursuant to any of the provisions of this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture; the Trustee shall be under no duty to make any investigation as to any 
statement contained in any such instrument, but may accept the same as conclusive evidence of 
the accuracy of such statement. 

SECTION 11.09. Trustee May Deal in Bonds.  The Trustee may in good faith buy, sell, 
own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds and may join in any action which any Bondholders may 
be entitled to take with like effect as if the Trustee were not a party to this Master Indenture and 
any Supplemental Indenture.  The Trustee may also engage in or be interested in any financial or 
other transaction with the Issuer; provided, however, that if the Trustee determines that any such 
relation is in conflict with its duties under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
it shall eliminate the conflict or resign as Trustee. 

SECTION 11.10. Construction of Ambiguous Provisions.  The Trustee may construe any 
ambiguous or inconsistent provisions of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
and except as otherwise provided in Article XIII of this Master Indenture, any construction by 
the Trustee shall be binding upon the Bondholders.  The Trustee shall give prompt notice to the 
Issuer of any intention to make such construction. 

SECTION 11.11. Resignation of Trustee.  The Trustee may resign and be discharged of 
the trusts created by this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures by written 
resignation filed with the Secretary of the Issuer not less than sixty (60) days before the date 
when such resignation is to take effect.  Notice of such resignation shall be sent by Electronic 
Means or mail to each Bondholder as its name and address appears on the Bond Register and to 
any Paying Agent, Registrar and Credit Facility Issuer, if any, at least sixty (60) days before the 
resignation is to take effect.  Such resignation shall take effect on the day specified in the 
Trustee’s notice of resignation unless a successor Trustee is previously appointed, in which event 
the resignation shall take effect immediately on the appointment of such successor; provided, 
however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, such resignation shall not take effect until a 
successor Trustee has been appointed.  If a successor Trustee has not been appointed within 
ninety (90) days after the Trustee has given its notice of resignation, the Trustee may petition any 
court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a temporary successor Trustee to serve as 
Trustee until a successor Trustee has been duly appointed.  Notice of such resignation shall also 
be given to any rating agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds. 

Page 281



 

60 

SECTION 11.12. Removal of Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed at any time by 
either (a) the Issuer, if no default exists under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture, or (b) an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing, executed by the Majority 
Holder of the Bonds then Outstanding and filed with the Issuer.  A photographic copy of any 
instrument or instruments filed with the Issuer under the provisions of this paragraph, duly 
certified by a Responsible Officer, shall be delivered promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee and to 
any Paying Agent, Registrar and Credit Facility Issuer, if any. 

The Trustee may also be removed at any time for any breach of trust or for acting or 
proceeding in violation of, or for failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any material 
provision of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture with respect to the duties and 
obligations of the Trustee by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of the 
Issuer or the Majority Holder of the Bonds then Outstanding or the Trustee may petition a court 
of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor trustee. 

SECTION 11.13. Appointment of Successor Trustee.  If the Trustee or any successor 
Trustee resigns or is removed or dissolved, or if its property or business is taken under the 
control of any state or federal court or administrative body, a vacancy shall forthwith exist in the 
office of the Trustee, and the Issuer shall appoint a successor and shall mail notice of such 
appointment by first-class mail to each Bondholder as its name and address appear on the Bond 
Register, and to the Paying Agent, Registrar, Credit Facility Issuer, if any, and any rating agency 
that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds.  If no appointment of a successor 
Trustee shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Master Indenture prior to the 
date specified in the notice of resignation or removal as the date when such resignation or 
removal was to take effect, the Majority Holder of all Bonds then Outstanding may appoint a 
successor Trustee or the Trustee may petition a court of competent jurisdiction for the 
appointment of a successor trustee. 

SECTION 11.14. Qualification of Successor.  A successor Trustee shall be a bank or 
trust company with trust powers, having a combined net capital and surplus of at least 
$50,000,000. 

SECTION 11.15. Instruments of Succession.  Subject to Section 11.16 hereof, any 
successor Trustee shall, subject to Section 11.16 hereof, execute, acknowledge and deliver to the 
Issuer an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder and thereupon, such successor 
Trustee, without any further act, deed, or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the 
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor in trust 
hereunder, with like effect as if originally named Trustee herein.  The Trustee ceasing to act 
hereunder, after deducting all amounts owed to the Trustee, shall pay over to the successor 
Trustee all moneys held by it hereunder and, upon written request of the successor Trustee, the 
Trustee ceasing to act and the Issuer shall execute and deliver an instrument or instruments 
prepared by the Issuer transferring to the successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, 
powers and trusts hereunder of the predecessor Trustee, except for its rights to indemnity under 
Section 11.04 hereof. 

SECTION 11.16. Merger of Trustee.  Any corporation, purchaser or entity into which 
any Trustee hereunder may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation, 

Page 282



 

61 

purchaser or entity resulting from any merger or consolidation to which any Trustee hereunder 
shall be a party, or any corporation, purchaser or entity that acquires the Trust Accounts of any 
Trustee hereunder, shall be the successor Trustee under this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the 
part of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however, 
that any such successor corporation, purchaser or entity continuing to act as Trustee hereunder 
shall meet the requirements of Section 11.14 hereof, and if such corporation, purchaser or entity 
does not meet the aforesaid requirements, a successor Trustee shall be appointed pursuant to this 
Article XI.  The Trustee may not resign as the Paying Agent or the Registrar without resigning as 
Trustee.  The Trustee shall provide prompt written notice following the transaction(s) 
contemplated by this Section. 

SECTION 11.17. Extension of Rights and Duties of Trustee to Paying Agent and 
Registrar.  The provisions of Sections 11.02, 11.03, 11.04, 11.08, 11.09, 11.10 and 11.16 hereof 
are hereby made applicable to the Paying Agent and the Registrar, as appropriate, and any 
Person serving as Paying Agent and/or Registrar, hereby enters into and agrees to comply with 
the covenants and agreements of this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures 
applicable to the Paying Agent and Registrar, respectively. 

SECTION 11.18. Resignation of Paying Agent or Registrar.  The Paying Agent or 
Registrar may resign and be discharged of the duties created by this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures by executing an instrument in writing resigning such duties and 
specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect, and filing the same with the Issuer, 
the Trustee, and any rating agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, not 
less than forty-five (45) days before the date specified in such instrument when such resignation 
shall take effect, and by giving written notice of such resignation not less than three (3) weeks 
prior to such resignation date to the Bondholders, mailed to their addresses as such appear in the 
Bond Register.  Such resignation shall take effect on the date specified in such instrument and 
notice, but only if a successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall have been appointed as hereinafter 
provided, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately upon the appointment of 
such successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  If the successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall not 
have been appointed within a period of ninety (90) days following the giving of notice, then the 
Paying Agent or Registrar shall be authorized to petition any court of competent jurisdiction to 
appoint a successor Paying Agent or Registrar as provided in Section 11.22 hereof. 

SECTION 11.19. Removal of Paying Agent or Registrar.  The Paying Agent or Registrar 
may be removed at any time prior to any Event of Default by the Issuer by filing with the Paying 
Agent or Registrar to be removed, and with the Trustee, an instrument or instruments in writing 
executed by the Issuer appointing a successor, or an instrument or instruments in writing 
designating, and accompanied by an instrument or appointment by the Issuer of, such successor.  
Such removal shall be effective thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be set forth in 
such instrument) after delivery of the instrument; provided, however, that no such removal shall 
be effective until the successor Paying Agent or Registrar appointed hereunder shall execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder. 

SECTION 11.20. Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  In case at any 
time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall be removed, or be dissolved, or if its property or affairs 

Page 283



 

62 

shall be taken under the control of any state or federal court or administrative body because of 
insolvency or bankruptcy, or for any other reason, then a vacancy shall forthwith and ipso facto 
exist in the office of the Paying Agent or Registrar, as the case may be, and a successor shall be 
appointed by the Issuer; and in case at any time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall resign, then a 
successor shall be appointed by the Issuer.  After any such appointment, notice of such 
appointment shall be given by the Issuer to the predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar, the 
successor Paying Agent or Registrar, the Trustee, the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, any rating 
agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, and all Bondholders.  Any new 
Paying Agent or Registrar so appointed shall immediately, and without further act, supersede the 
predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar. 

SECTION 11.21. Qualifications of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Every 
successor Paying Agent or Registrar (a) shall be a commercial bank or trust company (i) duly 
organized under the laws of the United States or any state or territory thereof, (i) authorized by 
law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Master Indenture and all Supplemental 
Indentures and (iii) capable of meeting its obligations hereunder, and (b) shall have a combined 
net capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000. 

SECTION 11.22. Judicial Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  In case 
at any time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall resign and no appointment of a successor Paying 
Agent or Registrar shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Master Indenture 
prior to the date specified in the notice of resignation as the date when such resignation is to take 
effect, the retiring Paying Agent or Registrar may forthwith apply to a court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Such court may 
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor 
Paying Agent or Registrar.  Notice of such appointment shall be given by the Successor Registrar 
or Paying Agent to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, any rating agency 
that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, and all Bondholders.  In the absence of 
such an appointment, the Trustee shall become the Registrar or Paying Agent, or and shall so 
notify the Issuer, any rating agency that shall have issued a rating on the Bonds, and all 
Bondholders. 

SECTION 11.23. Acceptance of Duties by Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Any 
successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall become duly vested with all the estates, property, 
rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor hereunder, with like effect as if 
originally named Paying Agent or Registrar herein.  Upon request of such Paying Agent or 
Registrar, such predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar and the Issuer shall, after payment of its 
fees and expenses, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Paying Agent 
or Registrar all the estates, property, rights and powers hereunder, except for its rights under 
Section 11.04 hereof, as applicable, pursuant to Section 11.17 hereof, of such predecessor Paying 
Agent or Registrar and such predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar shall pay over and deliver to 
the successor Paying Agent or Registrar all moneys and other assets at the time held by it 
hereunder. 

SECTION 11.24. Successor by Merger or Consolidation.  Any corporation, purchaser or 
entity into which any Paying Agent or Registrar hereunder may be merged or converted or with 
which it may be consolidated, or any corporation, purchaser or entity resulting from any merger 

Page 284



 

63 

or consolidation to which any Paying Agent or Registrar hereunder shall be a party, or any 
corporation, purchaser or entity which shall have purchased substantially all of the bond 
administration business of the corporate trust department shall be the successor Paying Agent or 
Registrar under this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures without the execution or 
filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the parties thereto, anything in this Master 
Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding. 

SECTION 11.25  Patriot Act Requirements of Trustee.  To help the government fight the 
funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial 
institutions to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each person who opens an 
account.  For a non-individual person such as a business entity, a charity, a trust or other legal 
entity, the Trustee will ask for documentation to verify such non-individual person’s formation 
and existence as a legal entity.  The Trustee may also ask to see financial statements, licenses, 
identification and authorization documents from individuals claiming authority to represent the 
entity or other relevant documentation. 

SECTION 11.26  Signatures.  All notices, approvals, consents, requests and any 
communications hereunder must be in writing (provided that any communication sent to the 
Trustee hereunder must be in the form of a document that is signed manually or by way of a 
digital signature provided by the Issuer (or such other digital signature provider as specified in 
writing to the Trustee by the authorized representative)), in English.   

ARTICLE XII 
ACTS OF BONDHOLDERS; EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS 

SECTION 12.01. Acts of Bondholders; Evidence of Ownership of Bonds.  Any action to 
be taken by Bondholders may be evidenced by one or more concurrent written instruments of 
similar tenor signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or by an agent appointed in 
writing.  The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such instrument may be 
provided by acknowledgment before a notary public or other officer empowered to take 
acknowledgments or by an affidavit of a witness to such execution.  Any action by the Owner of 
any Bond shall bind all future Owners of the same Bond in respect of anything done or suffered 
by the Issuer, Trustee, Paying Agent or Registrar in pursuance thereof. 

ARTICLE XIII 
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS 

SECTION 13.01. Amendments and Supplements Without Bondholders’ Consent.  This 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture may be amended or supplemented, from time 
to time, without the consent of the Bondholders, by a Supplemental Indenture authorized by a 
Certified Resolution of the Issuer filed with the Trustee, for one or more of the following 
purposes: 

(a) to add additional covenants of the Issuer or to surrender any right or power herein 
conferred upon the Issuer; 

Page 285



 

64 

(b) for any purpose not inconsistent with the terms of the related Indenture, or to cure 
any ambiguity or to cure, correct or supplement any defective provision (whether because of any 
inconsistency with any other provision hereof or otherwise) of the related Indenture, in such 
manner as shall not impair the security hereof or thereof or adversely affect the rights and 
remedies of the Bondholders;  

(c) to provide for the execution of any and all contracts and other documents as may 
be required in order to effectuate the conveyance of any Project to the State, the County, or any 
department, agency or branch thereof, or any other unit of government of the State, provided, 
however, that the Issuer shall have caused to be delivered to the Trustee an opinion of Bond 
Counsel stating that such conveyance shall not impair the security hereof or adversely affect the 
rights and remedies of the Bondholders; and 

(d) to make such changes as may be necessary in order to reflect amendments to 
Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, so long as, in the opinion of counsel to the Issuer, 
such changes either:  (i) do not have a material adverse effect on the Holders of the Bonds; or 
(ii) if such changes do have an adverse effect, that they nevertheless are required to be made as a 
result of such amendments. 

SECTION 13.02. Amendments with Bondholders’ Consent.  Subject to the provisions of 
Section 13.01 hereof, this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture may be amended 
from time to time by a Supplemental Indenture approved by the Majority Holder of the Bonds 
then Outstanding in the case of the Master Indenture, and of the Series of Bonds then 
Outstanding and secured by such Supplemental Indenture in the case of an amendment of a 
Supplemental Indenture including, but not limited to, any material amendment to the Special 
Assessments and related proceedings which secure a Series of Bonds; provided that with respect 
to (a) the interest payable upon any Bonds, (b) the dates of maturity or redemption provisions of 
any Bonds, (c) this Article XIII and (d) the security provisions hereunder or under any 
Supplemental Indenture, which may only be amended by approval of the Owners of all Bonds to 
be so amended. 

SECTION 13.03. Trustee Authorized to Join in Amendments and Supplements; Reliance 
on Counsel.  The Trustee is authorized to join in the execution and delivery of any Supplemental 
Indenture or amendment permitted by this Article XIII and in so doing may request, at the 
expense of the Issuer, and receive and rely on a written opinion of Counsel that such 
Supplemental Indenture or amendment is so permitted and has been duly authorized by the 
Issuer, that all things necessary to make it a valid and binding agreement have been done. 

ARTICLE XIV 
DEFEASANCE 

SECTION 14.01. Defeasance.  When interest on, and principal or Redemption Price (as 
the case may be) of, the Bonds of a Series or any portion thereof to be defeased have been paid, 
or there shall have been deposited with the Trustee or such other escrow agent designated in a 
Certified Resolution of the Issuer (the “Escrow Agent”) moneys sufficient, or Defeasance 
Securities, the principal of and interest on which, when due, together with any moneys remaining 
uninvested, will provide sufficient moneys to fully pay (i) such Bonds of a Series or portion 

Page 286



 

65 

thereof to be defeased, and (ii) any other sums payable hereunder by the Issuer, the right, title 
and interest of the Trustee with respect to such Bonds of a Series or portion thereof to be 
defeased shall thereupon cease, the lien of the Indenture on the Pledged Revenues, and the Funds 
and Accounts established under the Indenture shall be defeased and discharged, and the Trustee, 
on demand of the Issuer, shall release the Indenture as to such Bonds of a Series or portion 
thereof to be so defeased and shall execute such documents to evidence such release as may be 
reasonably required by the Issuer and shall turn over to the Issuer or to such Person, body or 
authority as may be entitled to receive the same all balances remaining in any Series Funds and 
Accounts upon the defeasance in whole of all of the Bonds of a Series. 

SECTION 14.02. Deposit of Funds for Payment of Bonds.  If the Issuer deposits with the 
Escrow Agent moneys sufficient, or Defeasance Securities, the principal of and interest on 
which, when due, together with any moneys remaining uninvested, will provide sufficient 
moneys to pay the principal or Redemption Price of any Bonds of a Series becoming due, either 
at maturity or by redemption or otherwise, together with all interest accruing thereon to the date 
of maturity or such prior redemption, and reimburses or causes to be reimbursed or pays or 
causes to be paid the other amounts required to be reimbursed or paid under Section 14.01 
hereof, interest on such Bonds of a Series shall cease to accrue on such date of maturity or prior 
redemption and all liability of the Issuer with respect to such Bonds of a Series shall likewise 
cease, except as hereinafter provided; provided, however, that (a) if any Bonds are to be 
redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of the redemption thereof shall have been duly 
given in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.02 hereof, or irrevocable provision 
satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been duly made for the giving of such notice, and (b) in the 
event that any Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding 
sixty (60) days following a deposit of moneys with the Escrow Agent, in accordance with this 
Section, the Issuer shall have given the Escrow Agent, in form satisfactory to the Escrow Agent, 
irrevocable instructions to mail to the Owners of such Bonds at their addresses as they appear on 
the Bond Register, a notice stating that a deposit in accordance with this Section has been made 
with the Escrow Agent and that the Bonds to which such notice relates are deemed to have been 
paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which 
moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price (as the case may 
be) of, and interest on, said Bonds of a Series.  Thereafter such Bonds shall be deemed not to be 
Outstanding hereunder and the Owners of such Bonds shall be restricted exclusively to the funds 
so deposited for any claim of whatsoever nature with respect to such Bonds, and the Escrow 
Agent shall hold such funds in trust for such Owners.  At the time of the deposit referred to 
above, there shall be delivered to the Escrow Agent (i) a verification from a firm of independent 
certified public accountants stating that the principal of and interest on the Defeasance Securities, 
together with the stated amount of any cash remaining on deposit with the Escrow Agent, will be 
sufficient without reinvestment to pay the remaining principal of, redemption premium, if any, 
and interest on such defeased Bonds, and (ii) an opinion of Bond Counsel that such deposit and 
payment will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of interest on any defeased 
Tax-Exempt Bonds, and that the lien of the Owners of the defeased Bonds under this Indenture is 
discharged. 

Money so deposited with the Escrow Agent which remains unclaimed two (2) years after 
the date payment thereof becomes due shall, upon request of the Issuer, if the Issuer is not at the 
time to the knowledge of the Escrow Agent in default with respect to any covenant in the 

Page 287



 

66 

Indenture or the Bonds of the Series contained, be paid to the Issuer; and the Owners of the 
Bonds for which the deposit was made shall thereafter be limited to a claim against the Issuer; 
provided, however, that the Escrow Agent, before making payment to the Issuer, may, at the 
expense of the Issuer, cause a notice to be published in an Authorized Newspaper, stating that the 
money remaining unclaimed will be returned to the Issuer after a specified date. 

ARTICLE XV 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

SECTION 15.01. Limitations on Recourse.  No personal recourse shall be had for any 
claim based on this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds against any 
member of the Board of the Issuer, officer, employee or agent, past, present or future, of the 
Issuer or of any successor body as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any such 
successor body, under any constitutional provision, statute or rule of law or by the enforcement 
of any assessment or penalty or otherwise. 

The Bonds of each Series are payable solely from the Pledged Revenues, and any other 
moneys held by the Trustee under the Indenture for such purpose.  There shall be no other 
recourse under the Bonds, the Indenture or otherwise, against the Issuer or any other property 
now or hereafter owned by it. 

SECTION 15.02. Payment Dates.  In any case where an Interest Payment Date or the 
maturity date of the Bonds or the date fixed for the redemption of any Bonds shall be other than 
a Business Day, then payment of interest, principal or Redemption Price need not be made on 
such date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day, with the same force and effect 
as if made on the due date, and no interest on such payment shall accrue for the period after such 
due date if payment is made on such next succeeding Business Day. 

SECTION 15.03. No Rights Conferred on Others.  Nothing herein contained shall confer 
any right upon any Person other than the parties hereto and the Holders of the Bonds. 

SECTION 15.04. Illegal Provisions Disregarded.  If any term of Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds or the application thereof for any reason or circumstances 
shall to any extent be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions or the application 
of such terms or provisions to Persons and situations other than those as to which it is held 
invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each remaining term and provision 
hereof and thereof shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 15.05. Substitute Notice.  If for any reason it shall be impossible to make 
publication of any notice required hereby in a newspaper or newspapers, then such publication in 
lieu thereof as shall be made with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute a sufficient 
publication of such notice. 

SECTION 15.06. Notices.  Any notice, demand, direction, request or other 
communication authorized or required by this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture 
to be given to or filed with the Issuer or the Trustee (each a “Notice”) shall be in writing and 

Page 288



 

67 

shall be delivered, by First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or by overnight delivery service, 
addressed as follows: 

(a) As to the Issuer - 

Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
Attention:  Michelle Krizen, District Manager 
with a copy to –  

Kutak Rock LLP 
107 W. College Ave. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Attention:  Jonathan T. Johnson 

(b) As to the Trustee - 

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association 
500 W. Cypress Creek Road, Ste #460  
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
Attention:  Robert Hedgecock 

Except as otherwise provided in this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, 
any Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  
Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-Business Day, shall be 
deemed received on the next Business Day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this 
Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture would otherwise expire on a non-Business Day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day.  Counsel for the Issuer 
and counsel for the Trustee may deliver Notice on behalf of the Issuer and the Trustee, 
respectively.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the 
other parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by 
providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 

All documents received by the Trustee under the provisions of this Master Indenture or 
any Supplemental Indenture and not required to be redelivered shall be retained in its possession, 
subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the Issuer, any Consultant, any Bondholder 
and the agents and representatives thereof as evidenced in writing. 

The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant to this 
Indenture sent by the Issuer by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar 
unsecured electronic methods, provided, however, that the Issuer shall provide to the Trustee an 
incumbency certificate listing designated persons with the authority to provide such instructions, 
which incumbency certificate shall be amended whenever a person is to be added or deleted from 
the listing.  If the Issuer elects to give the Trustee e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions 
by a similar electronic method) and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such 

Page 289



 

68 

instructions, the Trustee’s understanding of such instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The 
Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the 
Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance with such instructions notwithstanding such instructions 
conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction.  The Issuer agrees to assume all 
risks arising out of the use of such electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the 
Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized instructions, 
and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties. 

SECTION 15.07. Controlling Law.  This Master Indenture and all Supplemental 
Indentures shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State. 

SECTION 15.08. Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, promises and agreements 
in this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures contained by or on behalf of the Issuer 
or by or on behalf of the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors 
and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 

SECTION 15.09. Headings for Convenience Only.  The table of contents and descriptive 
headings in this Master Indenture are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or 
affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof. 

SECTION 15.10. Counterparts.  This Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures 
may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered 
shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

SECTION 15.11. Appendices and Exhibits.  Any and all appendices or exhibits referred 
to in and attached to this Master Indenture are hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof 
for all purposes. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK – SIGNATURE PAGE 
FOLLOWS] 

Page 290



 

69 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lakefront Estates Community Development District has 
caused this Master Indenture to be executed by the Chair of its Board and its corporate seal to be 
hereunto affixed, attested by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of its Board and U.S. Bank 
Trust Company, National Association has caused this Master Indenture to be executed by one of 
its authorized signatories and, in the case of the District, its seal to be hereunto affixed, all as of 
the day and year first above written. 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

[SEAL] 

Attest:      By: ______________________________________ 
 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 

By: _____________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Supervisors 

 
 

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee, Paying Agent and 
Registrar 

 

By: _____________________________________ 
Robert Hedgecock, Vice President 

Page 291



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF 
LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

The present boundaries of Lakefront Estates Community Development District are as 
follows: 

[Legal Description to be Added] 

 
 

 

 

Page 292



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT 

The Project includes the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
equipping and installation of the following public infrastructure improvements and associated 
professional fees and incidental costs related thereto pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
as amended, including, without limitation, the items listed below, all of which is described in 
more detail in the Engineer’s Report prepared for the Board of Supervisors of Lakefront Estates 
Community Development District dated December 20, 2023, prepared by Steven L. Dobbs 
Engineering, LLC:  

 PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3 PHASE 4 TOTAL 

Land Acquisition $5,500,000 $0 $0 $0 
 

$5,500,000 

MITIGATION 
 

$2,000,000 $0 $0 $0 
 

$2,000,000 

EARTHWORK 
 

$6,000,000 
 

$4,000,000 
 

$2,500,000 
 

$2,500,000 
 

$15,000,000 

Entrance Features $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 

General $3,396,220 $1,179,860 $1,028,820 $1,252,320 $6,857,220 

Water Supply 
Facilities 

 
$7,445,764 

 
$6,102,329 

 
$5,130,613 

 
$5,929,068 

 
$24,607,774 

Sewerage Facilities $4,572,955 $2,532,540 $2,205,290 $2,905,010 $12,215,795 

Stormwater 
Facilities 

 
$851,090 

 
$783,645 

 
$281,620 

 
$363,100 

 
$2,279,455 

Roadway Construction  
$8,298,725 

 
$6,951,245 

 
$5,031,920 

 
$10,048,105 

 
$30,329,995 

LIGHTING $1,620,500 $0 $0 $0 $1,620,500 

LANDSCAPING $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $4,000,000 

OPERATION AND MAINT. $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,000,000 
  

$41,685,254 
 

$23,049,619 
 

$17,678,263 
 

$24,497,603 
 

$106,910,739 

 

 

Page 293



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

[FORM OF BOND] 

R-______ $__________ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BOND, 
SERIES ___ 

Interest Rate Maturity Date Date of Original Issuance CUSIP 
    
 
Registered Owner:  

Principal Amount: 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District (the “Issuer”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered 
Owner shown above or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date set forth above, from the sources 
hereinafter mentioned, the Principal Amount set forth above (with interest thereon at the Interest 
Rate per annum set forth above, computed on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months). 
Principal of and interest on this Bond are payable by U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, as paying agent (said U.S. Bank Trust Company, 
National Association and/or any bank or trust company to become successor paying agent being 
herein called the “Paying Agent”), made payable to the Registered Owner and mailed on each 
Interest Payment Date commencing ____ 1, 20__ to the address of the Registered Owner as such 
name and address shall appear on the registry books of the Issuer maintained by U.S. Bank Trust 
Company, National Association, as Registrar (said U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association and any successor Registrar being herein called the “Registrar”) at the close of 
business on the fifteenth day of the calendar month preceding each Interest Payment Date or the 
date on which the principal of a Bond is to be paid (the “Record Date”), provided however 
presentation is not required for payment while the Bonds are registered in book-entry only form.  
Such interest shall be payable from the most recent Interest Payment Date next preceding the 
date of authentication hereof to which interest has been paid, unless the date of authentication 
hereof is a May 1 or November 1 to which interest has been paid, in which case from the date of 
authentication hereof, or unless such date of authentication is prior to ________1, 20__, in which 
case from the date of initial delivery, or unless the date of authentication hereof is between a 
Record Date and the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which case from such Interest 
Payment Date.  Any such interest not so punctually paid or duly provided for shall forthwith 

Page 294



 

C-2 

cease to be payable to the Registered Owner on such Record Date and may be paid to the person 
in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on a Special Record Date for the 
payment of such defaulted interest to be fixed by the Paying Agent, notice whereof shall be 
given to Bondholders of record as of the fifth (5th) day prior to such mailing, at their registered 
addresses, not less than ten (10) days prior to such Special Record Date, or may be paid, at any 
time in any other lawful manner, as more fully provided in the Indenture (defined below).  Any 
capitalized term used in this Bond and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning ascribed to 
such term in the Indenture. 

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER PAYABLE SOLELY 
OUT OF THE PLEDGED REVENUES PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE 
AND NEITHER THE PROPERTY, THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT, NOR THE TAXING 
POWER OF THE ISSUER, GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA (THE “COUNTY”), THE STATE 
OF FLORIDA (THE “STATE”), OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, 
IS PLEDGED AS SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS, EXCEPT THAT THE 
ISSUER IS OBLIGATED UNDER THE INDENTURE TO LEVY AND TO EVIDENCE AND 
CERTIFY, OR CAUSE TO BE CERTIFIED, FOR COLLECTION, SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
(AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE) TO SECURE AND PAY THE BONDS.  THE BONDS 
DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE 
STATE, OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN THE MEANING 
OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION OR LIMITATION. 

This Bond is one of an authorized issue of Bonds of the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District, a community development district duly created, organized and existing 
under Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (the Uniform Community Development District Act of 
1980), as amended (the “Act”), Ordinance No. 2023-7, which was enacted by the Board of 
County Commissioners of Glades County, Florida on April 11, 2023, designated as “Lakefront 
Estates Community Development District Special Assessment Bonds, Series ____” (the 
“Bonds”), in the aggregate principal amount of ______________________________ Dollars 
($_______) of like date, tenor and effect, except as to number.  The Bonds are being issued 
under authority of the laws and Constitution of the State, including particularly the Act, to pay, 
among other things, the costs of constructing and/or acquiring a portion of the Project (as defined 
in the herein referred to Indenture).  The Bonds shall be issued as fully registered Bonds in 
authorized denominations, as set forth in the Indenture.  The Bonds are issued under and secured 
by a Master Trust Indenture dated as of [__________] 1, 2024 (the “Master Indenture”), as 
amended and supplemented by a ___________ Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of 
_______1, 20__ (the “_________ Supplemental Indenture” and together with the Master 
Indenture, the “Indenture”), each by and between the Issuer and the Trustee, executed 
counterparts of which are on file at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee in Fort 
Lauderdale, Florida. 

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture for the provisions, among others, with respect 
to the custody and application of the proceeds of the Bonds issued under the Indenture, the 
operation and application of the Debt Service Fund and other Funds and Accounts (each as 
defined in the Indenture) charged with and pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, 
if any, and the interest on the Bonds, the levy and the evidencing and certifying for collection, of 
Special Assessments, the nature and extent of the security for the Bonds, the terms and 

Page 295



 

C-3 

conditions on which the Bonds are issued, the rights, duties and obligations of the Issuer and of 
the Trustee under the Indenture, the conditions under which such Indenture may be amended 
without the consent of the Registered Owners of the Bonds, the conditions under which such 
Indenture may be amended with the consent of the Majority Holders, and as to other rights and 
remedies of the Registered Owners of the Bonds. 

The Registered Owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the 
Indenture or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect 
to any event of default under the Indenture or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other 
proceeding with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture. 

It is expressly agreed by the Registered Owner of this Bond that such Registered Owner 
shall never have the right to require or compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the 
Issuer, the County, the State of Florida (the “State”) or any other political subdivision thereof, or 
taxation in any form of any real or personal property of the Issuer, the County, the State or any 
other political subdivision thereof, for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on this Bond or the making of any other sinking fund and other payments provided for in 
the Indenture, except for Special Assessments to be assessed and levied by the Issuer as set forth 
in the Indenture. 

By the acceptance of this Bond, the Registered Owner hereof assents to all the provisions 
of the Indenture.   

This Bond is payable from and secured by Pledged Revenues, as such term is defined in 
the Indenture, all in the manner provided in the Indenture.  The Indenture provides for the levy 
and the evidencing and certifying, of non-ad valorem assessments in the form of Special 
Assessments to secure and pay the Bonds. 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity in the amounts, at the times and in 
the manner provided below.  All payments of the Redemption Price of the Bonds shall be made 
on the dates specified below.  Upon any redemption of Bonds other than in accordance with 
scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts, the Issuer shall cause to be recalculated 
and delivered to the Trustee revised mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts recalculated so 
as to amortize the Outstanding principal amount of Bonds in substantially equal annual 
installments of principal and interest (subject to rounding to Authorized Denominations of 
principal) over the remaining term of the Bonds.  The mandatory sinking fund redemption 
amounts as so recalculated shall not result in an increase in the aggregate of the mandatory 
sinking fund redemption amounts for all Bonds in any year.  In the event of a redemption or 
purchase occurring less than 45 days prior to a date on which a mandatory sinking fund 
redemption amount is due, the foregoing recalculation shall not be made to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption amounts due in the year in which such redemption or purchase occurs, but shall 
be made to mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts for the immediately succeeding and 
subsequent years. 

[Insert Optional, Mandatory, Sinking Fund and Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption 
Provisions from Series Supplemental Indenture] 

Page 296



 

C-4 

Notice of Redemption 

The Trustee shall cause notice of redemption to be mailed at least thirty (30) but not more 
than sixty (60) days prior to the date of redemption to all Registered Owners of Bonds to be 
redeemed (as such owners appear on the books of the Registrar on the fifth (5th) day prior to 
such mailing) and to certain additional parties as set forth in the Indenture; provided, however, 
that failure to mail any such notice or any defect in the notice or the mailing thereof shall not 
affect the validity of the redemption of the Bonds for which such notice was duly mailed in 
accordance with the Indenture.  If less than all of the Bonds shall be called for redemption, the 
notice of redemption shall specify the Bonds to be redeemed.  On the redemption date, the Bonds 
called for redemption will be payable at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent and on 
such date interest shall cease to accrue, such Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any benefit under 
the Indenture and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be outstanding under the provisions of the 
Indenture and the Registered Owners of such Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except 
to receive payment of the redemption price thereof.  If the amount of funds so deposited with the 
Trustee, or otherwise available, is insufficient to pay the redemption price and interest on all 
Bonds so called for redemption on such date, the Trustee shall redeem and pay on such date an 
amount of such Bonds for which such funds are sufficient, selecting the Bonds to be redeemed 
by lot from among all such Bonds called for redemption on such date, and interest on any Bonds 
not paid shall continue to accrue, as provided in the Indenture. 

Partial Redemption of Bonds.  If less than all the Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 
the Trustee shall select the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds to be redeemed by lot in such 
reasonable manner as the Trustee in its discretion may determine.  In the case of any partial 
redemption of Bonds pursuant to an optional redemption, such redemption shall be effectuated 
by redeeming Bonds of such maturities in such manner as shall be specified by the Issuer in 
writing, subject to the provisions of the Indenture.  In the case of any partial redemption of 
Bonds pursuant to an extraordinary mandatory redemption, such redemption shall be effectuated 
by redeeming Bonds pro rata among the maturities, treating each date on which a mandatory 
sinking fund redemption amount is due as a separate maturity for such purpose, with the portion 
to be redeemed from each maturity being equal to the product of the aggregate principal amount 
of Bonds to be redeemed multiplied times a fraction the numerator of which is the principal 
amount of Bonds of such maturity outstanding immediately prior to the redemption date and the 
denominator of which is the aggregate principal amount of all Bonds outstanding immediately 
prior to the redemption date. 

This Bond shall initially be issued in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC, and 
so long as this Bond is held in book-entry-only form Cede & Co. shall be considered the 
Registered Owner for all purposes hereof, including the payment of the principal of and interest 
on this Bond.  Payment to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC.  Payments by 
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to 
individual Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct Participants and Indirect 
Participants and not of DTC, the Issuer or the Trustee. 

The Issuer shall keep books for the registration of the Bonds at the corporate trust office 
of the Registrar in Fort Lauderdale, Florida.  Subject to the restrictions contained in the 
Indenture, the Bonds may be transferred or exchanged by the Registered Owner thereof in person 

Page 297



 

C-5 

or by his attorney duly authorized in writing only upon the books of the Issuer kept by the 
Registrar and only upon surrender thereof together with a written instrument of transfer 
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized 
attorney.  In all cases in which the privilege of transferring or exchanging Bonds is exercised, the 
Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds in 
authorized form and in like aggregate principal amount in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture.  Every Bond presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be duly endorsed 
or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee, Paying 
Agent or the Registrar, duly executed by the Bondholder or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing.  Transfers and exchanges shall be made without charge to the Bondholder, except that 
the Issuer or the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of Bonds.  
Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar on behalf of the Issuer shall be required (i) to issue transfer 
or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business fifteen (15) days 
before the day of mailing of a notice of redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and ending 
at the close of business on the day of such mailing, or (ii) to transfer or exchange any Bond so 
selected for redemption in whole or in part. 

The Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agent and the Registrar shall deem and treat the 
person in whose name any Bond shall be registered upon the books kept by the Registrar as the 
absolute owner thereof (whether or not such Bond shall be overdue and notwithstanding any 
notation of ownership or other writing thereon made by anyone other than the Issuer, the Trustee, 
the Paying Agent or the Registrar) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Bond as the same becomes due, and for all 
other purposes.  All such payments so made to any such Registered Owner or upon his order 
shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of 
the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, nor the Registrar 
shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required to exist, to 
happen, and to be performed, precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond exist, have happened 
and have been performed in regular and due form and time as required by the laws and 
Constitution of the State applicable thereto, including particularly the Act, and that the issuance 
of this Bond, and of the issue of the Bonds of which this Bond is one, is in full compliance with 
all constitutional and statutory limitations or provisions. 

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 
benefit or security under the Indenture until it shall have been authenticated by execution of the 
Trustee, or such other authenticating agent as may be appointed by the Trustee under the 
Indenture, of the certificate of authentication endorsed hereon. 

Page 298



 

C-6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lakefront Estates Community Development District has 
caused this Bond to be signed by the manual signature of the Chair of its Board of Supervisors 
and its seal to be imprinted hereon, and attested by the manual signature of the Secretary of its 
Board of Supervisors, all as of the date hereof. 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By: ____________________________________ 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 

(SEAL) 

Attest: 

By: _______________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Supervisors 

Page 299



 

C-7 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds delivered pursuant to the within mentioned Indenture. 

Date of Authentication:  _____________, 2024 

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee 

By:   
Authorized Signatory 

Page 300



 

C-8 

STATEMENT OF VALIDATION 

This Bond is one of a series of Bonds which were validated by judgment of the Circuit 
Court of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, in and for Charlotte, Collier, 
Glades, Hendry and Lee Counties, Florida rendered on the ____ day of ___________, 2024. 

 

        
Chair, Board of Supervisors 

______________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Supervisors

Page 301



 

C-9 

ABBREVIATIONS 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of the within Bond, 
shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or 
regulations: 

TEN COM - as tenants in common 
TEN ENT - as tenants by the entireties 
JT TEN - as joint tenants with rights of survivorship and 

not as tenants in common 
 
UNIFORM TRANSFER MIN ACT - ________________ Custodian ____________ 

(Cust) (Minor) 
Under Uniform Transfer to Minors Act__________________________ 

(State) 
 

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. 

Page 302



 

C-10 

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

(please print or typewrite name and address of assignee) 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Attorney to transfer the within Bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 
substitution in the premises. 

Signature Guarantee: 

 
  
NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed 
by a member firm of the New York Stock 
Exchange or a commercial bank or trust 
company 
 

  
NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment 
must correspond with the name of the 
Registered Owner as it appears upon the 
face of the within Bond in every particular, 
without alteration or enlargement or any 
change whatsoever. 

 
  
Please insert social security or other 
identifying number of Assignee. 

 

Page 303



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
FORM OF REQUISITION 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, SERIES 20___ 

The undersigned, a Responsible Officer of the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District (the “Issuer”) hereby submits the following requisition for disbursement 
under and pursuant to the terms of the Master Trust Indenture from the Issuer to U.S. Bank Trust 
Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), dated as of [__________] 1, 20[___], 
as supplemented by that certain _____ Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of ______ 1, 20__ 
(the “Indenture”) (all capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term 
in the Indenture): 

(1) Requisition Number: 

(2) Name of Payee pursuant to Acquisition Agreement: 

(3) Amount Payable: 

(4) Purpose for which paid or incurred (refer also to specific contract if amount is due 
and payable pursuant to a contract involving progress payments, or, state Costs of 
Issuance, if applicable): 

(5) Fund or Account and subaccount, if any, from which disbursement to be made: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that:   

1.  obligations in the stated amount set forth above have been incurred by the 
Issuer,  

or 

  this requisition is for Costs of Issuance payable from the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund that have not previously been paid; 

2. each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund; 

3. each disbursement set forth above was incurred in connection with the acquisition 
and/or construction of the Project; 

4. each disbursement represents a Cost of the Project which has not previously been 
paid. 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that there has not been filed with or served upon 
the Issuer notice of any lien, right to lien, or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to 

Page 304



 
 

D-2 

receive payment of, any of the moneys payable to the Payee set forth above, which has not been 
released or will not be released simultaneously with the payment hereof. 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that such requisition contains no item 
representing payment on account of any retained percentage which the District is at the date of 
such certificate entitled to retain. 

Attached hereto or on file with the District are copies of the invoice(s) from the vendor of 
the property acquired or the services rendered, with respect to which disbursement is hereby 
requested. 

LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By:  ____________________________________ 
Responsible Officer 

Page 305



 
 

D-3 

CONSULTING ENGINEER’S APPROVAL FOR NON-COST OF ISSUANCE 
REQUESTS ONLY 

If this requisition is for a disbursement for other than Costs of Issuance, the undersigned 
Consulting Engineer hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the Project and is 
consistent with:  (i) the applicable acquisition or construction contract; (ii) the plans and 
specifications for the portion of the Project with respect to which such disbursement is being 
made; and (iii) the report of the Consulting Engineer, as such report shall have been amended or 
modified on the date hereof.  The Consulting Engineer further certifies and agrees that for any 
requisition (a) the portion of the Project that is the subject of this requisition is complete, and (b) 
the purchase price to be paid by the District for the portion of the Project to be acquired with this 
disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market value of such improvements and (ii) 
the actual cost of construction of such improvements. 

 
______________________________________ 
Consulting Engineer 

 

Page 306



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-31 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
INDICATING THE LOCATION, NATURE AND ESTIMATED COST OF THOSE 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE PORTION OF THE ESTIMATED COST OF 
THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING THE MANNER IN WHICH SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
MADE; PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE PAID; 
DESIGNATING LANDS UPON WHICH THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; ADOPTING A PRELIMINARY 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District (the “District”) hereby determines to undertake, install, plan, establish, 
construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, acquire, operate, and/or maintain the 
infrastructure improvements (the “Improvements”) described in the District’s Engineer’s 
Report, dated October, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by 
reference; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the District to pay the cost of the Improvements 
by special assessments pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (the “Assessments”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District is empowered by Chapter 190, the Uniform Community 
Development District Act, Chapter 170, Supplemental and Alternative Method of Making Local 
Municipal Improvements, and Chapter 197, the Uniform Method for the Levy, Collection and 
Enforcement of Non-Ad Valorem Assessments, Florida Statutes, to finance, fund, plan, 
establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain the 
Improvements and to impose, levy and collect the Assessments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that benefits will accrue to the property 
improved, the amount of those benefits, and that special assessments will be made in 
proportion to the benefits received as set forth in the Master Special Assessment Methodology 
Report, dated December 20, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by 
reference and on file at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District 
Records Office”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that the Assessments to be levied will not 
exceed the benefit to the property improved. 
 

Page 307



 

2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. Assessments shall be levied to defray a portion of the cost of the Improvements. 
 
 2. The nature and general location of, and plans and specifications for, the 
Improvements are described in Exhibit A, which is on file at the District Records Office.  Exhibit 
B is also on file and available for public inspection at the same location. 
 
 3. The total estimated cost of the Improvements is $________________ (the 
“Estimated Cost”). 
 
 4. The Assessments will defray approximately $_________________, which 
amounts include the Estimated Costs, plus financing-related costs, capitalized interest and a 
debt service reserve.  
 
 5. The manner in which the Assessments shall be apportioned and paid is set forth 
in Exhibit B, including provisions for supplemental assessment resolutions. 
 
 6. The Assessments shall be levied, within the District, on all lots and lands 
adjoining and contiguous or bounding and abutting upon the Improvements or specially 
benefitted thereby and further designated by the assessment plat hereinafter provided for.   
 
 7. There is on file, at the District Records Office, an assessment plat showing the 
area to be assessed, with certain plans and specifications describing the Improvements and the 
estimated cost of the Improvements, all of which shall be open to inspection by the public. 
 
 8. Commencing with the year in which the Assessments are levied and confirmed, 
the Assessments shall be paid in not more than (30) thirty annual installments.  The 
Assessments may be payable at the same time and in the same manner as are ad-valorem taxes 
and collected pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes; provided, however, that in the event 
the uniform non ad-valorem assessment method of collecting the Assessments is not available 
to the District in any year, or if determined by the District to be in its best interest, the 
Assessments may be collected as is otherwise permitted by law. 
 
  9. The District Manager has caused to be made a preliminary assessment roll, in 
accordance with the method of assessment described in Exhibit B hereto, which shows the lots 
and lands assessed, the amount of benefit to and the assessment against each lot or parcel of 
land and the number of annual installments into which the assessment may be divided, which 
assessment roll is hereby adopted and approved as the District's preliminary assessment roll. 

Page 308



 

3 
 

 
 10. The Board shall adopt a subsequent resolution to fix a time and place at which 
the owners of property to be assessed or any other persons interested therein may appear 
before the Board and be heard as to the propriety and advisability of the assessments or the 
making of the Improvements, the cost thereof, the manner of payment therefore, or the 
amount thereof to be assessed against each property as improved. 
 
 11. The District Manager is hereby directed to cause this Resolution to be published 
twice (once a week for two (2) consecutive weeks) in a newspaper of general circulation within 
Lee County and to provide such other notice as may be required by law or desired in the best 
interests of the District. 
 
 12. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2023. 
 
ATTEST:    LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chair/Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

Exhibit A: Engineer’s Report, dated    , 2023 
Exhibit B: Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated December 20, 2023 

Page 309



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-32 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING TO BE HELD 
ON ________________, 2023, AT ______ __.M. AT 
_____________________________________________, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
HEARING PUBLIC COMMENT ON IMPOSING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS ON CERTAIN 
PROPERTY WITHIN THE DISTRICT GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS THE LAKEFRONT 
ESTATES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
CHAPTERS 170, 190 AND 197, FLORIDA STATUTES. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Lakefront Estates Community Development 

District (the “Board”) has previously adopted Resolution 2023-___ entitled: 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
INDICATING THE LOCATION, NATURE AND ESTIMATED COST OF THOSE 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE PORTION OF THE ESTIMATED COST OF 
THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING THE MANNER IN WHICH SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
MADE; PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE PAID; 
DESIGNATING LANDS UPON WHICH THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; ADOPTING A PRELIMINARY 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Resolution 2023-___, a Preliminary Special Assessment 

Roll has been prepared and all other conditions precedent set forth in Chapters 170, 190 and 
197, Florida Statutes, to the holding of the aforementioned public hearing have been satisfied, 
and the roll and related documents are available for public inspection at 2501A Burns Road, Palm 
Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, 561-630-4922 (the “District Records Office”). 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. There is hereby declared a public hearing to be held at ______ _.m. on 

____________, 2023, at _______________________________________________________, for 
the purpose of hearing comment and objections to the proposed special assessment program for 
District improvements as identified in the Preliminary Special Assessment Roll, a copy of which is 
on file.  Affected parties may appear at that hearing or submit their comments in writing prior to 
the hearing to the office of the District Manager at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, 
Florida 33410, 561-630-4922.  

 

Page 310



 
 
 

2

2. Notice of said hearing shall be advertised in accordance with Chapters 170, 190 
and 197, Florida Statutes, and the District Manager is hereby authorized and directed to place 
said notice in a newspaper(s) of general circulation within Lee County (by two publications one 
week apart with the first publication at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of the hearing 
established herein).  The District Manager shall file a publisher's affidavit with the District 
Secretary verifying such publication of notice.  The District Manager is further authorized and 
directed to give thirty (30) days written notice by mail of the time and place of this hearing to the 
owners of all property to be assessed and include in such notice the amount of the assessment 
for each such property owner, a description of the areas to be improved and notice that 
information concerning all assessments may be ascertained at the District Records Office.  The 
District Manager shall file proof of such mailing by affidavit with the District Secretary. 
 

3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2023.  
 
     
ATTEST:     LAKEFRONT ESTATES COMMUNITY 
      DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chair/Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 

Page 311



Page 312



Proposal to Provide
Financial Auditing

Services:

LAKEFRONT ESTATES
Community Development District

Proposal Due: September 28, 2023
4:00PM

Submitted to:
Lakefront Estates
Community Development District
c/o SDS
2501A Burns Road
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410                  

Submitted by:
Antonio J. Grau, Partner
Grau & Associates
951 Yamato Road, Suite 280
Boca Raton, Florida 33431
Tel (561) 994-9299

(800) 229-4728
Fax (561) 994-5823
tgrau@graucpa.com
www.graucpa.com

Page 313



 

    

   
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Table of Contents 

PAGE  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY / TRANSMITTAL LETTER .................................................................................. 1 

FIRM QUALIFICATIONS..........................................................................................................................................3 

FIRM & STAFF EXPERIENCE ............................................................................................................................. 6 

REFERENCES……………….. ................................................................................................................................ 11 

SPECIFIC AUDIT APPROACH.......................................................................................................................... 13 

COST OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................................................ 17 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ................................................................................................................. 19 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 314



 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
September 28, 2023 
 

Lakefront Estates Community Development District 
C/o SDS 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410   
 
Re: Request for Proposal for Professional Auditing Services for the fiscal year ended September 30, 

2023-2025, with an option for two (2) additional annual renewals. 
 

 Grau & Associates (Grau) welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Lakefront Estates Community 
Development District’s (the “District”) Request for Proposal (RFP), and we look forward to working with 
you on your audit. We are an energetic and robust team of knowledgeable professionals and are a 
recognized leader of providing services to Community Development Districts. As one of Florida’s few firms 
to primarily focus on government, we are especially equipped to provide you an effective and efficient audit.  

 
 Special district audits are at the core of our practice: we have a total of 360 clients, 329 or 91% of which 

are special districts. We know the specifics of the professional services and work products needed to meet 
your RFP requirements like no other firm. With this level of experience, we are able to increase efficiency, 
to provide immediate and continued savings, and to minimize disturbances to client operations. 

 
 Why Grau & Associates: 
 

Knowledgeable Audit Team  
Grau is proud that the personnel we assign to your audit are some of the most seasoned auditors in the 
field. Our staff performs governmental engagements year round. When not working on your audit, your 
team is refining their audit approach for next year’s audit. Our engagement partners have decades of 
experience and take a hands-on approach to our assignments, which all ensures a smoother process for 
you.  
 
Servicing your Individual Needs 
Our clients enjoy personalized service designed to satisfy their unique needs and requirements. 
Throughout the process of our audit, you will find that we welcome working with you to resolve any issues 
as swiftly and easily as possible. In addition, due to Grau’s very low turnover rate for our industry, you 
also won’t have to worry about retraining your auditors from year to year. 
 
Developing Relationships 
We strive to foster mutually beneficial relationships with our clients. We stay in touch year round, 
updating, collaborating and assisting you in implementing new legislation, rules and standards that affect 
your organization. We are also available as a sounding board and assist with technical questions.  
 
Maintaining an Impeccable Reputation 
We have never been involved in any litigation, proceeding or received any disciplinary action. 
Additionally, we have never been charged with, or convicted of, a public entity crime of any sort. We are 
financially stable and have never been involved in any bankruptcy proceedings. 
 
 

 
 

Page 315



 

2 

Complying With Standards 
Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally Accepted Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the Rules of the Auditor General of 
the State of Florida, and any other applicable federal, state and local regulations. We will deliver our 
reports in accordance with your requirements.  

 
 This proposal is a firm and irrevocable offer for 90 days. We certify this proposal is made without previous 

understanding, agreement or connection either with any previous firms or corporations offering a proposal 
for the same items. We also certify our proposal is in all respects fair, without outside control, collusion, 
fraud, or otherwise illegal action, and was prepared in good faith. Only the person(s), company or parties 
interested in the project as principals are named in the proposal. Grau has no existing or potential conflicts, 
and anticipates no conflicts during the engagement. Our Federal I.D. number is 20-2067322. 

 
 We would be happy to answer any questions or to provide any additional information. We are genuinely 

excited about the prospect of serving you and establishing a long-term relationship. Please do not hesitate 
to call or email either of our Partners, Antonio J. Grau, CPA (tgrau@graucpa.com) or Racquel McIntosh, CPA 
(rmcintosh@graucpa.com) at 561.994.9299. We thank you for considering our firm’s qualifications and 
experience. 

 
Very truly yours, 
Grau & Associates 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Antonio J. Grau

Page 316



3

Firm Qualifications

Page 317



4

Grau’s Focus and Experience

Community Development 
Districts Served

Properly registered 
and 
licensed professional 
corporation by the 
state of FLORIDA

Year founded

OOurr TTeamm 

3
Partners

10
Professional 

Staff

2
Administrative 
Professionals

External quality review 
program: consistently 
receives a pass
Internal: ongoing 
monitoring to maintain 
quality

9
Professional

Groups

AICPA | FICPA | GFOA | FASD | FGFOA

We are proud Members of 
the AAmericann Institutee off 

CCertifiedd Publicc 
Accountants

&
the FFloridaa Institutee of

Certifiedd Publicc 
Accountantss 

297

9/13
Employees are 

CPAS

Exte
prog
rece
Inte
mon
qua

Servicess Provided 

See next page for 
report and certificate

Page 318



 

 
5 

 
 
 

Page 319



6

Firm & Staff Experience

Page 320



7

PFM
12

GMS
78

MERITUS
23RIZZETTA

47
SDS
60

INFRAMARK
38

WRATHELL
30

OTHER
19

GRAU AND ASSOCIATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT EXPERIENCE 

BY MANAGEMENT COMPANY

Racquel McIntosh, CPA 
(Partner)
Years Performing 
Audits: 18+
CPE (last 2 years): 
Government 
Accounting, Auditing: 
38 hours; Accounting, 
Auditing and Other: 
56 hours
Professional 
Memberships: AICPA, 
FICPA, FGFOA, FASD

Antonio J GRAU, CPA 
(Partner)
Years Performing 
Audits: 35+
CPE (last 2 years): 
Government 
Accounting, Auditing: 
24 hours; Accounting, 
Auditing and Other: 
58 hours
Professional 
Memberships: AICPA, 
FICPA, FGFOA, GFOA

“Here at Grau  & Associates, staying up to date with the 
current technological landscape is one of our top 
priorities. Not only does it provide a more positive 
experience for our clients, but it also allows us to perform 
a more effective and efficient audit. With the every 
changing technology available and utilized by our clients, 
we are constantly innovating our audit process.”

- Tony Grau

“Quality audits and exceptional client service are at the 
heart of every decision we make. Our clients trust us to 
deliver a quality audit, adhering to high standards and 

assisting them with improvements for their 
organization.”

-Racquel McIntosh

Profile Briefs:

Page 321



8

YOUR ENGAGEMENT TEAM

Grau’s client-specific engagement team is meticulously organized in order to meet the unique 
needs of each client.  Constant communication within our solution team allows for continuity of 

staff and audit team.

Grau contracts with an 
outside group of IT 
management consultants to 
assist with matters 
including, but not limited to; 
network and database 
security, internet security 
and vulnerability testing.

The Engagement Partner will 
participate extensively during 
the various stages of the 
engagement and has direct 
responsibility for engagement 
policy, direction, supervision, 
quality control, security, 
confidentiality of information 
of the engagement and 
communication with client 
personnel. The engagement 
partner will also be involved 
directing the development of 
the overall audit approach 
and plan; performing an 
overriding review of work 
papers and ascertain client 
satisfaction.

The assigned personnel will 
work closely with the partner 
and the District to ensure that 
the financial statements and all 
other reports are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy. 
Responsibilities will include
planning the audit;
communicating with the client 
and the partners the progress 
of the audit; and
determining that financial 
statements and all reports 
issued by the firm are accurate, 
complete and are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy.

An advisory consultant will 
be available as a sounding 
board to advise in those 
areas where problems are 
encountered. 

Page 322



 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Clients Served (partial list) 

 
Professional Associations/Memberships 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants    Florida Government Finance Officers Association 
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants      Government Finance Officers Association Member 
City of Boca Raton Financial Advisory Board Member 

 
Professional Education (over the last two years) 

 Course     Hours 
 Government Accounting and Auditing     24 
 Accounting, Auditing and Other      58  
          Total Hours     82 (includes of 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

 
 

(>300) Various Special Districts, including:  
 

 Bayside Improvement Community Development District 
 Dunes  Community Development District 
 Fishhawk Community Development District (I,II,IV) 
 Grand Bay at Doral  Community Development District 
 Heritage Harbor North Community Development District 
 

St. Lucie West Services District  
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
Rivers Edge II  Community Development District 
Bartram Park  Community Development District 
Bay Laurel Center  Community Development District 

 Boca Raton Airport Authority 
 Greater Naples Fire Rescue District 
 Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District 
 Lake Worth Drainage District 
 South Indian River Water Control 

 

Antonio ‘Tony ‘J. Grau, CPA 
Partner 

Contact: tgrau@graucpa.com | (561) 939-6672 
Experience 
For over 30 years, Tony has been providing audit, accounting 
and consulting services to the firm’s governmental, non-profit, 
employee benefit, overhead and arbitrage clients. He provides 
guidance to clients regarding complex accounting issues, 
internal controls and operations.  
As a member of the Government Finance Officers Association 
Special Review Committee, Tony participated in the review 
process for awarding the GFOA Certificate of Achievement in 
Financial Reporting. Tony was also the review team leader for 
the Quality Review of the Office of Management Audits of 
School Board of Miami-Dade County. Tony received the AICPA 
advanced level certificate for governmental single audits.  
 
Education 

University of South Florida (1983) 
 Bachelor of Arts 
 Business Administration 

Page 323



 

 
10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Clients Served (partial list) 

 Professional Associations/ Memberships 

 
  Professional Education (over the last two years) 
 
 
 
 
 
  

(>300) Various Special Districts, including:  
 

Carlton Lakes  Community Development District 
Golden Lakes  Community Development District 
Rivercrest  Community Development District 
South Fork III  Community Development District 
TPOST  Community Development District 

Westchase  Community Development District 
Monterra  Community Development District 
Palm Coast Park  Community Development District 
Long Leaf  Community Development District 
Watergrass  Community Development District  
 

East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facilities 
Indian Trail Improvement District 
Pinellas Park Water Management District 
Ranger Drainage District 
South Trail Fire Protection and Rescue Service District 

 

 
 

  American Institute of Certified Public Accountants FICPA State & Local Government Committee 
  Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants   FGFOA Palm Beach Chapter 
    

Course Hours 
Government Accounting and Auditing 38 
Accounting, Auditing and Other  56 

      Total Hours  94 (includes of 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

 
Racquel C. McIntosh, CPA 

Partner 
Contact: rmcintosh@graucpa.com | (561) 939-6669 

Experience 
Racquel has been providing government audit, accounting and 
advisory services to our clients for over 14 years. She serves as 
the firm’s quality control partner; in this capacity she closely 
monitors engagement quality ensuring standards are followed 
and maintained throughout the audit.  
Racquel develops in-house training seminars on current 
government auditing, accounting, and legislative topics and also 
provides seminars for various government organizations. In 
addition, she assists clients with implementing new accounting 
software, legislation, and standards. 
 
 Education 

Florida Atlantic University (2004) 
Master of Accounting 
Florida Atlantic University (2003) 
Bachelor of Arts:  
Finance, Accounting 

Page 324



11

References
 

Page 325



 

 
12 

We have included three references of government engagements that require compliance with laws 
and regulations, follow fund accounting, and have financing requirements, which we believe are 
similar to the District. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Dunes Community Development District  
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 1998 
Client Contact Darrin Mossing, Finance Director 

475 W. Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
904-940-5850 

Two Creeks Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2007 
Client Contact William Rizzetta, President 

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, Florida 33614 
813-933-5571 

Journey’s End Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2004 
Client Contact Todd Wodraska, Vice President 

2501 A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
561-630-4922 

Page 326



13

 

Specific Audit 
Approach

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 327



14

AUDIT APPROACH

Grau’s Understanding of Work Product / Scope of Services:
We recognize the District is an important entity and we are confident our firm is eminently qualified 
to meet the challenges of this engagement and deliver quality audit services. You would be a valued 
client of our firm and we pledge to commit  all  firm resources to provide the level and quality of 
services (as described below) which not only meet the requirements set forth in the RFP but will
exceed those expectations. Grau & Associates fully understands the scope of professional services and 
work products requested. Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally 
Accepted Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and 
the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida and any other applicable Federal, State of Local 
regulations. We will deliver our reports in accordance with your requirements. 

Proposed segmentation of the engagement
Our approach to the audit engagement is a risk-based approach which integrates the best of traditional 
auditing techniques and a total systems concept to enable the team to conduct a more efficient and 
effective audit. The audit will be conducted in three phases, which are as follows:

Phase I - Preliminary Planning

A thorough understanding of your organization, service objectives and operating environment is 
essential for the development of an audit plan and for an efficient, cost-effective audit.  During this 
phase, we will meet with appropriate personnel to obtain and document our understanding of your 
operations and service objectives and, at the same time, give you the opportunity to express your 
expectations with respect to the services that we will provide.  Our work effort will be coordinated so 
that there will be minimal disruption to your staff. 

During this phase we will perform the following activities:
» Review the regulatory, statutory and compliance requirements. This will include a review of 

applicable federal and state statutes, resolutions, bond documents, contracts, and other 
agreements;

» Read minutes of meetings;
» Review major sources of information such as budgets, organization charts, procedures, 

manuals, financial systems, and management information systems;
» Obtain an understanding of fraud detection and prevention systems;
» Obtain and document an understanding of internal control, including knowledge about the 

design of relevant policies, procedures, and records, and whether they have been placed in 
operation;  

» Assess risk and determine what controls we are to rely upon and what tests we are going to 
perform and perform test of controls;

» Develop audit programs to incorporate the consideration of financial statement assertions, 
specific audit objectives, and appropriate audit procedures to achieve the specified objectives;

» Discuss and resolve any accounting, auditing and reporting matters which have been 
identified.

PHASE III:
Completion and 

Delivery

PHASE II:
Execution of the 

Audit Plan

PHASE I:
Preliminary 

Planning

Page 328



 

 
15 

Phase II – Execution of Audit Plan 
 

The audit team will complete a major portion of transaction testing and audit requirements during this 
phase.  The procedures performed during this period will enable us to identify any matter that may 
impact the completion of our work or require the attention of management.  Tasks to be performed in 
Phase II include, but are not limited to the following: 

» Apply analytical procedures to further assist in the determination of the nature, timing, and 
extent of auditing procedures used to obtain evidential matter for specific account balances or 
classes of transactions; 

» Perform tests of account balances and transactions through sampling, vouching, confirmation 
and other analytical procedures; and 

» Perform tests of compliance. 
 
Phase III - Completion and Delivery 

 
In this phase of the audit, we will complete the tasks related to year-end balances and financial 
reporting. All reports will be reviewed with management before issuance, and the partners will be 
available to meet and discuss our report and address any questions. Tasks to be performed in Phase 
III include, but are not limited to the following: 

 
» Perform final analytical procedures; 
» Review information and make inquiries for subsequent events; and 
» Meeting with Management to discuss preparation of draft financial statements and any 

potential findings or recommendations. 
 

You should expect more from your accounting firm than a signature in your annual financial report. 
Our concept of truly responsive professional service emphasizes taking an active interest in the issues 
of concern to our clients and serving as an effective resource in dealing with those issues. In following 
this approach, we not only audit financial information with hindsight but also consider the foresight 
you apply in managing operations. 
 
Application of this approach in developing our management letter is particularly important given the 
increasing financial pressures and public scrutiny facing today’s public officials.  We will prepare the 
management letter at the completion of our final procedures. 

 
In preparing this management letter, we will initially review any draft comments or recommendations 
with management. In addition, we will take necessary steps to ensure that matters are communicated 
to those charged with governance. 
 
In addition to communicating any recommendations, we will also communicate the following, if any: 
 

» Significant audit adjustments; 
» Significant deficiencies or material weaknesses; 
» Disagreements with management; and 
» Difficulties encountered in performing the audit. 

  

Page 329



 

 
16 

Our findings will contain a statement of condition describing the situation and the area that needs 
strengthening, what should be corrected and why. Our suggestions will withstand the basic tests of 
corrective action: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To assure full agreement with facts and circumstances, we will fully discuss each item with 
Management prior to the final exit conference. This policy means there will be no “surprises” in the 
management letter and fosters a professional, cooperative atmosphere. 
 
Communications 
We emphasize a continuous, year-round dialogue between the District and our management team. We 
regularly communicate through personal telephone calls and electronic mail throughout the audit and 
on a regular basis.  
Our clients have the ability to transmit information to us on our secure client portal with the ability to 
assign different staff with separate log on and viewing capability.  This further facilitates efficiency as 
all assigned users receive electronic mail notification as soon as new information has been posted into 
the portal.    
 
 

Is the recommendation cost effective? 
 
Is the recommendation the simplest to effectuate in 
order to correct a problem? 
 
Is the recommendation at the heart of the problem 
and not just correcting a symptomatic matter? 
 
Is the corrective action taking into account why the 
deficiency occurred? 

Page 330



17

Cost of Services
 

Page 331



 

 
18 

Our proposed all-inclusive fees for the financial audit for the fiscal years ended September 30, 
2023-2027 are as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30,  Fee 

2023  $3,400 

2024  $3,500 

2025  $3,600 

2026  $3,700 

2027  $3,800 

TOTAL (2023-2027)  $18,000 
 
The above fees are based on the assumption that the District maintains its current level of 
operations. Should conditions change or additional debt is issued the fees would be adjusted 
accordingly upon approval from all parties concerned. 

 

Page 332



19

Supplemental Information
 

Page 333



20

PARTIAL LIST OF CLIENTS

G
ov

er
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
A

u
d

it

S
in

g
le

 A
u

d
it

U
ti

li
ty

 F
u

n
d

C
u

rr
en

t 
C

li
en

t

Ye
ar

 E
nd

Boca Raton Airport Authority 9/30

Captain's Key Dependent District 9/30

Central Broward Water Control District 9/30

Collier Mosquito Control District 9/30

Coquina Water Control District 9/30

East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility 9/30

Florida Green Finance Authority 9/30

Greater Boca Raton Beach and Park District 9/30

Greater Naples Fire Control and Rescue District 9/30

Green Corridor P.A.C.E. District 9/30

Hobe-St. Lucie Conservancy District  9/30

Indian River Mosquito Control District 9/30

Indian Trail Improvement District 9/30

Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District 9/30

Lake Padgett Estates Independent District 9/30

Lake Worth Drainage District 9/30

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 9/30

Old Plantation Control District 9/30

Pal Mar Water Control District 9/30

Pinellas Park Water Management District 9/30

Pine Tree Water Control District (Broward) 9/30

Pinetree Water Control District (Wellington) 9/30

Ranger Drainage District 9/30

Renaissance Improvement District 9/30

San Carlos Park Fire Protection and Rescue Service District 9/30

Sanibel Fire and Rescue District 9/30

South Central Regional Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Board 9/30

South-Dade Venture Development District 9/30

South Indian River Water Control District 9/30

South Trail Fire Protection & Rescue District 9/30

Spring Lake Improvement District 9/30

St. Lucie West Services District 9/30

Sunshine Water Control District 9/30

West Villages Improvement District 9/30

Various Community Development Districts (297) 9/30

TOTAL 332 5 3 327

Page 334



 

 
21 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 

CONSULTING / MANAGEMENT ADVISORY SERVICES 
 
Grau & Associates also provide a broad range of other management consulting services.  Our 
expertise has been consistently utilized by Governmental and Non-Profit entities throughout 
Florida.  Examples of engagements performed are as follows: 
 
 Accounting systems 
 Development of budgets 
 Organizational structures 
 Financing alternatives 
 IT Auditing 

 

 Fixed asset records 
 Cost reimbursement  
 Indirect cost allocation 
 Grant administration and compliance 

 

 
ARBITRAGE 

 
The federal government has imposed complex rules to restrict the use 
of tax-exempt financing. Their principal purpose is to eliminate any 
significant arbitrage incentives in a tax-exempt issue. We have 
determined the applicability of these requirements and performed the 
rebate calculations for more than 150 bond issues, including both 
fixed and variable rate bonds.  
 
 
 

 
We look forward to providing Lakefront Estates Community Development 
District with our resources and experience to accomplish not only those 
minimum requirements set forth in your Request for Proposal, but to exceed 
those expectations! 

 
 

For even more information on Grau & Associates  
please visit us on www.graucpa.com. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Current 
Arbitrage 
Calculations 

73 

Page 335


	Lakefront Estates Community Development District - December 20, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	August 24, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing’s Minutes
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-29 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Amended Budget
	Consider Approval of Bond Financing Team Funding Agreement
	Consider Approval of Preliminary Engineer’s Report
	Consider Approval of Master Special Assessment Methodology Report
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-30 – Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-31 – Declaring Assessments
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-32 – Setting a Public Hearing on Assessments
	Ranking of Proposals/Consider Selection of an Auditor




